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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

PYE segment revenue (HK$ million)

PYE segment profit (HK$' million)

Loss before interest and tax (HK$' million)

Loss for the year attributable to shareholders

(HK$ ' million)

Shares outstanding (million)

Loss per share (HK cents) - Basic

Total assets (HK$ million)

Operating cash outflow (HK$ million)
Net cash inflow (outflow) (HK$ million)

Total debts/total assets ratio
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10,982.3

95.2

(457.3)

(1,021.7)

1,013

(100.9)

8,678.5

(486.8)

114.9

0.69

2019

9,347.6

189.9

(5,391.9)

(5,847.6)

1,013

(577.3)

8,359.0

(207.0)

(848.)

0.61

Percentage
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERHRS

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS

Due to the recent outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic and the
challenging economic conditions, the Group, following the
practice of many other hotel operators in Macau, made the
decision to close the Hotel for the foreseeable future.

Our construction business under Paul Y. Engineering Group
Limited ("PYE") continued with steady revenue growth by 17%
to HK$11.0 billion while the order book has been built up to
some HK$44.2 billion and value of remaining works (based
on certified amount) stood at HK$26.5 billion as at the year
end. Further new contracts amounting to HK$2.0 billion were

secured post year end.

We recorded a loss of HK$1,022 million (2019: HK$5,848
million) attributable to owners of the Company which is
equivalent to a basic loss per share of 100.9 HK cents (577.3
HK cents in 2019). The decrease of loss was mainly due to the
impairment loss of HK$4,697 million provided in last year for
THE 13 Hotel. The outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic in the last
quarter of this financial year and increase in finance costs for
hotel segment were contributed to the loss in the current year. As
a result, the Group has deficit in equity attributable to owners of

the Company of HK$1,820 million.

As at year ended 31 March 2020, the Company will not pay a
dividend.

The disposal of our 51.76% interest in PYE at HK$300 million
was approved in the special general meeting held on 8 May
2018. The completion of the Disposal is subject to certain
conditions, which has not been totally fulfilled yet. As such, the
long stop date for completion of the Disposal was extended to

30 September 2020.

We are Working hard to seek prospective buyer(s) for the Hotel
and/or site as well as other measures with a view to strengthen
our balance sheet.

Finally, we thank our employees for their dedication and hard

work, and our shareholders, customers and business partners for
their continued support.

Peter Lee Coker Jr.

Chairman

Hong Kong, 11 September 2020
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EIRE R RO

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS AND BUSINESS
DEVELOPMENT

South Shore Holdings Limited (the "Company’, together with
its subsidiaries, the "Group”) is a hospitality, entertainment and
construction group that combines a unique ultra-luxury hotel
and entertainment development on Macau's Cotai Strip (the

"Hotel") with the Hong Kong-based legacy business of Paul Y.
Engineering Group Limited (‘"PYE").

Hotel Business
The Hotel (100% owned)

The Hotel and entertainment complex, located at the southern
end of Macau’s famous Cotai Strip, houses a unique collection
of refined and remarkable luxury experiences.

Due to the outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic, the Macau
government imp|emenfeo| stringent government measures
including the closure of all casinos in Macau for 15 days. In
addition, from mid-March 2020, Macau disallowed entry by all
non-residents (except residents of Mainland China, Hong Kong
and Taiwan).

Visitor arrivals in Macau fell 93.7% year-on-year to 212,300 in
March 2020 due to the COVID-19 pandemic.

In light of the recent outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic and
the challenging economic conditions, the Group, following the
practice of many other hotel operators in Macau, made the
decision to close the Hotel for the foreseeable future.

As at 31 March 2020, the hotel segment recorded assets of
approximately HK$4,011 million which include right-of-use
assets, hotel property, property, plant and equipment and other
assets of the hotel segment.

The hotel segment recorded total liabilities of approximately
HK$5,266 million* which include liability portion of convertible
bonds issued for financing the hotel development and bank and
other borrowings for the hotel development.

Revenue of hotel rooms and food & beverage was
approximately HK$17 million and HK$12 million, respectively
for the year ended 31 March 2020. The average occupancy
rate was 37.3% with average daily room rate at around
HK$1,829 for the year ended 31 March 2020. There was
segment loss of approximately HK$994 million* for the year
ended 31 March 2020 of which the loss before interest, tax,
depreciation and amortization of the hotel segment for the year
was approximately HK$146 million. The hotel segment also
incurred depreciation charge of approximately HK$353 million*
for the year. Finance costs on bank and other borrowings was
approximately HK$343 million for the year ended 31 March
2020. Finance costs on convertible bonds was approximately
HK$152 miillion for the year.

* the amounts are after the elimination of inter-segment
balances and transactions.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
REC

BIEES

Engineering Business
PYE (51.76% owned)
The outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic in the last quarter

of this financial year has seriously affected many business
sectors including construction industry. Due to the mandatory
quarantine requirements and health guidelines, there has in any
event a downturn in the availability of human resources for our
construction sites. In addition, the resulting continued closure

or limited resourcing of government departments and public
services in Hong Kong and Macau has impacted progress

due to inevitable delays to the processing of submissions and
granting of approvals and permissions in connection with our
projects. Temporary city lockdown and production suspension
has also caused the breakdown in the supply chain. With such
disruption to our projects, the productivity has been reduced and
progress on the projects was slowed down in the last two months

of the year under review.

Management contracting division remained the core business
and the major contributor of revenue this year. Revenue of

this division amounted to approximately HK$10,981 million
(2019: HK$9,348 miillion), up by about 17%. Its operating profit
amounted to approximately HK$98 million (2019: HK$189
million). As at 31 March 2020, the value of contracts on hand
was approximately HK$44,218 million, while the value of work
remaining had stood at approximately HK$26,546 million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BB

During the year under review, the management contracting
division secured new construction contracts with an aggregate
value of approximately HK$15,681 million. Subsequent to the
year end, the division secured further contracts of approximately
HK$1,958 million. Set out below are some of the new

contracts secured during the year and up fo the date of this
announcement:

Construction of Central Kowloon Route - Kai Tak East

Fanling North New Development Area, Phase 1: Fanling
Bypass Eastern Section (Shung Him Tong to Kau Lung
Hang)

Main contract for redevelopment of Merry Terrace at

4A-4P Seymour Road

Main contract works (Lot 9) for the Concordia
Comprehensive Development at Coloane, Macau

Main contract works (Lot 12a) for the Concordia
Comprehensive Development at Coloane, Macau

Main contract works for the residential development at

NKIL6562 and NKIL6565, Kai Tak

Main contract works for the residential development at

TMTL523 Castle Peak Road, Tai Lam

Main contract works for 1224-p|0ce student residence at
Police School Road, Wong Chuk Hang, for the University of
Hong Kong using MiC units

Hong Kong International Airport multipurpose building in
remaining midfield area

Three runway system project - Fire training facility

Three runway system project - Third runway and associated
works at Hong Kong International Airport

Site foundation and infrastructure provision for temporary
quarantine facilities for Sai Kung Outdoor Recreation
Centre

Main contract works for the residential development at
Off Anderson Road (Lot No.1068 in Survey District No.3),
Kwun Tong

Main contract for senior citizen residences development at 8
Lee Kung Street, Hung Hom
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BIEES

The property development management division reported a
loss of approximately HK$1 million for the year under review.
The value of contracts on hand for property deve|opmen’r
management division at the year end was approximately

HK$89 million.

The property investment division reported a loss, through its

joint venture, of approximately HK$2 million for the year

under review. The joint venture holds an investment property in
Hangzhou of the PRC, the Pioneer Technology Building, which is
an office building with gross floor area of about 20,000 square
meters. The building generated rental income of about HK$11
million (2019: HK$11 million) for the year and its occupancy
reached about 92% as at 31 March 2020.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

Disposal of motor vehicles

On 26 June 2019, a subsidiary of the Company entered into sale
and purchase agreements with a third party to dispose of a total
of twenty-four motor vehicles for an aggregate consideration

of HK$24 million and the consideration was received on the
same date. For details, please refer to the announcement of the

Company dated 26 June 2019.

Disposal of 50% interest in Uni-Dragon Limited

On 14 and 15 October 2019, a subsidiary of the Company and
the Company entered into sale and purchase agreements with
purchasers relating to the proposed disposal of a 50% interest
in a subsidiary of the Company that beneficially owns the Hotel
(and has a liability for bank borrowings and interest accrued
thereon) for a total consideration of HK$750 million (the "Hotel
Disposal”). However, the Hotel Disposal and the transactions
contemplated thereunder have lapsed on 1 September 2020.
For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 1 November 2019 and 1 September 2020.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 1 April 2020, a bank issued a demand for the repayment

of aggregate principal and interest of approximately HK$470
mi||ion, and on account of the failure to repay, accelerated its
demand for all additional principal and interest under the facility
agreement, in the amount of approximately HK$2,481 million (in
aggregate amounting to approximately HK$2,951 million as at
31 March 2020). For details, please refer to the announcement
of the Company dated 6 April 2020.

On 1 September 2020, the Hotel Disposal and the transactions
contemplated thereunder have lapsed. For details, please refer

to the announcement of the Company dated 1 September

2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BIEES

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group's consolidated
revenue including joint operations increased to approximately

HK$10,899 million (2019: HK$9,382 million).

Gross loss decreased to approximately HK$84 million (2019:
HK$110 million). Gross loss margin decreased to 0.77% (2019:
117%).

Loss attributable to owners of the Company for the year was
approximately HK$1,022 million (2019: HK$5,848 million),
represents an decrease of ctpproximcife|y 83% moin|y due to

the decrease of rent, consu|f0ncy fee, |egd| & professioncd fee in
addition to the impairment loss on hotel assets of approximately
HK$4,697 million recorded in prior year. Basic loss per share
was 100.9 HK cents.

The Group recorded total assets of approximately HK$8,679
million as at 31 March 2020, an approximately 3.8% increase
compared with the prior year. The equity attributable to
owners of the Company increased to deficit of approximately
HK$1,820 million (2019: HK$803 million) which was mainly

due to loss for the year resu|fing from the hotel segment.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The Group maintains a variety of credit facilities to meet
requirements for working capital. At 31 March 2020, cash,
bank balances and deposits stood at approximately HK$434

million, of which approximately HK$380 million, HK$22 million,

HK$25 million, HK$1 million, HK$4 million and HK$2 million
were denominated in Hong Kong Dollars, Renminbi, Macau
Patacas, Japanese Yen, Singapore Dollars and Malaysian

Ringgit respectively.

The Group had total borrowings of approximately HK$4,980
million at year end of which approximately HK$4,466

million are repayable within one year. In addition, the Group
also has outstanding convertible bonds with a face value of
approximately HK$2,219 million and a liability component

as at 31 March 2020 of approximately HK$965 million. The
convertible bonds mature in February 2025.

As of 31 March 2020, the Group's current liabilities exceeded its
current assets by approximately HK$4,401 million. The Group
is working to obtain further facilities which will enhance the

liquidity of the Group's operations.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BB

EMPLOYEES

The Group had 2,141 full-time employees, including the directors
of the Company and subsidiaries but excluding contracted
casual labour in Macau, as at 31 March 2020. The Group
offers competitive remuneration packages based on overall
market rates, employee performance, and the performance of
the Group. Remuneration packages are comprised of salary,
performance-bdsed bonuses, and other benefits inc|uding
training, provident funds and medical coverage. Three share
incentive schemes (nome|y share option scheme, share award
scheme and share financing plan) are in place to motivate and

reward eligible employees.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2020, the Group pledged hotel property and
right-of-use assets of approximately HK$2,653 million and
HK$588 million, respectively, and charged the Group's interests
over certain subsidiaries to secure the general banking and other

facilities granted to the Group.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had contingent liabilities in respect of indemnities
of approximately HK$29 million issued to financial institutions
for bonds on construction contracts of joint operations as at 31

March 2020.

COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2020, the Group has expenditure contracted
for but not provided in the audited consolidated financial
statements in respect of the acquisition of property, plant and
equipment of approximately HK$24 million.

SECURITIES IN ISSUE

During the year ended 31 March 2020, 8,369,781 share options
lapsed.

As at 31 March 2020, there were 1,012,953,711 shares in issue.
Additional shares may be issued by way of conversion of three
20925 convertible bonds which if fully converted would result in
the issuance of 231,632,026 shares of the Company.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of dividend for

the year ended 31 March 2020 (2019: Nil).

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 March 2020, there were no
purchases, sales or redemptions by the Company, or any of its

subsidiaries, of the Company's listed securities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BB

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group's business, financial condition and results of
operations are subject to various risks and uncertainties. The
principal factors have been identified and are set out below:

Global economy

The outlook for the global economy and financial markets
remains uncertain. The COVID-19 shutdown and decrease in
consumer confidence continue to have adverse impact on the
overall economy. As a result, the Group's financial condition
and results of operations may be influenced by the general
state of the global economy. To mitigate this risk, the Group
closely monitors its liquidity and working capital to ensure its

sustainability in adverse environment.

Start-up hotel operation

The Group's Macau hotel operation is at its start-up stage.

The hotel business performance, financial position and future
prospects of the hotel business may be easily affected by
unfavourable changes in the political, social, economic or
government policies of the Macau government. To mitigate this
risk, the Group closely monitors and prepares for any changes
that may adversely affect the Group.

Environmental/safety incidents

Environmental or other accidents happen at construction sites

may cause losses on corporate assets, employee’s morale, clients’

confident and goodwill, and may incur extra costs to the Group.
To mitigate this risk, the Group's construction business has in
place appropriate operational procedures and controls and

all relevant employees are provided with relevant information,
training and supervision to reduce and manage these incidents.

Financial risks

Financial risks and uncertainties are set out in note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EIRE R RO

FUTURE PROSPECTS
Hotel Business

Macau receives approximately 39.4 million visitors for 2019
with approximately 27.9 million from Mainland China and
approximately 8.5 million from Hong Kong and Taiwan. The
visitation to Macau for 2019 recorded an increase of 10.1%
compared to the year 2018. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic,
visitor arrivals in Macau fell 93.7% year-on-year to 212,300 in
March 2020.

Looking ahead, the hotel market in Macau continues to

growth steadily but the overall external economic environment

is still posing uncertainty including the COVID-19 pandemic,
US-China trade tension is expected to continue and raise
uncertainty on the political and financial risks in short-term, but it

still looks remain optimistic in long-term business.

Engineering Business
PYE (51.76% owned)

The COVID-19 pandemic has cratered the global economies.
Many social and economic activities were brought to halt and
most countries are now struggling a balance between public
health and economy. Although governments of major economies
have put on stream different measures to stimulate economic
activities, the road to recover will still be |ong. In oddifion, the
global economies are also hampered by various vulnerabilities,
including the intense trade relations between the United States
and China, uncertainties brought by "Brexit” negotiation,
heightened geopolitical risks, which possibly send shocks to the
global financial market and hinder economic recovery. As an
outward-looking economy, Hong Kong is easily influenced by
these external unfavourable factors.

The lingering effect brought by new coronavirus infection has
also inflicted severe blow to most sectors of Hong Kong. It is
believed that the unprecedented economic pressure and market
volatility will remain, resulting in deepen economic recession in
Hong Kong for the remaining year of 2020. Facing the hike

of unemployment rate and contraction of economic activities,
private investors will become more cautious and demand in
private sectors may drop in the short run until their confidence is
rebuilt. Accordingly, competition in project tendering will become
more fierce.

Nevertheless, as the Hong Kong Government has introduced

a number of favourable construction po|icies, such as constant
expenditure increase in public works projects and infrastructures,
and a number of long-term development initiatives, covering

the second 10-year Hospital Development Plan, harbourfront
development initiatives, and innovation and technology
infrastructures. PYE group holds the cautiously optimistic attitude
towards the prospects of construction industry, and its potential
growth and development in the medium and long term.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BB

Rooted in Hong Kong for many years, PYE group has gone
through a number of market adversities with the city. It is
believed that, with the strong foundation of PYE group, cautious
and flexible business strategies and p|cmning, we will overcome
the various challenges from volatile market conditions. We

will continue to review the business operation, and pay close
attention to market development. By advancing business
strategies and project management, as well as effective control
in internal resources, we strive to move forward our overall
business development. PYE group will also explore opportunities
to expand our facilities management business.

FURTHER INFORMATION IN RESPECT OF AUDITOR'S
DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

As disclosed in the Independent Auditor's Report, the auditor
of the Company (the "Auditor”) issued a disclaimer of opinion
on the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2020. The matters giving rise to such
disclaimer of opinion (the "Audit Modifications”) related to (a)
the impairment assessment of the cash generating unit of the
hotel operation; and (b) material uncertainty related to going
concern.

Further information in respect of the Audit Modifications are set
out below:

(a) Impairment assessment of the cash generating unit

("CGU") of the hotel operation
Details of the Audit Modification

As part of the audit process, the Group conducted an
impairment test of the assets of hotel business according
to the accounting standards and engaged an independent
valuer to assess the value of the Hotel.

During the audit, the Company has given to the Auditor the
valuation prepared by the independent valuer, provided the
Auditor with all relevant supporting documents (including
but not limited to Forecos’r, valuation working, assumptions
and supporting documents on assumptions) aft its request
and arranged communications between the valuer and

the Auditor on the assumptions and bases of the valuation.
However, the Auditor is of the view that the potential
impact from certain uncertainties (including but not limited
to uncertainties on hotel industry in Macau and the Hotel
from outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic, lack of historical
performance of the Hotel and material uncertainty on
going concern of the Company) are difficult to quantify and
properly reflect in the valuation. Also, the Auditor has made
specific comment on the difficulty in finding comparable
hotel operations which might support the assumptions in the
valuation. Thus, the Auditor considered that it is unable to
obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence in respect of the
assumptions adopted into the anticipated cash flow on the
impairment assessment of the CGU of the hotel operation,
and has issued a qualified opinion on the impairment
assessment of the CGU of the hotel operation.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EIRE R RO

Any adjustments might have a significant consequential
effect on the Group's consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year ended 31 March
2020 and the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 March 2020 and the related disclosures thereof in
the consolidated financial statements.

Management's position and basis on major judgmental
areas

Same as the previous year, the Group estimated

the recoverable amount of the hotel business (the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs) according
to the valuation performed by the independenf valuer under
the "Hong Kong Accounting Standard 36 - Impairment

of Assets”. The assets of the Hotel (or hotel business),

which include in the cash-generating unit of hotel business,
represent hotel property, right-of-use assets, property, plant
and equipment and other assets.

According to the valuation report (the "Valuation Report”)
dated 11 September 2020, the value of the Hotel is
HK$4,100 million as at 31 March 2020.

Given the COVID-19 pandemic and quarantine measures
in Macau, the Group revised the operating forecast of the
hotel business, in certain respects including but not limited to:

(a) a reduction of anticipated occupancy and room rates in
the first year (ie the first year used for valuation purpose)
as well as forecasted revenue in the first year; and

(b) a rebound in anticipated occupancy and room rates
as well as forecasted revenue in subsequent years,
in expectation of the Mainland China government's
resumption of issuing visas fo Macau for residents of
Mainland China, to boost the tourism and hospitality
industry in Macau.

It is normal for a start-up hotel operation to have low
occupancy and room rates. This situation has been
compounded by the pandemic. However, Management
continues to believe that there is strong potential growth
for the Hofe|, should there be a boost to the tourism and
hospitality industry in Macau after COVID-19 pandemic.

As the Hotel is unique ultra-luxury, it might be difficult to
find comporob|e. Neverfhe|ess, the independenf valuer has
identified relevant comparable to justify the assumptions.
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The valuation methodology, value of inputs in the current HEAE BEPFARAEENTFEE Z@HAZIE
and previous years used in the valuations together with the BEEREZENLRERUOT

bases and assumptions are as follows:

Current Year Previous Year

Valuation Report Valuation Report

AEEGMERS FFEMGERS

Valuation methodology HBEAE Income Approach W A & Income Approach W A &
Discount rate BRIR= 9.0% 10.5%
Average daily room rate B—FTH HK$2,800-HK$15,680 HK$6,050-HK$35,000
in year 1 HEEER 2,8007E 7T 15,6805 71 6,05078 75 235,000 75
Occupancy rate in year 1 B—FAEE 2.5%-10% 12%-46%
Sales revenue in year | E—FHEWA HK$39.6 million HK$274.1 million
39,600,0007& 7T 274,100,000757C

Growth rate in sales revenue HEWABEX Year 2 22— 4F 1 728% Year 2 B4 1 47%
Year 388 = F | 45% Year 3 25 =F | 49%

Year 4 EVUE  36% Year 4 EVUE 1 29%

Year 5 B HF 1 12% Year 5 B HF 1 19%

Growth rate in average ITHEHEERE Year 2 8 — 4 : 100% Year 2 85— F | 3% -929%
daily room rate BReEx (vs 2nd half of Year 1) Year3 58 =F | 3% - 19%
(BHEBE—F T¥FEL) Year 4 VU [ 3% -17%

Year3 =4 ! 3% - 20% Year 5 5 FHF 3% - 15%

Year 4 E5VULE & 3% - 15%
Year 5 58 FL4F © 3% - 12.5%

Growth rate in occupancy rate AFEREBEX Year 2 25— F 1 100% Year2 B4 1 8% - 21%
(vs 2nd half of Year 1) Year3 &5 =14F | 8% - 18%

(E—FNFEAED) Year 4 BVULE 1 7% - 12%

Year3 85 =5 | 0% - 30% Year 5 AL 4% - 7%

Year 4 Z5VULE | 3% - 23%
Year5 B FHF © 0% - 25%

Long term growth rate EfHEEX 3% 3%
Given the COVID-19 pandemic and quarantine measures RN B RPN IR B R, AEBRE
in Macau, the Group revised the operating forecast of the T HEMEE]AIEXEFKETEA, DIFEEATRR
hotel business, in certain respects inc|uding but not limited (a )DJ__M&;EI! F (BIEEEENS -/EE) ROFEER AfE X
to: (a) a reduction of on’ricipo’red occupancy and room rates MEEEREUNE—FITETBA ( )%EHHEF' =]
in the first year (ie the first year used for valuation purpose) ﬁqﬂﬂﬂzﬁﬂ%’\%ﬁ mIAME KRR g1 R PIR =58,
as well as forecasted revenue in the first year; and (b) a DUIRFHEPMmIEABEIEZE, H é%‘(ﬁiﬁ’j FaEA A{E
rebound in anticipated occupancy and room rates as well & %%F*ﬁ&%ﬁ ST AR & [ElFs

as forecasted revenue in subsequent years, in expectation
of the Mainland China government’s resumption of issuing
visas to Macau for residents of Mainland China, to boost
the tourism and hospitality industry in Macau.

There is no change in the valuation method used by the valuer AFENEFHEMATANGES AL ERS), 4
for current year and previous year. Income approach and use EORBWAERGERLREReRE (HIEEEM
of discounted cash flow method (‘DCF") is applied for the 21)F. BRILAENRERUOT !
valuation. The reason for using this method is as follow:
Under the "Hong Kong Accounting Standard 36, the - IRIBIEESEDNE ), EENELIREEE
recoverable amount of an asset or a cosh-generoﬁng unit ALY P] W (O] & 5812 I AR LN S E R HE LA N,
can only be assessed based on its fair value less costs of EHEEE ANERREERE) ET0HE

disposal and value in use (i.e. DCF);
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EIRE R RO

The value of the hotel business is determined by its
potential ability to generate a stream of benefits in the
fu’rure;

The future cash flow of the hotel business can be
identified based on the hotel performance record and
forecast prepared by management of the Company; and

Market approach (i.e. fair value less costs of disposal)

is not applicable due to infrequent sales of hotels on an
open market basis in the locality of the hotel business, i.e.
Macau.

Accordingly, Management considers that the valuation is
fair and reasonable.

Audit Committee’s view

The audit committee of the Company (the "Audit
Committee”) reviewed the Audit Modification in respect of
impairment assessment of CGU of the hotel operation and
the Valuation Report, and discussed with Management
and the Auditor. The Audit Committee concurs with
Management's view.

Action Plan

Given that the Company intends to continue with its
endeavours to seek prospective buyer(s) for the Hotel and/
or site, and execute a sale of the Hotel and/or site as soon
as possible, it is expected that:

i) modified opinion would be issued on a) the opening
balance (as at 31 March 2020) of CGU of the hotel
operation and b) the profit or loss effects on the
provision for impairment losses on the CGU of the hotel
operation for the year ended 31 March 2020 (being the
corresponding figures) and for the year ending 31 March
2021 for the annual audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the financial year ending 31

March 2021;

i)  modified opinion would be issued on the profit or loss
effects on the provision for impairment losses on the
CGU of the hotel operation for the year ending 31
March 2021 (being the corresponding figures) for the
annual audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the Group for the financial year ending 31 March 20292;
and

i) the Audit Modification in respect of impairment
assessment of CGU of the hotel operation would be
removed in the financial year ending 31 March 2023.

(b) Going concern
Details of the Audit Modification

The Group incurred a net loss of approximately HK$1,019
million during the year ended 31 March 2020 and had
net current liabilities and net liabilities of approximately
HK$4,401 million and HK$1,596 million respectively as
at 31 March 2020. These figures indicate that a material
uncertainty exists as to the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern.

- BERBEENREBREENRANEDE
£

- BEEBRARERES ﬁT&EW%ﬁEﬁ&K@
SERERRUNENET ;

S AATERNERE) WAER, ERE
ey g R GRTI TV -l ) =
GRUES )

Hit, EEERAEEBRAFEE,

EREEECER
rNBlwEREES ((BREER ) DERERA
5B E £ R 5 B ESHE v EIES] LU (S E
e, WREIEE N EIE. EREESRR
BEBCER,

T8t 2

BN B R ETAE A S NS AR B
gﬁgﬁ,m BRETHEBER MR, ®E

) PAEESE_FS_—F=-A=+—-HILPH
FEZHROHMBRRCFERR, 9 BES
BETHSEACHBOERE R _S_FF=4
=+—H) i) BEEEELREEMNEE—
ECEF-A -+ —HIEFERENEE R
(ERIEEEIR) CBRFERLIRETRER ;

i) AEEBE_S " _F-_HA=+—HIEMKF
EiRE %ﬁﬁ%iif%&,@ﬁﬁﬁgﬁé
ERSBUREE B —G=p=1—HLF
VZM@%%%WW@%WW@%NZEE%%
BHKETER , &

H?

i) BRIBEEEELREUREN G EZE
%g?ﬁifﬁffi B=t—HLEMHEFE
== /ﬂ:\o

(b) HEKE
EBRIEFT 5518
AEERBEE_SE_BEF=_F=+— Eﬁ&ﬁﬁ
H%E@ﬁmw@%n&ﬁﬁlA*E BF=
=t+— EZm@%@/ﬁ&/%F”%%MmF%
TENI5.961R 7870, ZHFEIBRR TR FEE A NHEEM,
PIRE R EE B & B E e N EE A BB AR

15

SOUTH SHORE HOLDINGS LIMITED




MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
Jem MR 73R

BIEES

During the audit, the Company explained to the Auditor
that they have taken or will continue to implement the
financing plans and measures as detailed in note 1 of the
consolidated financial statements of the Group (including
but not limited to: (a) executing a sale of the Hotel and/
or site; (b) seeking a “standstill” from the bank; (c) working
with the bank on any remedial measures; and (d) seeking
new sources of funding in the form of debt and, or equity).
However, in view of the extent of the uncertainty relating
to the successful outcome that certain financing plans and
measures (as detailed in note 1 of the consolidated financial
statements) to improve its consolidated financial position,
the Auditor disclaimed its opinion in light of the material
uncertainty relating to the going concern basis.

Any adjustments might have a significant consequential
effect on the Group's consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year ended 31 March
2020 and the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 March 2020 and the related disclosures thereof in
the consolidated financial statements.

Management's position and basis on major judgmental
areas

Management has assessed the Group's current liquidity,
performance and available sources of financing in considering
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. Based

on the assessment, Monogemenf considers fho’r, fcuking into
account the said financing plans and measures as detailed in
note 1 of the consolidated financial statements, the Group will
have sufficient working capital to finance its operations and
to meet its financial obligations for at least the next twelve
months from the date of this report.

Audit Committee’s view

The Audit Committee reviewed the Audit Modification

in respect of going concern and the financing plans and
measures, and discussed them with Management and the
Auditor. The Audit Committee concurs with Management's
view. The Audit Committee is of the view that Management
should continue its efforts in implementing the actions and
measures with the intention of improving the net current
liabilities and net liabilities position of the Group.

Action Plan

The Company has taken and will take the following
measures to improve its liquidity and financial position,
and to remediate its net current liabilities and net liabilities
position:

(a) Notwithstanding the lapse of the Hotel Disposal, the
Company will continue with its endeavours to seek
prospective buyer(s) for the Hotel and/or site and
execute a sale as soon as possible;

(b) The Company will continue with its frequent
communications with the bank and work with the bank
on appropriate remedial measures; and

(c) The Group will continue to seek new sources of funding
in the form of debt and, or equity.

The directors of the Company, including the Audit
Committee, believe that the above financing plans and
measures, if materialized, will not only bring to the Group an
improvement on the financial performance but also address
and remove the Audit Modification in respect of going
concern in the next financial year ending 31 March 2021,
given there is no adverse change to the financial position,
operations and investments of the Group.
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BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS
EERE[N

Peter Lee Coker Jr., aged 51, has been the Joint Chairman (Executive Director) of the
Company since February 2013 and Chairman (Executive Director) of the Company
since 25 January 2018. He is also the Chairman of the Executive Committee of

the Company, and a member of the Finance and Investment Committee and
Disclosures Committee of the Company, and a director of various subsidiaries of

the Company. He has over 29 years of experience in the finance and investment
industries. He is the Managing Partner of Pacific Advisers, and is also a partner

of TDR Capital Investment Ltd (a Shenzhen-based private equity firm). Mr Coker
served as an officer of the Bridge Companies prior to joining Wellington Securities
(New Zealand) in 2002. During his service with the Bridge Companies, Mr Coker
held the title of Managing Director-Asia, Chief Executive Officer of E-Bridge and
Managing Director of Bridge Asia where he was responsible for the firm's equity
business in Japan and South East Asia/Australia. From 2000 to 2001, Mr Coker
served as the Chairman of IRESS Market Technology Limited (formerly BridgeDFS)
(ASX: IRE). From 2002 to 2005, Mr Coker served as the Chairman of Wellington
Securities (New Zealand). From 2006 to 2009, Mr Coker served as the Chairman
of Global Trading Offshore Pte (Singapore). Mr Coker graduated from Lehigh
University in the United States with a Bachelor of Arts degree in 1990.
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BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS
EERE[N

James Chiu, OBE, JP, aged 82, has been an Independent Non-Executive Director of
the Company since March 2006. He is also the Chairman of the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee, Corporate Governance Committee and PYE Committee
of the Company. He is also the Chairman, independent non-executive director

and the Chairman of the audit committee of a subsidiary of the Company, and

an independent non-executive director of a subsidiary of the Company. Ir Chiu

has served Hong Kong's construction industry for 56 years. He was the Managing
Director of the General Electric Company of Hong Kong Limited from 1984 to 1998.

Ir Chiu has held a number of important industry roles. He was a president of The
Hong Kong Federation of Electrical and Mechanical Contractors Limited, The
Hong Kong Institution of Engineers and a Chairman of the British Chamber of
Commerce in Hong Kong. Currently, he is a Council Member of Hong Kong
Electrical & Mechanical Contractors Association.

Ir Chiu is an Honorary Fellow of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers, and a
Fellow of Hong Kong Academy of Engineering Sciences.

IRJAMES CHIU A%, OBE, JP, 825, H_SBFENF=HAREHEARSZEILIFNT
HTE TA2ED B, WIRARACZEREES. FMEES. CXELEEETNER
ERXEZEEIRE, WINALRE—RHNBLASCER. BIIFRITE

Independent Non-Executive Director - o P

BIEH TR S ENEREERERE, UNEARNE—HBNEB R BIIIFHTEE, B
TREMIRBEBRRRRCF, MR—N\BEE—NNN\EREELZ
REBAESRGECETE EARSIE—H,

BTEMSEETXNZEEZN, ETUEEERETEANEER,
EEIEMBEERNEERBELRE. MRFAEERETEAWE
B,

BIRMAEEIEMEELEERGEREELENERERES,
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lain Ferguson Bruce, aged 79, has been an Independent Non-Executive Director

of the Company since January 2005. He is also the Chairman of the Finance and
Investment Committee and Disclosures Committee of the Company, and a member
of the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee, Corporate Governance Committee
and PYE Committee of the Company. He is also an independent non-executive
director and a member of the audit committee of a subsidiary of the Company.

Mr Bruce joined KPMG in Hong Kong in 1964 and was elected to its partnership

in 1971. He was the Senior Partner of KPMG from 1991 until his retirement in 1996
and served as Chairman of KPMG Asia Pacific from 1993 to 1997. Since 1964,

Mr Bruce has been a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Scotland,
and is a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants with

over 52 years of international experience in accounting and consulting. He is also a
fellow of The Hong Kong Institute of Directors, and the Hong Kong Securities and
Investment Institute. Mr Bruce serves as an Independent Non-Executive Director on
the boards of several publicly listed companies in Hong Kong, including, Wing On
Company International Limited (0289.HK), Tencent Holdings Limited (0700.HK)
and Goodbaby International Holdings Limited (1086.HK). He was an Independent
Non-Executive Director of Yingli Green Energy Holding Company Limited, a
company whose shares are traded on the New York Stock Exchange, and resigned
from that company's board on 6 March 2020.

MR IAIN FERGUSON BRUCE

maLRE BEL, 798, BCEERE-ARNELANDCBUIERNTES,
Independent Non-Executive Director MARRNBI B NIGEEZEGNRBEEZER LR, NARNBCEKE
B IEE TR S B8, ELEEE. CXELEETNRERXEZEEME, MIAAR

RE—ENBAB B FRITEETNEREEGNE, MBELERER
—hAEFENEEEEFHESEFZA AR — Nt —FRAsHES
N TH—NAN—FEER-ANANERKRABEEEERSBALR
—NN=FE-NNCFEAHEERFRERRZTFE. H—/\AFk,
HBRLAERGRBETEHIML G REEGHMAEERE S, WK
BRsFEIR St NeEARBER. MINAEEEE2GREBESFK
REZGERGE, MBLAERAEBERLOM LT RAEEGEZEL
FHITEE, DIEKTERERNE(0289.HK). EsAZEMRE R F)(0700.
HK) N 5 7% 1 B[R4 A B FR 2 B1(1086.HK)o 38 2 Yingli Green Energy
Holding Company Limited (BRBlZ BMPRNE SR ZITETRRS) 28
UHFATEE (ERZESF=_RBAHRHEXRIESFS)
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Lee Chack Fan, GBS, SBS, JP, aged 75, has been an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company since January 2005. He is also the Chairman of the
Nomination Committee of the Company, and a member of the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and PYE Committee of the Company. He is also an
independent non-executive director and a member of the audit committee of a
subsidiary of the Company. Professor Lee is the chair professor of geotechnical
engineering and is the Chancellor of the Chu Hai College of Higher Education. He is
also an academician of Chinese Academy of Engineering. Professor Lee graduated
from The University of Hong Kong in 1968 and subsequently received his master’s
degree from the University of Hong Kong in 1970 and a Ph.D. from the University
of Western Ontario, Canada in 1972. Professor Lee is an internationally renowned
expert in geotechnical engineering. He worked for Ontario Hydro in Canada

for some 20 years before he joined his alma mater in 1994. He has participated

in the design of many massive dams and nuclear power stations. He has served

as a specialist consultant or an advisor to many international bodies such as the

United Nations Development Plan, World Bank, Asian Development Bank, efc. on
numerous energy and infrastructure projects in many parts of the world. Professor

Lee's eminent achievement in civil engineering has been highly recognized; he was

PROFESSOR LEE CHACK FAN awarded the KY Lo Medal in 2000 by the Engineering Institute of Canada and
S CERE 2 6] was elected the academician of the Chinese Academy of Engineering in 2003

Independent Non-Executive Director in recognition of his contributions to the engineering profession. He has been
B IEE TR S appointed as Justice of the Peace by the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
Government in July 2003, and he has been awarded the Silver Bauhinia Star and

Gold Bauhinia Star in July 2005 and July 2013 respectively.

Professor Lee is currently the Chairman of Hong Kong Institute for Promotion of
Chinese Culture, member of the Commission on Strategic Development, and the
President of the Fu Hui Charity Foundation.

Z)855, GBS, SBS, JP, 75k, BE_BBRAF—AREEARLEZEIL
IFWTES, MITEAERREICIELEESFRERARNIACEREER.
FWEZEENMRERXZEENE, MIARLE—BNBRE BT
N TESNEREZBEEME, THRABTBRBE T TIEERARK
KBERRE. MAsFEIRERR L. EHEERN—NSNN\ERERE
BRE, MEBR-—NTEFEREEEARECBELTEML, MR—HtZ
FERMERBAZ KB AZERE 24, ZHERAEEBRFN ST TR
BHR, MR—ANUENBEESRUE, ERNERZABREENLT
TER0F, MEBELIFEANBRLERIFGT LIF. FESHMERE
WL EERLEREE, EAZERBEBNBREER, JEMaRE
RETE. HALET. EMERIETS. SHENIARATESEEUSHE
AL EERESS, W 55 E F &S Engineering Institute of CanadaHIKY
Lo Medal, PAIFF/IR _SF=FEEATE LESMRR T, UXRBEERN
TAIERAFENER. R ZSF=FCEEAFITHERNGRE
ARFHL, THRNR_SFTAFELA N B —=FCHEEEEEA

HERTEAEE,

FHEEMAEATEXLRETOESTE LR, RREREZEEUE

REEREESEEE,

TEAIER T
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Dr Lo Wing Yan, William, JP, aged 59, has been an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company since April 2020. He is also a member of the Audit
Committee of the Company. Dr Lo serves as an independent non-executive
director of Brightoil Petroleum (Holdings) Limited (0933.HK), CSI Properties
Limited (0497.HK), SITC International Holdings Company Limited (1308.HK),
Jingrui Holdings Limited (1862.HK) and Television Broadcasts Limited (0511.HK),
all of which are listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange. Dr Lo is also an
independent non-executive director of Nam Tai Property Inc. (NYSE: NTP), which
is listed on the New York Stock Exchange. Dr. Lo is an experienced executive in
the TMT (technology, media and telecommunications) and the consumer sectors.
He started his career in McKinsey & Company Inc. as a management consultant
and held senior positions in China Unicom, Hongkong Telecom, Citibank HK, I.T
Limited, South China Media Group and Kidsland International Holdings Limited
in the past. Dr Lo graduated from Cambridge University with a M. Phil. Degree

in Pharmacology and a Ph.D. Degree in Molecular Neuroscience. Dr Lo is the
founding governor of the Charles K. Kao Foundation for Alzheimer's Disease and
the ISF Academy as well as the present chairman of Junior Achievement Hong
Kong. Dr Lo has held numerous Government appointments during his career and is
currently a member of the Cyberport Advisory Panel and a Member of the Hospital
Governing Committee of Hong Kong Red Cross Blood Transfusion Service. He is

DR LOWING YAN, WILLIAM at present an advisor of the Our Hong Kong Foundation. Dr Lo has been invited

XL by the United Nations ESCAP to lead a task force for its Sustainable Business
Independent Non-Executive Director Network Committee to look at financial inclusion leveraging fintech in the region
B I TES since December 2019. He was a board member of the Broadcasting Authority as

well as the Hong Kong Applied Science and Technology Research Institute ASTRI
and the Science Park. He was also a founding member of the Stock Exchange's
Growth Enterprise Market (GEM) Listing Committee. In 1999, Dr Lo was appointed
a Justice of the Peace (JP) of the HKSAR Government for his contribution to Hong
Kong.

ERCBE, AFEt, B9, B S SFENARHEEANTZ
B IENITESE, MINARNBCEREESNE, BB LT AYELH
(#=0%) RN E) (0933.HK) . BASRIEHEFRE /NS (0497.HK)., &EZ
BRI B RN B) (1308.HK). SIHFZERBIRAEI(1862 HK) L B8 EZEH
FE/NE] (OSNHK)Z BT IEITE S, M N B E#A T =ik Ee b
S, BIELIRAEAMESE/NS (NYSE: NTP) BB I 3FITESE, A
HEMOBAECEEEZ EHRAT, BEELTERE. GEELNEAZELL
THEBITE B FTHAE, BEEBELTNESHER N EERIEE
f, REREROEBE. B8, TEIET. ITEE. FEHEE
LY SEERZERERAS HESREA. EFTEERGBAE,
TEESEHIBESEL LVEETREB 24, MTrASEEEESNEE
BIIEREMIERCAIMES, UNRERAE (F5) £F. B8
TRLNERNERE, hWREASEEBEEEESEE. 5L TF2
BRSO RREAEESMENEGESESSERN. N _F—
F+TH, EBELWHEEEN LA EEREdEEZEG v RTNER
RAEAzHTHESHAEMNSEEH, BTEBIERERERE
HE., aAERREMERERRANEZENESS NS, thE2HT
FREZER(GEM) EHEZE SRR E, HANEENSE, EBLR
—NANFEEEFITHEBATES A L FEt.
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Tse Cho Tseung, aged 66, joined the Group in March 2019. He is the chief operating
officer of the hotel operation business of the Company, a member of the Executive
Committee of the Company, and a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.
Mr Tse holds a diploma in accounting from The Hong Kong Baptist University and
has over 36 years of experience in accounting and finance, construction, property
development and investment, hotel operations, and trading business..

#HEA, 6658, R_B—NE=ZBMAXEER, WAELFBEEKLEEHH
EERH. ARNARNTEEENE. UNEARTETHBREES. #ikE
REBRGRBE R, KNEHEF. B MEHERMNKE. BIE
LEENREHEBH EEEBEI6FIER,

MR TSE CHO TSEUNG
HRATE

Chief Operating Officer
BB

Mui Ching Hung, Joanna, aged 51, is the Corporate Counsel and Company Secretary of
the Company. She is also the secretary of the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee,
Disclosures Committee, PYE Committee and Executive Committee of the Company,
and the company secretary of various subsidiaries of the Company. She is responsible for
legal, regulatory compliance, corporate governance and company secretarial matters of
the Group. Ms Mui has over 28 years” experience in company secretarial field. She joined
the Group in 1997. Ms Mui holds a Bachelor (Hons) Degree in Law and a Master of Arts
Degree in Language and Law. She is an associate member of The Hong Kong Institute
of Chartered Secretaries and The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators.

]
B

WAL, 5158, MANBZEREBEFRABDWSE, THARNTZEME
REEEE. WBREZET. REEXZEGNITEEEUSE, ULERE
ZENBLRRCRNEANE. NEEAKE AR BEEGHR. BEEARR
BIMESEH. BNENRBWESTH S EERBFER WR—ATFM
AFREE, g/ NEFEERRBELBUNGES MEARXBR IR ML KD
BEFIMELNENEHFHUERITHAEBLREES,

MS MUI CHING HUNG, JOANNA
MEERARL/ VB
Corporate Counsel and Company Secretary

EEBEFFRABUE
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South Shore Holdings Limited (the “Company’, together with
its subsidiaries, the "Group”) is committed to maintaining high

standards of corporate governance because we believe that

is the best way fo enhance shareholder value. The Company

places strong emphasis on an effective board (the “Board”) of

directors (the "Directors”) of the Company, accountability, sound

internal control, appropriate risk-assessment procedures, and

fransparency to all shareholders.

The Company has complied with all code provisions of the

Corporate Governance Code (the "Code”) as set out in Appendix
14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "Hong Kong Stock
Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”) throughout the year ended 31
March 2020 and has adopted most of the recommended best
practices stated therein.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition

The Board has a balanced composition of Executive and

Non-Executive Directors to ensure independent viewpoints in all
discussions. During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Board
comprised eight Directors, including two Executive Directors, one

Non-Executive Director and five Independent Non-Executive

Directors. The Directors who held office during the year ended
31 March 2020 and up to the date of this report are:

Board of Directors EE &

Executive Directors

Non-Executive Director

AlmE

HEFREEERNE ((ARF), ERHEMBRE, 58
AIAER) O KFebxzER, HAEEE
BUEDRARREBEZEERS ARECEXRERR
Al aRzArAEE (BN g ((EF8) . B8
M. BRZAEEE. BEZARFEEF N 2RK
BBEHE,

REEE_EE-A=-+—HIEEEEFENR, AQ
EETEEMAXZERAE (&EHIAH) & Et
mARA (T ERE) MR mprsE (b 2E A< (57
8)) ZFTESTENESS, MERMERASMEZRES
8o

EXg
B

ESETITEFNIENTEST ZHEGRAT Y, R
AN RERELEM. NEE_F-_FF=-A=1—
HIEFE, E2eh/\[UESER (EMURTES.

—MFRITESRAMBIIFNTES) . RBEE"S
CERFDACHHUEFEREEARSHRLEZE
=S

Independent Non-Executive Directors

HITES JEHMITES BIUIERITES
Peter Lee Coker Jr. (Chairman) + Walter Craig Power (Note 3) James Chiu
(EFE) (B EE3) HIE
Lau Tom Ko Yuen (Note 1 Lee Chack Fan
au Tom Ko Yuen (Note Y 32
R () ?EF” 3
ain Ferguson Bruce
(Deputy Chairman) at
G Francis Goutenmacher (Note 4)
Tse Cho Tseung (Note 2) (K 5£4)
E R EEDRC M) Chan Kok Chung, Johnny (Note 4)
FRE R (M5t4)
Lo Wing Yan, William (Note 5)
B (fgEEs)
Notes: P 5E -
1) Resigned on 10 June 2020 ) RE-EFE+HEET
2) Appointed on 17 June 2020 and resigned on 21 July 2020 ) RIB_EF AT+ ELtHEZARNR-SZS_FFt
BZ+—H#T
3) Re-designated from Chief Executive Officer (Executive 3)) RIBE—NFLA—BHBR{TEERE @iTES) #AT
Director) to Non-Executive Director on 1 May 2019 and AIFRTESMN T _SFAA+/\H&T
resigned on 18 May 2020
4) Resigned on 6 April 2020 4) MIB-SFFEMANEHEE
5) Appointed on 6 April 2020 5 RIFZ_SFFWANHEZE
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Biographical information of the Directors is set out on pages

17 to 21 of this annual report and on the Company’s website.

In oo|o|i’rion, a list containing names of Directors and their roles
and functions is published on the websites of the Company and
Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

Throughout the year ended 31 March 2020, at least one-third
of the Board was made up of Independent Non-Executive
Directors. There is no re|a’rionship (inc|uo|ing finoncicﬂ, business,
family or other material/relevant relationship) among members

of the Board.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the composition of
the Board (with five Independent Non-Executive Directors out
of eight Directors) exceeded the Listing Rules requirement to
have independent non-executive directors representing at least

one-third of the board.

The following is a chart showing the diversity profile of the Board
during the year ended 31 March 2020:

AlmE

EZEEBNINAFRETEESAE, TRELT
W T S, o, EFUR. ACKBHELENEAR
5] R BB R AS A8 U5 T &

REEZE_FF=-RA=1+—HLERBEFERN, EFE
PED=DZ—EEFABUFNTES, EFETEIME
2N M. . RENEMEAERLE
R B o

BE_F_EF-"A=+—HLEFE, EFEZHEMN
(N\BREFTERLBISFNTES) CBE LHHERIE
UHRBTESANEREFEED =N —ZHE,

TEHEIEESE
EZtlbzBER

EFE-ZA=t-HILFEESTEN

8 French
%
U Independent - us
6 Non-Executive - E
I IFFAT British
’ 3
4
3 Chinese
- _ )
Frecuive 51-60
1 T
No. of Directors Designation Ethnicity Age Years
EEAH B {az E%E Fp with the
Company
i /N
NEE
Remarks:  The Directors who held office during the year 5t MBI E S _SF=-—"B=+—HIEFENEERN

ended 31 March 2020 and up to the date of this
report, are set out under the sub-section headed
“Composition” of this report.

The Company has established a policy concerning diversity
of Board members (the "Board Diversity Policy”). Details of
which are set out under the sub-section headed "Nomination
Committee” of this report.
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Role and Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for overseeing the Company's strategic
direction and the controls opp|ied to its activities, and ensuring
that Management has appropriate processes in place for
risk-assessmenf, management, and internal control over the

Company's day-to-day affairs.

The Board has in place a list of decisions that are to be retained
for the Board decision. These matters include:

1. Corporate strategy;

2. Financial reporting and control;
3. Major financial arrangements;
4. Risk management;

5. Succession planning;

6. Nofifiable transactions under Chapters 14 and 14A of the
Listing Rules; and

7. Recommendations to shareholders regording the
appointment of external auditors, dividend payments,
capital reorganizations and schemes of arrangement.

The Board has c|e|egc1fec| all doy-fo-dcxy operations and
management of the Company's business to Management

during the year ended 31 March 2020.

Chairman and Chief Executive

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Chairman of the
Company was Mr Peter Lee Coker Jr. and the role of chief
executive was performed by Mr Lau Tom Ko Yuen (Deputy
Chairman and Executive Director) following the re-designation
of Mr Wallter Craig Power from Chief Executive Officer and
Executive Director to Non-Executive Director on 1 May 2019.
To ensure a balance of power and authority, the positions of
the chairman and chief executive of the Company were held by
different individuals, with separate duties during the year ended
31 March 2020. The division of responsibilities between the
chairman and chief executive is clearly established and set out in

writing.

The role of the Chairman of the Company is to oversee the
Company's strategic direction and the controls applied to its
activities. During the year ended 31 March 2020, Mr Peter Lee
Coker Jr. provided leadership for the Board and ensured that the
Company establishes sound corporate governance practices and
procedures. He also encouraged all Directors to make a full and

active contribution to the affairs of the Board.

BERBE

ESEaEREARA RN ER RS E
fl, BREEEC ARG ANBHESEHCE
B RN R REE E1EF.

ESEEREME—RIREMAREA0E, HPa
&

o]

1L REIEREE

2. HMAFSERRIES
3. BERUBLH
4. EBREE;

5. MEAETTE;

6. EMRAIB4NUAZHITREN BT LNHNRZS |
Kz

ﬁﬁ&%kﬁimo

EEECREBE_ST_EF-_A=T—HLEFESER
BEBC—UVHEEENERIFERTEREASS,

FFEITEUHER
PREREZE_FF=RA=+—HILEE, ARFZEE
#yPeter Lee Coker Jr.5t4E, 1 & Walter Craig Powerst 45 72

E-NFRA—HRITBEEENRIITEERHTRIEHN
TEER, TERENAEHRASELE BIFFERH
TES) ET, REE_E_SF=HA=+—HILFE,
ANBEERITERRE B ATEATEZE, SEaH
B, DUFERFE D Nt o 9. EREITHHRE D 1A
Bifr i A ZE B 5V B

KRB EECHBEAEERNNE CEBFBIMER 550

HERES, REE_E_SF=-F=+—HILFE,

Peter Lee Coker Jr A0 ETEE & £ & W FER AN 5§l T 214
LEEBERBREER, IsBeRBEEs IR AES
2E%.
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During the year ended 31 March 2020, Mr Lau Tom Ko Yuen
was responsible for the overall performance of the Company
and played a leading role in delivering a growth strategy. He
provided leadership for Management, oversees the day-to-day
operations of the Group, and monitored the achievement of
Company's objectives set by the Board.

Non-Executive Directors

Pursuant to the Company's Bye-laws, all Directors are subject
to retirement from office by rotation at least once every

three years and are eligible for re-election by shareholders.
All Non-Executive Directors (including the Independent
Non-Executive Directors) are appointed for a specific term of
not more than three years, and are subject to retirement by
rotation under the Company’s Bye-laws.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Board has five
Independent Noon-Executive Directors, one of whom had

appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related

financial management expertise as required by the Listing Rules.

Each of the current Independent Non-Executive Directors has
given an annual confirmation of inclependence to the Company
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of
the view that all Independent Non-Executive Directors meet
the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules and are independent in accordance with the terms of the
guidelines.

The Nomination Committee of the Company is responsible for
assessing the independence of the Independent Non-Executive
Directors. As a good corporate governance practice, every
member of the Nomination Committee abstains from assessing
his own independence.

Board Process

The Board meets regularly and at least four times a year.
Regular Board meetings are usually scheduled at the beginning
of the year to give all Directors adequate time to plan their
schedules to attend. Directors receive at least 14 days prior
written notice of regular Board meetings and an agenda. The
Board papers, including supporting analyses and relevant
background information, are normally sent to all Directors

at least 3 days before the Board meeting. For other Board
meetings, Directors are given as much notice as possible in the

circumstances.
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In order to have an effective Board, Directors are provided
with information on activities and developments in the Group's
business on a regular and timely basis to keep them apprised
of the latest developments of the Group. The Directors have
full access to information on the Group and are able to seek
independent professional advice whenever they deem it

necessary.

In addition, in order to enable the Board and each Director to
discharge their duties, it has been the Company’s practice to
provide all Directors with monthly updates giving a balanced

and understandable assessment of the Company's performance,

positions and prospects since 2007, way ahead of the
implementation of new Code on 1 April 2012.

To avoid conflicts of interest, Directors who have declared
their material interests in the proposed transactions or issues to
be discussed are not counted in the quorum of meetings and
abstain from voting on the relevant resolutions.
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Details of Directors” attendance at Board meetings, Board BHEERNHE _SE_FEF=A=+—HIFERLRE
committee meetings and shareholders’ meetings during the year EEE G EERERERNRERGCHBRTW
ended 31 March 2020 are set out in the following table: e

Meetings attended/held during the year ended 31 March 2020

HE"BR_RF-RA=T-HUIFEALE $1c83

Finance & Corporate
Audit Remuneration ~ Nomination  Investment  Disclosures ~ Governance PYE
Board Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee AGM SGM
E3¢ ENZBT FMWZET R4ZE8C WBELRE REZEE (ETL RERE REEFE  REED
%88 £33 %88 Ag N
Number of meetings held
during the year 10 4 ] ] 9 9 9 4 ] ]
FAETEFI Y
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS #{T2%
Pefer Lee Coker Jr. 10/10 9/9 9/9 N il
Lau Tom Ko Yuen (Note 1)
. . 10/10 N N 929 929 919 414 N N
A5R (FEh)
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR JE&117E5
Walter Craig Power (Note 2)
Walter Craig Power (fi5£2) 1o/o 0 U i
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS B E{TE S
James Chiu
] 10/10 414 N 929 414 N i
S
LeeCrackFor 8110 34 1 on o4 ol on
B3 D
i Ferguon Brce 8110 34 o 112 112 102 /4 on o
it
Francis Goutenmacher (Note 3)
Francis Goutenmacher (f{5£3) L4 . g L g
Chan Kok Chung, Johnny (Note 3)
. 9/10 414 0 N
RE® (1:3)
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Notes:
1) Resigned on 10 June 2020.

2) Re-designed from Chief Executive Officer (Executive
Director) to Non-Executive Director with effective from 1

May 2019 and resigned on 18 May 2020.
3) Resigned on 6 April 2020.

In addition to the Board meetings, the Chairman holds regular
meetings with Independent Non-Executive Directors without the
presence of Executive Directors in March 2020.

Minutes of Board meetings and Board committee meetings with
sufficient details of matters discussed are kept in safe custody

by the Company Secretary, and are open for inspection by
Directors.

Induction and Development

Management and the Company Secretary liaise with the newly
cxppoin‘recl Directors to acquaint them with their duties and
responsibilities as Directors and the business operations of the
Company. On appointment to the Board, Directors receive a
package of orientation materials on the Group and provided
with a comprehensive induction on the business operations and
practices of the Group, as well as the general and specific duties
of directors under general law and the Listing Rules. All Directors
are also given a Directors’ Manual on their appointment

which set out, amongst other H’lings, directors’ cluﬂes, terms of
reference of the Board Committee and corporate governance
practices of the Group.

To assist Directors’ continuing professional development ("CPD"),
details on legal and regulatory changes are provided to all
Directors. Directors are also recommended and encourdged

to attend forums or seminars re|oﬂng to the roles, functions

and duties of a listed company director. The costs of such
forums or seminars are borne by the Company. The Corporate
Governance Committee of the Company is responsible

for reviewing and monitoring the Directors’ training and
deve|opmenf.
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The Directors are required to provide the Company with details BEEAAALNBRBRHET B%?%mZCPDi*DJH.ﬁ 15, 1R
of the CPD training undertaken by them. Based on the details BATIRM S, B _ B _SF-_A=+—HIFE
so provided, the CPD training undertaken by the Director during ESEES ZCPDEINFIZNT ¢

the year ended 31 March 2020 is summarised as follows:

. . Attending presentation/seminars relevant to the
Reading regulatory rules and their

Directors Groups’ business or directors’ duties
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Peter Lee Coker Jr. .\/ .\/

Lau Tom Ko Yuen (Note 1)
Az E ()

Walter Craig Power (Note 2)
Walter Craig Power (Ff5£2)

James Chiu
Ji=p i

Lee Chack Fan
=185

lain Ferguson Bruce

e+

Francis Goutenmacher (Note 3)

Francis Goutenmacher ([ 5£3)
Chom Kok Chung, Johnny (Note 3)
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B8 (HEE3)
Notes: Mt -
1) Resigned on 10 June 2020. ) RIBIEFA+HBET
2) Re-designed from Chief Executive Officer (Executive 2) MITEMRE FTESR) AEAFFNTES, B-F
Director) to Non-Executive Director with effective from 1 _j}ﬁiﬁﬂ HEER, TR _E_SERF+/\
May 2019 and resigned on 18 May 2020. H## T
3) Resigned on 6 April 2020. 3) RIBFHFMANHEHE
During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Company ﬁii ELRFCACT-HIEFER, ARIARES
has provided the Directors with materials on various topics $E1 [Fls&E (@TEtFﬁiﬁg‘J%¥ﬁ&kk%$ﬁf) E’]ijq;
(including Listing Rules updates and directors’ duties) and gave : E'éﬁi%ﬁ B %EEUEE%E@J MEFRERMER LUSINESEY
presentation to the Directors on updates in rules and regulations, ETREEERNEHANT H.

which enhance greater awareness and understanding of the
compliance with the regulatory development.
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The Company has received confirmation from each current
Director that he has given sufficient time and attention to the
affairs of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2020.
Besides, Directors have disclosed to the Company their interests
as director and other office in other public companies and
organisation in a timely manner and update the Company on
any subsequent changes.

BOARD COMMITTEES

To facilitate the work of the Board, Board committees have
been set up with written terms of reference which clearly

define the ro|e, ctuﬂ']orify, and functions of each committee.
Each Board committee is required to report their decisions or
recommendations to the Board. Details of Directors’ attendance
at the Board committee meetings during the year ended 31
March 2020 are shown on page 28 of this annual report.

The role and function of, and a summary of work done by, each
Board committee during the year ended 31 March 2020 are set
out below:

Audit Committee
Composition

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Audit Committee
consisted of five members, all of whom were Independent
Non-Executive Directors, and was chaired by an Independent
Non-Executive Director.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the members of this
Committee were Ir James Chiu (Chairman), Professor Lee Chack
Fan, Mr lain Ferguson Bruce, Mr Francis Goutenmacher and
Mr Chan Kok Chung, Johnny. None of them is a partner or
former partner of the Company's external auditor. As at the
date of this report, the members of this Committee are Jr James
Chiu (Chairman), Professor Lee Chack Fan, Mr lain Ferguson
Bruce and Dr Lo Wing Yan, William.

Role and Function

The principal duties of the Audit Committee include oversight
of the Group's financial reporting system, risk management

and internal control systems, review of the Group's financial
informoﬁon, and review of the re|c|ﬂonship with the external
auditor of the Company. This Committee also meets regularly
with the Company’s external auditor to discuss the audit process
and accounting issues.
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Summary of Work Done

The following is a summary of the work performed by the Audit
Committee during the year ended 31 March 2020:

1.

Review of the annual results of the Group for the year ended

31 March 2019;

Review of the interim results of the Group for the six months

ended 30 September 2019;

Review of the Group's financial information, financial
reporting system, internal control and risk management

systems, and financial and accounting policies and practices;

Approval of remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditor;

Recommendation to the Board to re-appoint the external
auditor at the 2019 annual general meeting;

Review of the external auditor’s independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process, and
review of policy on engaging the external auditor to supply
non-audit services;

Review of the Company's systems of financial controls,

internal control and risk management;

Review of the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programmes and budge’r of
the Company's internal audit, accounting and financial
reporting functions;

Review of internal/external auditor’s significant findings
and recommendations, and monitoring of the subsequent

implementation;

. Review of the effectiveness of the internal audit function of

the Company;

. Approval of the 2021 internal audit plans;
. Review of the continuing connected transactions; and

. Meeﬁng with the external oudifor, in the absence of

Management.
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Remuneration Committee
Composition

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Remuneration
Committee consisted of three members, the majority of whom
were Independent Non-Executive Directors. This Committee was

chaired by an Independent Non-Executive Director.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the members of this
Committee were Ir James Chiu (Chairman), Mr Lau Tom Ko
Yuen and Professor Lee Chack Fan. As at the date of this

report, the members of this Committee are Ir James Chiu

(Chairman) and Professor Lee Chack Fan.

Role and Function

The Remuneration Committee has been established to ensure
there is a formal and transparent procedure for setting policy
on the remuneration of Executive Directors and for fixing the
remuneration packages for all Directors. This Committee is
mainly responsible for making recommendations to the Board
on the Company'’s policy and structure for remuneration

of Directors and Senior Management, and making
recommendations on the manpower deployment plan. This
Committee also determines, with delegated responsibility,
remuneration packages of individual Executive Directors

and Senior quqgemenf, and makes recommendations on
remuneration of Non-Executive Directors.

Summary of Work Done

The work done by the Remuneration Committee during the year
ended 31 March 2020 included review of the remuneration
policy of the Company.

Remuneration Policy

The Company ensures that the remuneration offered is
appropriate for the duties, in line with market practice and pay
levels, and effective in attracting, retaining and motivating
employees (including Executive Directors). For Non-Executive
Directors, the Company ensures that fhey are sufﬁcienﬂy but
not excessively compensated for their efforts and time dedicated
to the Company. No individual determines his or her own

remuneration.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the remuneration
paid to the Senior Management was within the band between

HK$1,000,000 to 2,000,000.
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Nomination Committee
Composition

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Nomination
Committee consisted of four members, the majority of whom
were Independent Non-Executive Directors. This Committee was

chaired by an Independent Non-Executive Director.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the members of

this Committee were Professor Lee Chack Fan (Chairman),

Mr Lau Tom Ko Yuen, Mr lain Ferguson Bruce and Mr Francis
Goutenmacher. As at the date of this report, the members of
this Committee are Professor Lee Chack Fan (Chairman) and

Mr lain Ferguson Bruce.

Role and Function

This Committee was established to ensure there is a Formo|,
considered and transparent procedure for the appointment of
new Directors. The duties of this Committee include reviewing
the structure, size and composition of the Board ond, if
necessary, recommending changes. It is also responsible for
identifying individuals suitably qualified to become members of
the Board, selecting or making recommendations to the Board
on the selection of individuals to be nominated for direcforships,

and reviewing the effectiveness of the Directors.

Summary of Work Done

The following is a summary of the work performed by the
Nomination Committee during the year ended 31 March 2020:

1. Nominated the retiring Directors for re-election at the 2019
Annual General Meeting;

2. Review of the structure, size and composition (including the

ski||s, know|ec|ge and experience) of the Boord; and

3. Assessment of the independence of the Independent
Non-Executive Directors.

Nomination Policy and Procedure

The Company ensures that the Board has a balance of skills
and experience appropriate for the requirements of the business
of the Company. The Company also ensures that the Board
includes a balanced composition of executive and non-executive
directors (including independent non-executive directors) so

that there is a strong independent element on the Board, which
can effectively exercise independent judgement. The structure,
size and composition of the Board must be complied with

the requirements under the Listing Rules and the Company's
Bye-laws.
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The Nomination Committee reviews the structure, size and
composition (including skills, knowledge and experience) of the
Board and makes recommendations to the Board regording any

proposed changes.

Appointments of new Directors are first considered by the
Nomination Committee. In considering the appointment of a
Director, this Committee applies criteria such as professional and
educational background, relevant experience, and qualifications.
The recommendations of this Committee are then put to the
Board for consideration and approval. Thereafter, all Directors
appointed to fill casual vacancy are subject to election by
shareholders at the first general meeting after their appointment.

Board Diversity Policy
In the Board Diversity Policy:

1. The Company recognises and embraces the benefits
of having a diverse Board to enhance the quality of its

performcmce.

2. With a view fo achieving a sustainable and balanced
development, the Company sees increasing diversity at
the Board level as an essential element in supporting the
attainment of its strategic objectives and its sustainable

deve|opmenf.

3. In designing the Board's composition, Board diversity
has been considered from a number of aspects, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service.

4. All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against objectives criteria,
having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skill, |<now|ec|ge and |engf|'1 of service. The ultimate decision will
be based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates
will bring to the Board.
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Finance and Investment Committee
Composition

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Finance and
Investment Committee consisted of four members, and was
chaired by an Independent Non-Executive Director. During the
year ended 31 March 2020, the members of this Committee
were Mr lain Ferguson Bruce (Chairman), Mr Peter Lee Coker
Jr., Mr Lau Tom Ko Yuen and Mr Walter Craig Power. As

at the date of this report, the members of this Committee are
Mr lain Ferguson Bruce (Chairman) and Mr Peter Lee Coker Jr.

Role and Function

The Finance and Investment Committee is mainly responsible
for making recommendations to the Board on matters

relating to investing in assets, evaluating the budgets of all key
expenditures, reviewing financial performance against forecast,
and considering dividend payout.

Summary of Work Done

The work done by the Finance and Investment Committee
during the year ended 31 March 2020 included:

1. Review and evaluation of actual-to-budget results for the
year ended 31 March 2019 and for the six months ended 30
September 2019 (including budget of all key expenditures);

2. Review of financial performance against forecast;

3. Discussion on changes in accounting standards which may
affect the Company's financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2019 and for the six months ended 30
September 2019; and

4. Consideration of the payment of the 2019 final dividend
and 2020 interim dividend.

Disclosures Committee
Composition

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Disclosures
Committee consisted of three members, and was chaired by
an Independent Non-Executive Director. During the year
ended 31 March 2020, the members of this Committee were
Mr lain Ferguson Bruce (Chairman), Mr Lau Tom Ko Yuen
and Mr Peter Lee Coker Jr. As at the date of this report, the
members of this Committee are Mr lain Ferguson Bruce

(Chairman) and Mr Peter Lee Coker Jr.

Role and Function

The Disclosures Committee is mainly responsible for overseeing
disclosures to shareholders, the public, and relevant statutory
authorities, and for overseeing compliance with any applicable

legal requirements for disclosure.
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Summary of Work Done

The work done by the Disclosures Committee during the year
ended 31 March 2020 included the review of the content of
announcements re|c1fing to the annual results of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2019, and the interim results of the
Group for the six months ended 30 September 2019.

Corporate Governance Committee
Composition

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Corporate
Governance Committee consisted of three members, the
majority of whom were Independent Non-Executive Directors.
This Committee was chaired by an Independent Non-Executive
Director. During the year ended 31 March 2020, the members
of this Committee were Ir James Chiu (Chairman), Mr Lau

Tom Ko Yuen and Mr lain Ferguson Bruce. As at the date of
this report, the members of this Committee are Ir James Chiu
(Chairman) and Mr lain Ferguson Bruce.

Role and Function

The Corporate Governance Committee was established with
delegated responsibility of the Board to perform the corporate
governance duties and to further strengthen the Company’s
corporate governance. This Committee is mainly responsible
for all corporate governance and corporate social responsibility
matters of the Company.

Summary of Work Done

The following is a summary of the work performed by the
Corporate Governance Committee during the year ended 31
March 2020:

1. Review of the Company's corporate governance policy;

2. Review of the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and Senior Management;

3. Review of the Company compliance with the Code for
the year ended 31 March 2019 and six months ended 30
September 2019;

4. Review of the Company's disclosure in the Corporate
Governance Report for the year ended 31 March 2019; and

5. Review of the Company's disclosure in the Environmental,
Social and Governance Report for the year ended 31 March
2019.
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PYE Committee
Composition

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the members of the
PYE Committee were Ir James Chiu (Chairman), Mr Lau Tom
Ko Yuen, Professor Lee Chack Fan and Mr lain Ferguson Bruce.
As at the date of this report, the members of this Committee are
Ir James Chiu (Chairman), Professor Lee Chack Fan and Mr lain

Ferguson Bruce.

Role and Function

The PYE Committee is mainly responsible for overseeing,
monitoring and supervising the overall management and
operation of the construction business of the Company

Summary of Work Done

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the PYE Committee
reviewed the results of the construction business of the Company
for the year ended 31 March 2019, for the four months ended 31
July 2019, for the six months ended 30 September 2019 and for
the ten months ended 31 January 2020.

Executive Committee
Composition

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Executive
Committee consisted of two members who were Mr Peter Lee
Coker Jr. (Chairman) and Mr Lau Tom Ko Yuen. As at the date

of this report, the members of this Committee are Mr Peter Lee

Coker Jr. (Chairman) and Mr Tse Cho Tseung.

Role and Function

This Committee is mainly responsible for handling the
management and operations of the day-to-day business of the

Group.

Management Functions

The division of responsibilities between the Board and
Management are clearly set out in writing to ensure that there is
a segregation of duties with clear accountability.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Board, under the
leadership of the Chairman of the Company, had delegated all
the day-to-day operations and management of the Company's
business to Management. Management is required to report to
the Board on their decisions or recommendations.

DIRECTORS' SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the "Model Code”)
set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as its own code of
conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors.
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All Directors have confirmed, following specific enquiry by the
Company, that they complied with the required standard set out
in the Model Code during the year ended 31 March 2020.

The Company has also adopted a code of conduct governing
securities transactions by employees who are likely to be in
possession of unpublished price-sensitive information in relation
to the Group.

DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Group. With the assistance of the
accounts department, the Directors ensure that the financial
statements of the Group are prepared on a going concern basis
and in accordance with statutory requirements and applicable
financial reporting standards. The Directors also ensure that
the financial statements of the Group are published in a timely
manner.

The Group incurred a net loss of approximately HK$1,019
million during the year ended 31 March 2020 and had net
current liabilities and net liabilities of approximately HK$4,401
million and HK$1,596 million respectively as at 31 March
20920. These figures indicate that a material uncertainty exists
as to the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. The
Directors consider that, taking into account the financing plans
and measures as detailed in note 1 of the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020,
the Group will have sufficient working capital to finance its
operations and to meet its financial obligations for at least the
next twelve months from the date of this report. However, in
view of the extent of the uncertainty relating to the successful
outcome that certain financing plans and measures to improve
its consolidated financial position, the external auditor of the
Company issued a disclaimer of opinion on the Group's audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2020 in relation to, inter alia, material uncertainty related

to going concern. The details are set out in the Management
Discussion and Analysis on pages 15 and 16 of this annual report
and the Independent Auditor's Report on page 87 of this annual
report.

The statement by the external auditor of the Company
regarding their reporting responsibilities of the financial
statements of the Group is set out in the Independent Auditor's
Report on page 88 of this annual report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary supports the Chairman, Board and
Board Committees by ensuring good information flow and that
Board policy and procedures are followed. She is responsible
for advising the Board on governance matters and facilitates
the induction and professional development of Directors.

The Company Secretary is also responsible to the Group's
compliance with all obligations of the Listing Rules and Codes
on Takeovers and Mergers and Share Repurchases.
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The Company Secretary is an employee of the Company and is
appointed by the Board. She reports to the Chairman and the
Board as a whole. All Directors have access to the advice and
services of the Company Secretary in respect of their duties and
the effective operation of the Board and Board Committee.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Company Secretary
undertook over 15 hours of professional training to update her
skills and knowledge.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS

The fees paid/payable to the external auditors for audit and
non-audit services for the year ended 31 March 2020 (and the
comparative figures for the year ended 31 March 2019) are as

follows:
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2020 2019

St V-2 it SEPS

HK$ 000 HK$ 000

T#E T T T

Audit fee “EER 5,599 4,991
Non-audit services fees IR E B

Interim review fee FhERE R E 869 1,080

Tax services R EARTS 584 370

Provident fund audit NEEZEL 27 27

Special engagement KR EE 3,659 -

5,139 1,477

The Audit Committee of the Company is responsible for
approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditor and ensuring the continuing objectivity and
independence of the external auditor. The Audit Committee of
the Company has resolved to recommend the re-appointment
of ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited as external auditor of the
Company. This resolution has been endorsed by the Board and
is subject to final approval and authorization by the shareholders
at the 2020 Annual General Meeting.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the Company's
risk management and internal control systems and for reviewing
their effectiveness. In meeting its responsibility, the Board seeks
to increase risk awareness across the Company’s business
operations and has put in place policies and procedures which
provide a framework for controls and management of risks.
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Such risk management and internal control systems are

designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objec’rives, and to provide reqsonob|e, ’rhough
not obso|u’re, assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Risk Management

The Group has established an enterprise risk management
framework to identify potential events that may be affecting

the Company, to manage risks within its risk appetite and to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the achievement of the
Company's objectives. It comprises of three lines of defence to
provide Management, Audit Committee and the Board with the
confidence that the Company is managing its risks and they are:
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SECOND LINE OF DEFENSE ESEZ?IEAJE ARG
BB RO
NEVEEHAE

THIRD LINE OF DEFENSE

BERHR RSNEZ

Significant risks are considered and identified by the Board
when setting the Company's strategic objectives. Such risks

are evaluated and assessed based on their impact and
likelihood. Management ensures effective and appropriate risk
management and internal control procedures and measures are
established and across business operations and functional areas.
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This enterprise risk management framework will enable the
Company to have the following potential benefits:

Greater likelihood of ochieving business objec’rives;
Higher share prices over the longer term;

Reduction in management time spent “fire fighting”;
Increased likelihood of change initiatives being achieved;
More focus internally on doing the right things properly;
Better basis for strategy setting;

Achievement of competitive advantage;

Fewer sudden shocks and unwelcome surprises; and
Early mover into new business areas.

Internal Control

The Company has had in p|oce an infegro‘red internal control
framework in complying with Code Provisions of Listing Rules.
Internal control is defined as a process designed to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the achievement of objectives in
relation to the following:

Effectiveness and efficiency of operations;
Re|ic1bi|i’ry of financial reporting; and
Compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

The Company's internal control framework is divided into five
inter-related components: control environment, risk assessment,
control activities, monitoring and information & communication.
It serves as criteria for the effectiveness of the internal control
system in supporting the achievement of the separate but
overlapping operational, financial reporting and compliance
objectives.

The Board has overall responsibility for the Company’s system
of internal control and assessment of risks. The responsibility
of day-to-day management of operational risks and the
implementation of mitigation measures lies with Management.
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Built into our system are checks and balances such that no single
party can "monopolise” a transaction, activity or process to
conceal irregularities. Hence, Management has undertaken the
following additional checks and balances procedures:

A clear functional organizational structure was set up

with well-defined lines of authority, accountability and
responsibilities. Each division clearly understands their scope
of business and authorities delegated by Management;

A mon’rh|y reporting system on the performance of each
division, and actual financial performance results against
budgets to Management was well established. The
Board reviews the Company’s operations and financial
performance on a quarterly basis;

The Board reviews annually, in particular, adequacy

of resources, quo|ifico’rions, experience of staff, training
programme and budge’r of the Company's accounting and
financial reporting function as required under the Listing
Rules;

The Audit Committee assesses and monitors the
effectiveness of internal control system in detecting fraud
and other irregularities by reviewing the work of the internal
corporate audit department and its findings; and

The Company has in place a disclosure of price-sensitive
information policy for identifying, handling and
disseminating inside information in compliance with the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571) of the
Laws of Hong Kong). Procedures such as limit access to
inside information to those who need to know and requiring
outside parties to execute confidentiality agreement have
been imp|emen’red by the Company to guord against
mishandling of inside information. In-house training about
inside information is provided to senior management and
relevant officers regularly.
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Internal Audit

The internal audit function of the Group reviews the Group's risk
management and internal control systems, including assessing
the adequacy and effectiveness of the design and operating
effectiveness of the internal controls as well as management
oversight of the in-scope areas and process. Risk management
and internal control review is conducted at least once a

year. The procedures consist of process evaluations through
interviews with various personne| of the in-scope processes,
review of relevant policies and procedures, and sample testing
of controls. During the internal audit process, the Group's
internal audit function identifies internal control weakness,
makes recommendations and obtains remedial action plan
from Management with fimelines, for strengthening the internal
control of the Group. Internal audit function of the Group will
also follow up with Management status of remedial action p|cm.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the internal audit
function of the Group has conducted a review on the Group's
risk management and internal control systems. Internal audit
report, containing observations, recommendations and remedial

action plan, has been submitted to the Audit Committee and
the Board.

The Board conducted a review of the effectiveness of the
Company's risk management and infernal control systems
during the year ended 31 March 2020, and was not aware

of any significant issues that would have adverse impact on
the effectiveness and odequocy of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group. Such review covers

all material confro|s, inc|uc|ing financiaL operoﬁona| and
compliance controls, adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget for the Group's
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting function.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has a dividend policy pursuant to which

the Company may declare and distribute dividends to the
shareholders of the Company, provided that the Company shall
maintain adequate cash reserves for meeting its working capital

requirements and future growth as well as its shareholder value.
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The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend
distribution ratio and the Board has the discretion to declare
and distribute dividends to the shareholders of the Company,
subject to the provisions of the Bye-laws of the Company and all
0pp|icab|e laws and regu|a’rions and the factors set out below:

(i) the actual and expected financial performance of the
Group;

(i) retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Group;

(iii) economic conditions that may have an impact on the

business or financial performance and position of the Group;

(iv) business strategic of the Group, including future cash
commitments and investment needs to sustain the long-term
grow’rh aspect of the business;

(v) current and future operations, liquidity position and capital
requirements of the Group;

(vi) restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed
by the Group's lenders;

(vii) statutory and regulatory restrictions; and

(viii) any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS

In order to enhance shareholder and investor understanding

of the Group's business, the Company has established several
communication channels with shareholders and investors,
including (i) printed copies of corporate documents (including
but not limited to annual reports, interim reports, circulars and
noftices of shareholder meetings); (i) general meetings where
shareholders can offer comments and exchange views with the
Board; (iii) the Company's website: www.southshore-holdings.
com; and (iv) the Company’s share registrar with whom
shareholders register their shares. The Company has established
a shareholders” communication policy to set out the Company's
procedures in providing the shareholders and investment
community with ready, equal and timely access to balanced and
understandable information about the Company.
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In addition, shareholders are encouraged to attend all genero|
meetings of the Company, where the Chairman of the
Company, Chairmen of Board Committees, other Directors and
the external auditor are available to answer questions on the
Group's businesses. In order to conduct the generq| meetings in
a transparent manner, it has been the Company's practice to
conduct poll voting at general meetings since 2005, way ahead
of poll voting being made mandatory for all general meetings
effective on 1 January 2009.

The most recent genero| meeting of the Company during the
year ended 31 March 2020 was the annual general meeting
held on 30 September 2019. The resolutions put forward are set
out below:

Receipt of audited financial statements and reports of
directors and external auditor of the Company for the year

ended 31 March 2019;

Re-election of Mr Lau Tom Ko Yuen, Ir James Chiu and
Mr lain Ferguson Bruce as Directors, and approval of the
Directors’ fee;

Re-appointment of external auditor of the Company;

General mandate to Directors to issue shares of the

Company not exceeding 20% of Company's issued shares;

General mandate to Directors to repurchose shares of the
Company not exceeding 10% of the Company's issued
shares; and

Extension of genero| mandate gron’red to Directors.

The resolutions were pcssed. The results of the po|| voting have
been pub|isheo| on the websites of the Company and the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange.

Under the Company’s Bye-laws, shareholders holding not less
than one-tenth of the total voting rights at general meetings of
the Company shall have the right, by written requisition to the
Company, to require a special general meeting to be called for
the business specified in such requisition.

A|so, shareholders ho|ding not less than one-twentieth of the
total voting rights at general meetings or not less than 100
shareholders have to right to submit a written request to the
Company stating the resolution intended to be moved at the
annual general meeting.
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Shareholders may send their enquiries requiring the Board's
attention to the Company Secretary at the Company's principal
place of business in Hong Kong at 33/F, 250 Hennessy, 250
Hennessy Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

Details of the interests of Directors and shareholders in the
shares of the Company are shown on page 69 and pages 76 to
82 of this annual report respectively.

OTHER CORPORATE INFORMATION
Memorandum and Bye-Laws

There were no changes to the Company’s Memorandum and
Bye-laws during the year ended 31 March 2020.

Key Corporate Dates
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Events Dates
EIF HHA

Announcement of 2020 interim results

N B - EBEREAEE

Announcement of 2020 annual results
N B _BFLFEE
2020 annual general meeting

TECEFREBAFAE

Public Float Capitalisation

The public float capitalisation of the Company was
approximately HK$76.4 million on 31 March 2020, and
approximately HK$79.7 million on the date of this report.

By order of the Board

Mui Ching Hung, Joanna
Company Secretary

Hong Kong, 11 September 2020

26 November 2019
“E-hEt+—HAZ+/~H

11 September 2020
—_EEFNA+T—H

23 October 2020
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This Environmental, Social and Governance Report provides
an annual update on corporate social responsibility ("CSR”)
performance of South Shore Holdings Limited (the "Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) for the year ended 31
March 2020.

This report is prepared in accordance with Appendix 27 of

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. It aims to provide a balance
presentation of the Group's CSR key issues covering its two
core businesses, nome|y hotel operation and construction. The
report for last year covered the Company's hotel operation/
deve|opmen’r and construction as the Company's hotel was
opened during the year ended 31 March 2019.

CSR GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

PARTIES
&7
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CSR RESPONSIBILITIES
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Board of Directors + Has overall responsibility for the Company’s CSR strategy and reporting
EEg HARNBPECSETRBLEREEREET
Corporate Governance Committee + Review CSR matter of the Company
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Executive Committee +  Ensure the effectiveness of CSR risk management and internal control systems
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CSR Work Group + Promote CSR, and organizing and implementing CSR initiatives
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Departments and Business Units +  Develop and formulate CSR risk management and internal control systems
BSPI R EFS B s MEN G EPEHEEENEREIE RN EBEERN

+  Implement CSR practices
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+ Ensure CSR compliance in daily operation
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APPROACH TO CSR

The Company considers potential risks and impacts that
environment and social factors can have on the long-term risks
and returns to the Company and its shareholders. The Company
is committed to be a responsible corporate citizen by operating
in a manner that is economically, socially and environmentally

sustainable.

The Company’s CSR policy consists of a set of CSR principles
Focusing on 4 aspects, nome|y (a) Operating Practices, (b)
Employee Management, (c) Environmental Protection and (d)
Community Investment, which are instrumental in enabling our
business to operate in a sustainable manner.

tREMEEESH
AREERIRBEREERARTHEANTRERRHNE
R RAMEHE BB AR N E, BIOUEHE. T
ENREHEAFENTNEE, RAREENEER
Eo

ARBNEEHEEEHRAE—ELELEEER
A, EhEIMERE, RoEEER. bETEE
(ORBRFER(DCELS, HRMEBUTKEANE
BEFEE,

CSR ASPECTS
ERUEGETHE

Environmental
Protection

RIBRE

Operating
Practices
EEER

Within each of these areas, directions and principles are given
to the CSR Work Group to develop and review CSR-related
strategies, policies and guidelines for our daily operations.

MATERIALITY

The Company interact daily with a wide range of stakeholders,
including employees, customers, suppliers, shareholders

and regulators. We engage our stakeholders in on-going
communication channels to understand their concerns and
expectations. Based on the concerns and expectations of our
stakeholders, the Group has identified material CSR issues of the
Group. The CSR issues considered to be material are listed out
below and will be described in detail in this report.
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ASPECTS MATERIAL ISSUES
il ERHE

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION
B’E&E

Emission

e

Use of Resources

BRfER

The Environment and Natural Resources

RIERRAER

EMPLOYEE MANAGEMENT
BTERE

Employment

=

Health Safety
fEREZe

Development and Training

R

Labour Standards

T AR

OPERATING PRACTICES
EEER

Supply Chain Management
HrEREEE

Product Responsibility
EmEE

Anti-Corruption
R&5

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT
OERit &

Community Investment

OEEtE

Emission reduction
BBk
Pollution reduction
Ve

Energy saving

hAE

Water saving

7k

Environmental management
IRIFERE

Sustainable construction

B RS EREE

Employee welfare and working conditions
BSTENRITIERR

Work-life balance

TRETE T

Safety education and promotion
ZEHBERER
Safety measures on site

Tz tEhh

Staff training
ST

Human rights and equal opportunities

NER P EIRE

Supply chain management

e g

Qualify management
mEEE
Privacy and data protection

TR ERMRE

Whistle-blowing
ZEE Al

Business ethics

EBRT

Community services
Rt
Charity

BEEE
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION
Emission
Emission Reduction

Our hotel operation business conducts its business by striving

to improve our overall ecological and carbon footprint, without
compromising our guests experience and satisfaction, using

the most responsible working practices. We have recognised
the importance of minimizing the negative environmental
impact from our operations and are keen to reduce the carbon
footprint, while taking steps to minimize or recycle the waste we

generate.

Our construction business strives to reduce resource consumption
and carbon emissions, it prioritises to use electrical equipment
with Grade 1 energy efficiency labels on its construction sites

to avoid wastage of electricity. It also introduces and uses
advanced energy equipment, such as “Entertainer-Lithium-lon
Energy Storage System”, to replace diesel generators.

Pollution Reduction

The Groups' waste management policy is aimed at minimizing
generation of waste for disposal as far as reasonably
practicable, encouraging use of sustainable and reusable
materials which are technically and economically viable and
requiring recyclable materials be separated from the waste pile
and reused as much as possible.

Our construction business uses high-quality equipment certified
by Environmental Protection Department and monitors exhaust
emissions on a regular basis. It has adopted a cloud-based
real-time drawing management system for construction sites

to reduce the use of paper drawings. It also uses a Project
Management Information System (PMIS), where forms and
documents of the projects are created and stored, to achieve
workflow digitalisation and paperless implementation.

Use of Resources

We are committed to the well-being of our planet and its
present and future inhabitants. Our objective is to ensure that
resources are not wasted and that materials are reused and

recycled.

Energy Saving

Our construction business devises, issues and regularly updates
the Energy Policy Statement to ensure that employees at alll
levels effectively implement the energy management measures
and take responsibility for the respective performance. It also
uses high-efficiency machines and equipment fo manage the use
of fuels and electricity.

Water Saving

Our construction business treats wastewater at the construction
sites by sedimentation and recycling it for the use of construction
site c|eoning, and woshing of vehicles and car whee|s, to reduce
water consumption.
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The Environment and Natural Resources
Environmental Management

As a corporate citizen, the Group is committed to building

a sustainable community, strengthening environmental
management, and actively promoting the message of
environmental protection and pollution reduction. We have
been promoting sustainable development through resources
management, energy conservation, waste reduction and
recycling, and has been strictly complying with international
energy management systems, including the ISO 14001 and
ISO 50001 standards

Sustainable Construction

Our construction business continues to explore the sustainable
construction method and innovative technologies to reduce

the impact on the environment. These include the Modular
Integrated Construction (MiC) method and Building Information
Modelling (BIM) technology, and certain achievements have
already been made. During the year, the Group won the
contract for the construction of the Student Residence of the
University of Hong Kong at Wong Chuk Hang, which is one of
the MiC pilot projects selected by the Development Bureau. We
have also fully implemented MiC with project of the Temporary
Quarantine Facilities of Sai Kung Outdoor Recreation Centre.
In addition, our construction business has been certified as BIM
Level 2 compliance by the British Standards Institution (BSI).

By integrating and processing of construction information using
BIM technology, construction can be conducted in a better
coordinated manner and resources can be used more effectively,
contributing to the reduction of unnecessary wastages and

|OSS€S.
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SAI KUNG TEMPORARY QUARANTINE FACILITIES
WITH MIC IMPLEMENTATION

The construction of the Temporary Quarantine Facilities of

Sai Kung Outdoor Recreation Centre undertaken by the
Group was carried out with full implementation of the Modular
Integrated Construction (MiC) method in February 2020.

The project comprised the construction of 99 independent
units as quarantine Fcci|iﬂes, as well as its site formation and
E&M works. These three blocks of three-storey facilities were
successfully completed within 84 days.

MiC is an innovative construction adopting the concept of
“factory assembly followed by on-site installation”, that is,
independent MiC modules are prefabricated in the factory

to reduce the amount of construction processes at the sites.
Our site works and modules fabrication were conducted
simultaneously in Hong Kong and Malaysia. Throughout the
construction process, ranging from foundation preparation in
Hong Kong, modules fabrication, assembling and inspection in
Malaysia, shipping of MiC units to on-site modules installation,
we maintained effective coordination with working teams,

and carried out stringent monitoring and quo|ify control, so as
to ensure construction effectiveness. This project, construction
of three-storey quarantine facilities by fully implementing

MiC, has been recognised by the Buildings Department as

a "Pre-accepted MiC System”. We also deployed advanced
technologies to facilitate the construction of MiC - the
Candle-Loc Connection System, which serves as a noteworthy
example for future MiC applications in Hong Kong.

The application of MiC brings great benefits to society and
environment. It not only saves 30% of construction time and
cost, but also reduces adverse impact of dust and noise to
the surrounding areas. The modular prefabrication largely
lowers the construction waste and errors, thus enhancing

the construction efficiency and fostering environmental
protection. It effectively reduces energy consumption and
carbon emissions during the construction, as well as minimizes
the environmental impact and pollution to the neighbouring
communities.
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The Group's main type of emission and resources consumption

are as FO”OWS:

Our hotel operation
business

HFIBVEEEERE

Electricity

Consumption

Petrol Energy
Consumption

Paper
Consumption

Water
Consumption

(in Macau)

kWh
TR

BEE
30,231
kWh
T REF

FAH

2 152
Tonnes
N

AiE
0.07
ms
ILH K

AKE

- )]
87,760

Our construction business

HPINEREIIZES

Intensity (kWh
per employee)
EE (FRE,
SHRET)

133
Intensity (kWh

per van)
BE (FRE
SWEH)

.71

Intensity (Tonnes
per employee)
BE (g,

BHET)

0.001

Intensity (Tonnes
per employee)
BE (XM

S%ET)

385

AEETBERNIRERERBFENT

For the year ended 31 March
BE-RA=+—HILEE

2019

—E—nz
Intensity (kWh
per employee)
kWh  EBE (FRE/
FTRE SRET)
17,190 64
Intensity (kWh
per van)
kWh  EBE (FEE/
TR sWEH)
71 11.89
Intensity (Tonnes
per employee)
Tonnes BE (nng,/
NI B%8T)
2.03 0.008
Intensity (Tonnes
per employee)
m’ BE (Mg,
AR S%8T)
85,285 345

For the year ended 31 March
HE=A=1+—HLFE

2019

—= N

kWh
TRE

1,701
kWh
TR

73

Tonnes
N

40,645

Intensity (kWh
per employee)
EE (FRE,
SHRET)

53
Intensity (kWh

per van)
BE (FRE
SWEH)

14.60

Intensity (Tonnes
per employee)
HE (g,

BHET)

0.007

Intensity (Tonnes
per employee)
BE (XM

S%ET)

206

Carbon
Emission
(Tonne COse)
Scope 1
Scope 2
Scope 3

Note:

BRHER

/N

(Z&1t Tonnes
g =4==) NI
g 4,370
Eli=l) 1,397
#niE3 208

Intensity (Tonnes
per HK$ million
project revenue)

BE (1M,
FEEATT
HEWKA)

1.39
0.44
0.07

The above figures indicate total carbon emissions and

their intensities from five local projects with highest
revenue of the Group. Scope 1 includes energy direct
emission; Scope 2 includes energy indirect emissions;

and Scope 3 includes electricity used for fresh water and
sewage processing.
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Intensity
(Kg per veh|c|e)

Kg HE
T3 (?ﬁ/ﬁ%ﬁ)

ESEmBY
%Tbﬁﬁ

i<

Sulphur Oxide
Emission
from Vehicles

0.63 0.04

Intensity (Tonnes
per HK$ million
project revenue)

BE (18
BERAT
HEKA)

Tonnes

NL

Non-hazardous

Waste

B
o
il

108,738 3457

Intensity

(kWh per HK$
million project
revenue)

B (FRE,
BEERAET
HEKA)

kWh
TEEF

3
i
i

Electricity
Consumption

Diesel Energy
Consumption

Petrol Energy
Consumption

2,215,440 704.30

17,178,480 5,461.13

a0
HiD £ D

434,341 138.08

Intensity

(m* per HK$
million project
revenue)

e (ﬁ7'57k/

m3

A K

Water AkE

Consumption 446,440 141.93

Note: The above figures indicate total sulphur oxide emissions
(privo’re cars on|y), total non-hazardous waste, total
electricity consumption, total diesel energy consumption,
total petrol energy consumption (private cars only), total
water consumption and their intensities from five local

projects with highest revenue of the Group.

EMPLOYEE MANAGEMENT
Employment
Employee Welfare and Working Conditions

Our human resources po|icy sfricﬂy comp|ies with emp|oymenf
laws and regulations and we offer competitive remuneration
packages and plenty of training and career prospects. The
Group operates an equal opportunities, workplace where
discrimination is not tolerated and staff can function without fear
of age, sex, race or other biases.

In addition, the Group recognises that an enterprise’s success lies
in the efforts and contribution of its employees and accordingly,
endeavours to create an optimal working environment for them.
Internal guidelines stating policies on recruitment, promotion,
dismissal and anti-discrimination are in place to ensure a fair
and level-playing working environment for the employees.

The Group also offers competitive remuneration and benefits,
training programmes and career prospects for employees such
that they bring their potentials into full play at work.

|n’rehn5||’ry |nfe|qnsi|’ry
(Kg per vehicle) (Kg per vehicle)
Kg BE Kg e
T (:F?E/E:WE) Fr (FTr/S#H5H)
0.54 0.04 0.36 0.04
Intensity (Tonnes Intensity (Tonnes
per HK$ million per HK$ million
project revenue) project revenue)
BE (Mg, BE (10g
Tonnes SRRATT Tonnes BEEEATT
N IHEKRA) N I,\EIBU\)
57,084 17.50 47,023 16.29
Intensity Intensity
(kWh per HK$ (kWh per HK$
million project million project
revenue) revenue)
B (FEE, B (TR,
kWh BEEAT kWh BEEAT
TREF HEWKA) TRE HEWKA)
2,299,514 681,44 2,543,497 880.91
9,377,110 2,87510 10,753,977 3,724.60
349,090 104.89 239,174 82.84
Intensity Intensity
(m® per HK$ (m?® per HK$
million project million project
revenue) revenue)
BE QAKX BE QAKX
m’ FEEATT m’ SEEET
HK HEKA) ILH K HEKA)
133,400 40.91 75,496 26.15
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=
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Work-life Balance

The Group advocates work-life balance and has put in place
a series of family-friendly policies and practices including
compensation leave, marriage leave, compassionate leave,
maternity leave and paternity leave. The Group has also
included paid family care leave to accommodate employees’
needs to handle family matters. In addition, the Group also
create a harmonious working environment for the emp|oyees
through organising various activities such as festive luncheons,
volunteer activities and sport teams for the staff and their
families.

Health Safety
Safety Education and Promotion

Occupational safety and health is an indispensable part of our
construction business policy. As such, our construction business
formulated the "Safety, Health, Environmental and Quality
Policy Statement” which states the statutory and contractual
requirements, so that employees can strictly comply with relevant
safety and health measures according to the guideline. Our
health and safety management system has obtained the 1ISO
45001 certification, which demonstrates that our construction
business has adopted the highest level of occupational safety
and health standards in its process of planning, design and
construction. In addition, the Safety, Health, Environment and
Quality Management Committee led by top management

of our construction business regularly organises meetings on
occupational safety and health matters, monitors and reviews
safety performance.

Our construction business builds a culture of safety by promoting
and disseminating safety information through various means.
Regular safety workshops and seminars are held to ensure

that employees have a thorough understanding of safety
guidelines and mechanisms, as well as to enhance their safety
awareness. The Safety and Environmental Department of our
construction business provides the employees with occupational
safety and health messages through regularly producing short
videos on safety and publishing the Safety and Environmental
Protection Newsletter. Our construction business applies
advanced architectural technologies such as Virtual Reality
(VR) and Augmented Reality (AR) in site safety inspections and
safety training, which enhance the effectiveness of site safety
supervision.

Safety Measures on Site

For our construction business, sofefy measures are introduced
according to different site conditions to ensure a safe working
environment for workers. In addition to providing adequate
personc1| protective equipment and sctfefy gear, various soncefy
bulletin boards relating to high-risk works, lifting, work platforms,
chemical goods and confined spaces are placed on site to
remind workers’ awareness of safety. Our construction business
also conducts weekly safety inspection and supervision to reduce
risks during work and safety hazards. In addition, it introduces
and utilises new equipment such as automatic wall plastering
machine and A.l. Site Monitoring System to further strengthen
the safety of construction sites.

Our construction business puts great emphasis on occupational
safety and health. Apart from the stringent safety management
and policies, it constantly advances the working conditions at
sites, such as the setting up of drinking water areas, covered
seating, mist fans, as well as integration of new technologies,
facilities and management, so as to enhance working
environment's safety and comfort for workers.
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TECHNOLOGY INNOVATIONS ENABLE A NEW
LEVEL OF CONSTRUCTION SAFETY

With the continuous innovation in the construction industry, our
construction business has been investing a significant amount
of resources in the implementation as well as research and
development of various construction technologies with an aim
to optimise the existing construction system of the construction
industry by further enhancing site safety.

As the main contractor of the Development of IE 2.0 Project
A at Tseung Kwan O Industrial Estate for Hong Kong Science
and Technology Parks Corporation, our construction business
actively introduces and adopts various innovative intelligent
technologies such as "SMART" helmets, connecting to the site
and project office through Internet of Things (loT) technology.
The project team can automatically save and retrieve real-time
safety data from workers and the site environment, facilitating
the implementation of onsite manpower management and risk
management measures. This pioneering use of loT technology
allows the real-time collection and review of site im(ormqfion,

including data of manpower, site equipment and environment.

Moreover, our construction business utilises and continues to
optimise the cloud-based real-time drawing management
system, which allows the immediate review, handling, update
and coordination of information in the construction plans. The
project team also uses 3D scanning technology and equipment
which, when combined with BIM technology, provides a more
accurate, comprehensive and efficient simulation and preview
of the project’s design, construction and control. The above
applications contribute to enhance the effectiveness of site
safety management, project coordination and supervision.
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Development and Training
Staff Training

The nurturing of talents is an important part of a company's
development. Therefore, the Group is committed to providing

its employees with a variety of skills and professional training
opportunities. Our construction business has launched the
Graduate Trainee Programme and Non-Graduate Trainee
Programme for years, encouraging employees to add value

to their careers and obtain professional qualifications through
education sponsorship. We also provide education funding and
examination leave to encourage the employees in continuing the
education which is relevant to their scope of duties and career

aspirations.

The Group reviews its human resources management measures
from time to time, and adopts the latest methods in employee
development and training. In recent years, our construction
business has committed its full capacity in training talents of
Building Information Modelling (BIM). In addition to providing
its local employees with comprehensive BIM training, our
construction business also conducted the "China’s BIM Modeller
Training Programme” in 2019 for employees in the offices

of Mainland China for the first time. Employees from BIM
department of the Guangzhou office were invited to the Hong
Kong head office for a six-month on-the-job training and

exchange.

Labour Standards
Human Rights and Equal Opportunities

We provide a workplace without discrimination and guarantee
equal treatment. We also establish processes and practices that
support workforce in their current and future work.
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EMPHASIS ON EMPLOYEE DEVELOPMENT
AND TRAINING A NEW GENERATION IN THE
CONSTRUCTION INDUSTRY

Our construction business has been devoting considerable
resources to training young talents in the industry, providing the
employees with all-round training to enhance their professional

skills.

Singapore Training Programme

For the first time, our construction business provided 12
engineering trainees and quantity surveyor trainees with

the opportunity to work in Singapore during the year. In

the three-month training period, our colleagues learned

the emerging construction technologies of Singaporean
architecture such as Modular Integrated Construction (MiC)
and Prefabricated Bathroom Units (PBU) through on-site
visits and hands-on experience, gaining overseas architectural

experience in a multi-ethnic work culture.

Mentorship Programme

In May 2019, our construction business started a mentorship
programme, which pair up each newly recruited engineering
trainee and quantity surveyor trainee with a senior engineer
or quantity surveyor as his or her mentor. Through day-to-day
communication and regular participation in the trainees’
training activities, the mentor share their industry knowledge
and communication skills accumulated over the years to help
the trainees cope with challenges and difficulties in their work.

Team Building

To enhance the cohesiveness and loyalty of newcomers
towards the Group, our construction business held a drogon

boat-themed team training with the cooperative effort of
Royal Hong Kong Yacht Club on 19 October last year to
foster teamwork and cooperation spirit between employees.
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OPERATING PRACTICES
Supply Chain Management
Supply Chain Management

Business partners, suppliers and clients are closely related

to the construction business of the Group and directly affect

the products and services we provide. We implement a
comprehensive risk management strategy for its supply chain.
The top management of our construction business closely
monitors the selection process of suppliers and sub-contractors
and regularly assesses and records their relevant performances,
so as to ensure service quality and stability of deliveries. Potential
suppliers and sub-contractors are invited to submit tenders
based on specifications of relevant projects and duly complete
the Quality, Health and Safety Questionnaires for assessment.
We will also conduct regular reviews to ensure that our suppliers
and sub-contractors can provide stable and reliable services and
products.

Product Responsibilities
Quality Management

For our construction business, the quality management system
has been developed in accordance with a number of quality
management systems, including the ISO 9001 international
standard, with continuous updates. During the year ended

31 March 2020, an Independent Building Inspection Team
(BIT) and The DfMA Inspection Team were set up under the
Quality Management - Control & Delivery Department. The
former is responsible for independent building inspection work
during construction and prior o handover of projects, while the
latter provides additional surveillances to the off-site fabrication
processes in the Mainland China and progress reporting
directly to the head office and the project management

team, thus contributing to quality control and monitoring.
Moreover, our construction business has odop’red a new Projec’r
Management Information System (PMIS) to provide relevant
progress information for various projects. Project teams can
collaborate and communicate through the cloud platform with
comprehensive information sharing, taking the transparency of
project management to a further level.
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Privacy and Data Protection

Protection of company data and privacy of information is
very important to the Company. In order to gain trust from all
our sfokeho|c|ers, the security of their personcn| information is
important to us. The Company acknowledges the importance
in carefully handling all personal information. We have policies
in place to monitor how the personal information of our
stakeholders is co||ec+eo|, used and monoged.

To keep all company’s data from any unauthorised access,
accidental loss and/or desfrucﬁon, our hotel operation business
adopts appropriate security and data protection measures in
the transfer and storage of the persono| data and on|y processes
corresponding information when necessary.

For our construction business, non-disclosure agreements are
included in our tenders and contracts for sub-contractors in order
to prevent the |eokctge of relevant information. In comp|icmce
with data privacy laws and regulations, the Group adopts the
most pertinent and Hme|y data collection system to optimise its
business operations.

Anti-Corruption
Whistle-Blowing

The Company has in place a whistleblowing policy and system
which enables employees and those who deal with the Group to
raise concerns, in confidence, with the Audit Committee about
possible improprieties in any matter related to the Group.

Business Ethics

Building and ensuring the culture of integrity within the

Group has long been a major component in management.

All management and staff must comply with the Code of
Conduct, which sets out our position and standards regarding
operating ethics and employee conduct, including preventing
bribery and avoiding conflicts of interest. Any breaches of the
Code are handled in strict accordance with internal disciplinary

procedures.
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NEWLY BUILT AND REVITALIZED COMMUNITY
LANDMARK - UCHICAGOHK

The Hong Kong Jockey Club University of Chicago Academic

Complex | The University of Chicago Francis and Rose

Yuen Campus is a project comprising the preservation of the
ex-Victoria Road Detention Centre, a local heritage building,
and the construction of a modern teaching centre. To enhance
the results of conservation and revitalisation, the project team
has introduced a number of measures, inc|uding:

(1) Adoption of four-dimensional Building Information
Modelling (4D BIM) Models for precise work scheduling,
planning and clash analysis, with special focus on
the foundation works on s|opes, curved curtain walls
and tight interfacing areas between the old and new
bui|dings;

(2)  Use of detachable 3D printing models to facilitate the
coordination between stakeholders on work designs,

implementation, monitoring and inspection;

(3) Jubilee Battery, ex-Victoria Road Detention Centre and
the iconic flame trees have been revitalised under careful
planning, and are now available for public for leisure
enjoyment.

As the main contractor of the project, our construction business
innovatively transformed this Grade 3 historic building into a
new international |c1no|mork, setting a new benchmark for the
progress of local preservation projects. The project has won
numerous awards, including the "Winner (Community Service/
Regional Development)” of the HKIPM Project Management
Achievement Awards 2019 organised by Hong Kong Institute
of Project Management, the "Winner (Community Service/
Regional Development)” of the 2019 Asia Pacific Project
Management Awards organised by Asia Pacific Federation
of Project Management, and the "Medal of the Year of

Hong Kong” and “Special Architectural Award - Heritage &
Adaptive Re-use” of HKIA Annual Awards 2018/19 organised
by the Hong Kong Institute of Architects.
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COMMUNITY INVESTMENT
Community Investment
Community Services

While the support of the general public has always been the
driving force behind the continuous growth of the Group, we
are committed to giving back to the community and making
contributions to building a better community with our corporate
resources and advantages. We fulfil our responsibilities as a
good corporate citizen through community service, education,
charity and other channels to benefit the community.

For our construction business, it has been committed to
community services with an in-house volunteer team for many
years, and has been working closely with community partners to
organise various volunteer services for the disadvantaged social
groups. Since 2013, it has been organising the "Mid-Autumn
Visit to the Elderly at Lam Tei” jointly with the Neighbourhood
Advice-Action Council for consecutive years, caring for the
needs of the elderly singletons in the Tuen Mun District by
giving warmness and supports. Through continuous volunteering
activities, we have disseminated the spirit of caring around the

community.

The Group believes that the future development of Hong
Kong's relies on the education of the next generation, and
therefore actively supports and promotes education programs
to provide assistance to the young people. During the year
ended 31 March 2020, our construction business continued

to provide encouragement and actual assistance to the
students from Mainland China and Hong Kong who were
struggling against adversities, by sponsoring the "Future Star
Programme - Upward Mobility Scholarship” and the “Friends
of Hope Education Fund”. In addition, our construction business
sponsored the first “Innovation for Urbanisation Challenge”,
encouraging the younger generation to create innovative smart
construction designs. Our construction business also sponsored
to the charity trip at Cambodia organised by the HKU

SPACE and encouraged the students to assist in improving the
learning environment of children living in Cambodia with their
architectural knowledge.
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Charity

For our construction business, it has actively supported various
charitable activities, such as participating in the "Tree Planting
Challenge” organised by Friends of the Earth for the second
year to promote the message of environmental protection. It also
actively participated in the charity events in the industry, such
as the "CIC Basketball Competition 2019, “Construction Month
Cup 2019 3x3 Basketball Competition”, “Construction Industry
Sports Day and Charity Fun Day 2019" and “Construction
Industry Happy Run and Carnival 2020" organised by the
Construction Industry Council, as well as the " Lighthouse Club
Charity Cup 2019" organised by the Lighthouse Club.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, our charitable and
other donations used in supporting community welfare,
environmental protection and promoting health information
amounted to approximately HK$536,000.
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CARING ACTION TO FIGHT AGAINST COVID-19 IN
THE CONSTRUCTION INDUSTRY

In view of the outbreak and spread of the Coronavirus Disease
("COVID-19"), our construction business made great efforts in
fighting against the pandemic by working closely with other
participants in the industry. In the “Construction Industry
Caring Campaign - Fight Against Novel Coronavirus” initiated
by the Construction |nc|us’rry Counci|, our construction business
actively responded to the fund-raising activity and made
considerable donations, contributing caring and assistance to
the registered workers who were affected by COVID-19. Our
construction business also attended the "Construction Industry
Caring Campaign - Fight Against Novel Coronavirus -
Materials Distribution Day” organised by the Construction
Industry Council on 6 March 2020, contributing in the combat
against COVID-19 and caring for the needs of the industry.
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"ECO-FRIENDLY INNOVATIVE MEAL EXPERIENCE’ MRe=+-—RERAIZERKE

WORKSHOP

The Group is committed to bringing long-term value to the AEBXESBEIFELFBENRBEE AtES
community through long-term cooperation with non-profit REREB. FH, HPANBERTEEFBRERLE
organisations. During the year, our construction business SEE5F ERYAICEIEBBIER, AE Y BEE
continued to cooperate with Hans Andersen C|ub, fogefher E'] J\HH 75\; ﬁ/\fiﬁﬁ +3_"_L H %?ﬂ# W%ﬁ + E%T%
with the start-up company “Green BB’, in organising the BIERERKE, MELKIB T FEE LI, &
"Eco-friendly Innovative Meal Experience” workshop for the /Ecéj]j(':y ) ARFEAREERERNMNREEERIER
children living on Lamma Island on 25 May. Our volunteer W, NBEEBRTALERIGEHRRES . 1B
team gave their full support for this activity, which included !%f‘f%ﬂﬁj . [FIZEBBQIE | FETRREE 2, =
two parts: the innovative eco-friendly feast and eco-friendly BILEERMEE N BT B SR TERLEREE
tableware making. During the workshop, the children not B, EEERRE, XEEALFBIES, ZE/)\A
only used "Taiwan rice tableware”, “German leaf dishes” and RAMESFE2ERERS, UNKEE G,

"Denmark BBQ grills”, etc. for eco-friendly barbecue, but also
learned to make eco-friendly tableware with the guidance

of the instructors and assistance of our volunteer team in

an entertaining way. The Group expected that, through the
games in this activity, the children can learn to protect the
environment and understand the concept of sustainable life.
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The directors present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of South Shore Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company.

The activities of its principal subsidiaries, associate, joint ventures
and joint operations as at 31 March 2020 are set out in note 46
to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A detailed review on the Group's business performance

during the reporting period, as well as the principal risks and
uncertainties and future prospects of the Group are set out in the
Management Discussion and Analysis of the annual report, the

discussions thereof form part of this Directors’ Report.

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group understands the importance of sound environmental
management practices and sustainable business operations.
The Group has in place environmental policy and is committed
to minimise adverse impact that its operations may have on
the environment. The Group has implemented a number of
environment-friendly measures such as installation of LED
lighting and adoption of electronic internal administrative
processes to replace the use of paper.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

During the year ended 31 March 2020, as far as the Company
is aware, there was no material breach of or non—comp|ic1nce
with applicable laws and regulations by the Group that has a
significant impact on the business and operations of the Group.

Relationships with Employees, Customers and Suppliers

The sustainable development of the Group depends on the
supports and efforts of all parties concerned including our
customers, suppliers and contractors, particularly the efforts
and contribution of all our staffs. Accordingly, our senior
management has kept good communication, promptly
exchanged ideas and shared business updates with them when

appropriate.
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RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020 are

set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on page
89 of the annual report and in the accompanying notes to the
consolidated financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the five largest customers
and the single largest customer of the Group accounted for
approximately 50% and 16% of the revenue of the Group,
respecfive|y. The aggregate purchqses attributable to the five
largest suppliers of the Group during the year was less than 22%
of the purchases of the Group.

As far as the directors are aware, none of the direcfors, their
close associates, within the meaning of the Lis’ring Ru|es, or those
shareholders which to the knowledge of the directors own more
than 5% of the Company's share capital have an interest in any
of the five largest customers of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2020.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The Group currently maintains a variety of credit facilities to
meet its working capital requirements. As at 31 March 2020, the
Group's total bank and other borrowings, loan from a subsidiary
of a shareholder and loan from a related company amounted
to HK$4,980,322,000 with HK$4,466,022,000 repayable
within one year and HK$514,300,000 repayable more than
one year but not exceeding five years. In addition, the Group
also has outstanding convertible bonds with face value of
HK$2,218,542,350 and liability component as at 31 March
2020 of HK$964,903,000. The convertible bonds mature

in February 2025. Cash, bank balances and deposits as at 31
March 2020 amounted to HK$433,818,000. The Group's total
debts to total assets ratio was 0.69 as at 31 March 2020.

FIXED ASSETS

Details of movements in the hotel property, property, plant and
equipment, deposits paid for acquisition of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets of the Group during the year
are set out in notes 14, 15 and 16 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the issued share capital of the
Company during the year are set out in note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE OPTIONS

Particulars of the share option schemes and details of
movements in the share options of the Company during the year

are set out in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

The Company's reserves available for distribution to
shareholders as at 31 March 2020 comprised the contributed
surplus of HK$1,823,317,000.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company who held office during the year
and up to the date of this report are:

Executive directors

Peter Lee Coker Jr. (Chairman)
Lau Tom Ko Yuen (Deputy Chairman)
(resigned on 10 June 2020)
Tse Cho Tseung
(appointed on 17 June 2020 and resigned on 21 July 2020)

Non-executive director

Walter Craig Power
(re-designated as non-executive director on 1 May 2019 and
resigned on 18 May 2020)

Independent non-executive directors

James Chiu, OBE, JP

Lee Chack Fan, GBS, SBS, JP

lain Ferguson Bruce

Lo Wing Yan, William, JP (appointed on 6 April 2020)
Francis Goutenmacher (resigned on 6 April 2020)
Chan Kok Chung, Johnny (resigned on 6 April 2020)

In accordance with Bye-law 86(2) of the Company's Bye-laws,
Dr Lo Wing Yan, William will retire at the forthcoming annual
general meeting. In addition, in accordance with Bye-laws 87(1)
and 87(2) of the Company's Bye-laws, Mr Peter Lee Coker

Jr., and Professor Lee Chack Fan will retire by rotation at the
forthcoming annual general meeting. All retiring directors, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming

annual general meeting.

Non-executive directors (including the independent
non-executive directors) are appointed for a specific term of not
more than three years, and are subject to retirement by rotation
under the Company’s Bye-laws.

DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the directors proposed for re-election at the
Forﬂ']coming annual genero| meeting has a service contract with
the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable

by the Group within one year without payment of compensation,

other than statutory compensation.

P N/N=T AT K s g L
ATECEF-A=+—H, ARFARDIRFREZ
RO B 1A 8R1,823,317,00078 710

BF
RRBNAFERBEARSARHECEFOT

WITES

Peter Lee Coker Jr. (£ /)

BeR (B1F/F)
MRZBZEFATHEME)

IRk

MRZEB_EBFB+EREZETN
RIB_BFtA-+—B&MT)

FERITES

Walter Craig Power
MIB—NEFERLA—HATAIEITESKNR S
“EFRB+/\HEHD)

BIIERITES

W=, OBE, JP

F855, GBS, SBS, JP

mEL

EXx{, JP (RS _FFMANHEZED)
Francis Goutenmacher (7 — & —E 44 H /5 HeErE)
BRER (MBS FMEA /BT

BIBEARNE 2 N BB Es6(QE, EX{CIEIHENIER
REREFRE LIRE. I, IRBEALNBZRNEMEIE
87(1)z87(2)fE¢, Peter Lee Coker Jr.5t 4 N 25 e A5 5 1A B
BARACREEFAE tHESTE MEBEREEETE
ERRTBEERIE AR REEFERE EEEET,

FREFFNITES (LEBIIFNTES) ZiEEEHT
BR=F, UHREALEZLEMAESRERE.

EXZRBEN

BN OARCRBEBFAG LERETCES, HE
BRANTNEEFANE QT I ERN SR —F R
EERIEMAAFHEE CEAERERN ZIRFB S,
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2020, the interests and short positions of the
directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the "SFQ")), as recorded in
the register of the Company required to be kept under Section
352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
"Model Code") in the Listing Rules were as follows:

Interests in shares and underlying shares of the Company

Name of director Capacity
ERER 513

Peter Lee Coker Jr. Beneficial owner
EnEE A

Lau Tom Ko Yuen (former director) Interest of controlled

A5E FES) corporation

RSB B
lain Ferguson Bruce Beneficial owner

mELT EEEAA
Notes:

1. All the above interest in the shares of the Company were
long position.

2. These shares were beneficially owned by Circle Swing
Limited. Circle Swing Limited was a wholly owned
subsidiary of Rally Praise Limited which was in turn a wholly
owned subsidiary of Empire City International Limited.
Empire City International Limited was a wholly owned
subsidiary of Affluent Talent Limited which was in turn
wholly owned by Mr Lau Tom Ko Yuen. Mr Lau Tom Ko
Yuen, the former deputy chairman and executive director of
the Company, is also a director of Affluent Talent Limited,
Empire City International Limited, Rally Praise Limited and
Circle Swing Limited respectively.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, none of the
directors or chief executives of the Company had any interest or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Company or any associated corporation (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register of the
Company required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

EENRM. HERRN RESFCBERXE

RZRTBF-A=+—H, ARFAEFREETH
ANERAERBNEFEREE (EXRE S RFEED
(TR N HEAE A ) BXVER) 2R HHRRR M &
hRERBESLEGAHSENEBRFERARTE
Rz gEkke, RELHRAZ EHRRES
ETRE SR 7 2 1R2ESTR (MR2ESTR) MASRTTAE
REINEBMR B IOARNT

RARB RN KB M <

Number of Total number of Approximate
shares held shares held percentage
PREFRR D BB FREERR 17 482K BAEDLT
(No_fe 1)}
(MysE )
6,376,260 6,376,260 0.63%
87,475,800 (Note 2) 87,475,800 8.64%
(B =F2)
89,881 89,881 0.01%
P &L -

1L U ERERRERM BRI S B.

2. IR ECircle Swing Limited B &5 o Circle Swing
LimitedZRally Praise Limited P92 & T E /N5, MRally
Praise LimitedEl| A Empire City International Limited 4
EME/NElo Empire City International Limited 23 Affluent
Talent Limited89 2 & I B /25, TAffluent Talent
Limted 2 S RETELEH A, FaRETAER
BIRAIEI TEFEIITESE, 757 Bl AAMuent Talent
Limited. Empire City International Limited. Rally Praise
Limited &2 Circle Swing Limited Y2 =

BREXFTEESN, RIBEZSF=A=1+—8, &
BEEFNEBTRAEMERAL T NEREREE
(E&RFEHFRIAEBROIBXVER) 2. HERIRMN &
B HEREE S NNEHRMBINFAEFENER
BIE MR EERGEINAR, JREBEEETRIMAS
TRHEARRE REBM A RRIXE,
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR BARMNSERE L

DEBENTURES

(i) Share option scheme () FERRIESTE
On 11 August 2015, the Company adopted a new share ARNBIRNZE—RF)\H T+ —HHNER#ESTE
option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”). Details of (TEEREETE)) ., BE_E_FEF=F=+—HLt
movements in the share options of the Company gronfed FERNNDIRBEEREST R CERESE) V5
under the Share Option Scheme during the year ended 31 EL U

March 2020 are as follows:

Number of shares of the Company to be issued upon exercise

of the share options Closing price of the
REREETFRAATRETZRNEA Company’s shares
Outstanding ot Lapsed during Outstanding ot Exercise price ~ immediately before Exercise
Name of grantee Date of grant 149019 the year 3130020 per share date of grant period
RZE-nE RIZZTEZR ZERHAR
REALE REHAS mE-H FRXY Zt-HEXAE SRIFPE FRARMUTE i
HKS HKS
AR AT
(Note 3)
(H53£3)
Directors EE
Peter Lee Coker Jr. 18.9.2015 9,204,276 (2,204,976) - 19531 298 Note
“2-1ENET\A i)

Lau Tom Ko Yuen 18.9.9015 2,904,976 (2,204,976) - 19.531 298 Note
(former director) “E-REABTNE i

sk
(HEZ)

Walter Craig Power 18.9.2015 2,204,276 (2,204,276) - 12531 298 Note
(former director) “E-1ENE+TN\H Bz
(&%)

James Chiu 18.9.2015 195,350 (195,350) - 12531 298 Nofe 1

b £ “E-1ENE+\A iG]

Lee Chack Fan 18.9.2015 195,350 (195,350) - 12531 2928 Note 1

BN “E-nENATNE iz

|cin Ferguson Bruce 189.2015 195,350 (195,350) - 12531 298 Note

hEL “E-1ENE+H\A Mz

Francis Goutenmacher 18.9.2015 195,350 (195,350) - 19531 298 Note 1
(former director) _E-REABT/\H Mz
EjEE)

Chan Kok Chung, Johnny 18.9.2015 195,350 (195,350) - 19531 298 Note
(former director) “E-REAEtNH i

BER
#HED)

Sub-total 7,589,578 (7,589,578)

It
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR BARMDERE 2 TH (8)
DEBENTURES (Continued)
(i) Share option scheme (Continued) () PBRGFEETEI (8

Number of shares of the Company to be issued upon exercise

of the share options Closing price of the
REREETFRAATRETZRNEA Company’s shares
Outstonding o Lopsed during Outstonding of Exercise price ~ immediately before Exercise
Name of grantee Date of grant 149019 the year 3130020 per share date of grant period
RIE-NE RZBZETE=R SRR AHE
ERARE BHAH mA-A ERRN =T-HEEKE SRITEE ARIRMUTE 178
HKS HKS$
#T AT
(Note 3)
(HzE3)
Employees (In aggregate) 18.9.2015 540,603 (540,803) - 12.53] 298 Note
{28 (B3f) “E-nFABTAA i)
89.2016 939,400 (239,400 - 13104 316 Note 2
ZE-NENANE Bz

Sub-fotal 780,203 (780,203)

It

Total 8,369,781 (8,369,781)

Notes: B 5E -

1. The share options shall vest in 3 ’rronches, as to one-third 1. %Hy$g/ > _ﬂitﬁﬁi B, =9 Z%HXjngC:f ﬁ
on 18 September 2016, as to a further one-third on 18 FHA+T/\HERE, BA=—r—ERER_S
September 2017 and as to the final one-third on 18 —TCHFENAT\HEE RB=70—<BRERN
September 2018. The share options are exercisable from TE-N\FENAT/N\HRE, ERECEREE
the aforesaid vesting dates until 17 September 2019 FECALCE_S—NFNA+CHEER (8E
(both dates inclusive). BEMX) 7] F171H,

2. The share options shall vest in 3 tranches, as to one 0 EBRES-HMEE, —Hh—<ERER_ZT—C
third on 8 September 2017, as to a further one-third on FHANHEE, BN—_p—HERENR_S
8 September 2018 and as to the final one-third on 8 —\FNANBEE, EB=r—<EBRERZ
September 2019. The share options are exercisable from E—NENA/\BREB. BEREQBEREERES
the aforesaid vesting dates until 7 September 2020 ZHEEZSEEFNACHPE (ZIEEEW
(both dates inclusive). x) A F1TM.

3. Adjusted as a result of the Capital Reorganisation which 3. RE—/\FB T+ HEMCRATHELR
took effect on 12 February 2018 and the completion of TE-N\F=/A T tHTER MR,
the Rights Issue on 20 March 2018.
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES (Continued)

(i) Share option scheme (Continued)
During the year ended 31 March 2020, no share options

were grcmfed, exercised or cancelled under the Share

Option Scheme.

Particulars of the Share Option Scheme are set out in note

38 to the consolidated financial statements.

(ii) Share award scheme

This scheme, which was adopted by the Company on 6
September 2006, allows the Company to make bonus
payments to eligible persons (including employees, directors,
consultants, advisers and agents of the Group) by way of
the Company’s shares acquired by and held through an
independent trustee until fulfilment of specified conditions
before vesting.

None of the directors of the Company were awarded any of
the Company’s shares under this share award scheme during
the year or as at 31 March 2020.

Particulars of the share award scheme of the Company are
set out in note 39 to the consolidated financial statements.

(iii) Share financing plan
This plan, which was adopted by the Company on 6
September 2006, allows eligible persons (including
emp|oyees, diredors, consuHon’rs, advisers and agents of
the Group) to borrow funds from the Company or from a
company within the Group to acquire new or old shares
of the Company on a non-recourse basis with the subject
shares pledged to the Company as security subject always
to connected fransaction and other relevant provisions under
the Listing Rules.

None of the directors of the Company acquired any of the
Company's shares under this share financing plan during the
year or as at 31 March 2020.

Save as disclosed herein, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements
to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debt securities including
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate, and
none of the diredors, chief executives or their spouse or children
under the age of 18, had any right to subscribe for securities of
the Company, or had exercised any such rights during the year.

BARMDNEER 22 (18)

() FERFESTEI ()
RBEE_F_FSF=A=1+—HIFE, BERRE
ERESTE IR . 1T AT 88,

BRI B R NR e M B IREM 5E38,

(i) BfniZEh5TE
FRER-ZBERNFNANBHENEE B, £
NAIAGERAL (BEAEEZEE. EF. B
. AN RAIEN) UARRE 2R BIFEIUREL
i, ERMTE—RBUSSEABANTE, B
EIETE R BB IR ZEA A Lo

ENRR_B_BF=A=1—H, AELNTE
£ 1R AR D SRS B E A L B

RRE B R ETEIF B RN M B MEMEE
39

(iii) R R EFTE
RNBIRZBERNENASNBFENCHEIRGTEE
BAL (BEAEECEE. EF. BE. E3AK
RIEBAN) BARNBHAEEN—BLBETUEER
EEERBARNTFNERD, MILERMHEIER
FTARRNBEARESR, ARG ETHREI SRS
X5 N ARG SO FRE

FRAIN-BBF=_A=1+—H, BIERARTE
SRBILRNBEFABRBEEARRIRM.

FRANXPIMBEESN, ARBREEAHBARE, REA
EAEESMERET I ERLH, USEARBDEFAE
BAXARBHERHMEBEEB ZROAEREES (2
EEZ) MERN), BEE. TETHRASHRFZER
ReARmT N\ F LR ERERBEALNEES, TERE
RITREERZEFER,
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES

None of the relevant directors of the Company are interested in
any businesses apart from the Group's businesses which compete
or are likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
businesses of the Group during the year or as at 31 March
2020.

DIRECTORS MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS
OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the consolidated financial statements, no
transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and
in which a director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or

at any time during the year.

CONNECTED/CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

(a) Connected Transaction

On 14 and 15 October 2019, the Company and Falloncroft
Investments Limited ("Falloncroft”), a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into sale and purchase
agreements (the “Sale and Purchase Agreements”) with Fine
Intellect Limited ("Fine Intellect”), Ease Link Investments
Limited and All Fame Developments Limited, pursuant to
which Falloncroft has conditionally agreed to sell 50% of
the issued share copifo| of, and shareholder’s loan owned
by, Uni-Dragon Limited (the "Disposal Company”) for a
total consideration of HK$750 million (the “Hotel Disposal”).
Through the various other agreements contemplated
pursuant to the Sale and Purchase Agreements, the parties
have agreed: (i) arrangements for the ongoing conduct

oF, and financial assistance for the benefit of, the Disposo|
Company; (i) that the Company, through its subsidiary, will
lease back the hotel; and (i) Falloncroft will grant an option
to Fine Intellect to purchase an additional interest of up to
30% of the issued share capital of the Disposal Company,
and related shareholder’s loans. Fine Intellect is a wholly
owned subsidiary of ITC Properties Group Limited ("ITC
Properties’, together with its subsidiaries, the "ITC Properties
Group”). ITC Properties is a substantial shareholder of the
Company. Accordingly, Fine Intellect is a connected person
of the Company, and the Hotel Disposal, ongoing financial
assistance to the Disposal Company, the lease, the grant of
the option and the disposal of the option interest, constituted
connected transactions of the Company under Chapter

14A of the Listing Rules. Details of the Hotel Disposal were
set out in the announcement of the Company dated |
November 2019.

EFENBHR R R BE
FRIN_B_BF=A=+—H, BAREEFEHS,
ANBEHRESFNEAEBEEFERUBREMGF R
PIRERERE 2 E BT, SUEHE EAER,

EENEARS. THERGNCERER

RIFEMBREANBEN, AREEEFEALTH
HEMWBLRRANAFERLEBNFRERREIILZ
EBR 5. RGN HEERNBRES ERD.

B HrERRER

(o) BEER S
RIF—NF+ATEBE+RH, AQF
Ko K2 B892 E MY B 2 BlFalloncroft Investments
Limited (I'Falloncroft 1) £iFine Intellect Limited (I Fine
Intellect 1) . RBIREBFRNE (HRE)) mEERE
BIRNBIFIIIEEWH#E, HitFdloncroftB1EHEE
& Uni-Dragon Limited (M & 7251 ) 50% 8817 & A
2PN g EFBI50%, #EUE 750,000,000 7
(MBEEHEEE) ., BEBEEERHET INE
BHEMBE, STHNEHEHE  )VBHERTA
HFETENMREHPBEENNDSEE ; (VAR E A
BEMWENSMEIFCEIE 5 MiFaloncrofti [[)Fine
Intellecti HFEIIE, UBERZIHHENE30%2 5
TR A BRI E 2 N ABRARE ER E R Fine Intellect
BEHMEERESRNE (MBEE), ERHENEB
NERBIEFEER)) N BN B B, B
EARNBNEZRKRE, HIt, Fine Intellect 273
BINVRRE A+, MRE EmRAEUAZE, BEHE
EIE, FEAHENSIRHEMBER. BN, XA
ERENHEERERRBUALNBINEER 7.
BEHEEECHFBEIRERARSHEA TS —NE
+—A—HZz .
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(b) Continuing Connected Transaction (b) ﬁ%ﬁﬁ\ R

On 29 March 2019, Paul Y. Engineering Group Limited

(a subsidiary of the Company) and a subsidiary of ITC
Properties entered into a conditional new business services
agreement, as varied and supplemented by a supplemental
agreement entered into between the same parties dated 24
May 2019 (the "ITCP Business Services Agreement”) for the
period from 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2021 with the annual
cap amounts of HK$1,800 million and HK$1,600 million
for each of the two years ending 31 March 2020 and 2021
respectively. The entering into of the ITCP Business Services
Agreement constituted a continuing connected transaction
of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
Details of these were set out in the circular of the Company

dated 27 May 2019.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group entered

into the following transactions with a subsidiary and

ATE-—NF-—BZF+NH, REREXEEEEGRER
B (RAB—BIEAR) MEEME S —RIE
ATDTiﬁﬂyfﬁﬁ%%H&aﬂum (U EE AR
SE-NFHABZHEHEI L& Tﬁ%ﬁﬁﬂ%i&
A7) (NTCPEHERZE HaE)) , FHEATSE ﬂfﬁ
MA—BE_E-_—®F=A=+— E%ﬂ:,@Z
ECEFN_E—F=-B=t+—HILEMEFE
EZFENEE LREE 5 41,800,000,0005 7T
1,600,000,000E 7T, RB#E EMmRAIE4ASE, 5711
ITCPEFS IR 5 1 il Al A N TZ%‘?%ﬁkx%o B
BN AN HEEA S — N FAB - +1tH
Z 18 Mo

BE_E-NF=ZA=+—HLFERN, AEEH
’Wﬁ?ﬂﬂé%lz IP B N B e B AN BT 12 AT

associates of the ITC Properties Group: 5
Name of party Nature of transactions Amount
RBmFAETE THME =%
HK$'000
TET
Assets Island Limited ("Assets Island ") Construction works charged by the Group 99,560
AEBWREGHNTIIEE
Rosedale Hotel Kowlon Limited ("Rosedale Hotel Kowlon”) Construction works charged by the Group 55
NEEIEAIEARAE (NEEEBS)) REEWIMEHNIIZE
Keen Step Corporation Limited ("Keen Step”) Construction works charged by the Group 3,299
BRERAE (TE32) AEBWMSHNTEE
Empresa De Fomento Industrial E Commercia Construction works charged by the Group 1,560,417
Concordia, S.A. ("Empresa”) KEBWE G TIEE
Best Prosper Investment Limited ("Best Prosper”) Construction works charged by the Group 21,255
AEBWINGHTIEE
1,684,586

Assets Island, Rosedale Hotel Kowloon, Keen Step,
Empresa and Best Prosper are associates, within the
meaning of the Listing Rules, of ITC Properties.

Assets Island. JLERIAEE IS, 725, EmpresalzBest
ProsperZ Bt & 2 BB + (&R L HiRAD .
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CONNECTED/CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) Continuing Connected Transaction (Continued)

The Company's auditor was engaged to report on the
Group's continuing connected transactions in accordance
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 (Revised) "Assurance Engagements Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 "Auditor’s Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. The auditor has issued his unqualified
letter containing his findings and conclusions in respect of
the continuing connected transactions disclosed above in
accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

The auditor of the Company has reported his conclusion on
these procedures to the board of directors of the Company.
The independent non-executive directors of the Company

have reviewed and confirmed that the continuing connected

transactions as set out above have been entered into:

(i) inthe ordinory and usual course of the business of the

Group;
(i) on normal commercial terms or better; and
(iii) according to the relevant agreement governing them on

terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of

the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

75

A&/ FriRRER S ()

(b) Fi&ERER S (1)

RNBIZEBANCIRBRE S GETIMAGBEM 2 E B~
B T E4RIZE30005% (BIE5]) B BB EL
BER LN 2E TE N2 R ERRIEE74057 R
REE _ ETRBIFTRFFHERNER 5 2 B e &
BREAEECIFERER R RBAMORER M
A BUASCE R N ERER BN, ERFERE
AR LN BECERER R BAEERNE

=A
bffo

RRBRBMERZFEFERARLIIESE
BE. ART2EBUIFNTERCER LXHS!
EREBE Z USRI ERZT)

() RAEBBBR—REFDENET ;

(i) RIEEBERGANERIETET; &

(i) WREBRMRZ 2 WRET, HIERARFE
B, FERREREZEEH.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDERS/OTHER PERSONS RECORDED IN
THE REGISTER KEPT UNDER SECTION 336 OF THE
SFO

As at 31 March 2020, so far as is known to the directors and the
chief executives of the Company, the interests and short positions
of the substantial shareholders/other persons in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register of
the Company required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO

were as FO”OWS:

(a) Interests of substantial shareholders in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company

RIRE S M ERAIEI36MRF B B MATEE sk £
ERRHMATBERKE

RTEBECEF-ZA=1+—H, SARAEEREETH
ANBFIH, RIEESNIEHRDBEB6GRFELANT
SRR TBERE S HMATRARE ZRMH R
R 2 RESARINT

(o) FERRNARB RN RERMRN < #2

Total number
of shares and

Long/Short Number of Interest in underlying Approximate

Name of shareholder Capacity position shares held underlying shares shares held percentage
FriFiR{n &

e El) FE/%E FEROHE REEROZER  EERNEESH BBt

Global Allocation Fund Beneficial owner Long position 96,839,084 168,368,300 265,207,384 26.18%
("Global Allocation”) ERHEEAN 5= (Note 1)
E3))

Global Allocation Beneficial owner Short position 81,071,084 - 81,071,084 8.00%
EREEA *E (Note 1)
(RizF)

Evo Fund Agent Long position 81,071,084 - 81,071,084 8.00%
HE 5o} (Note 1)
(RrizE)

Evo Fund Agent Short position 81,071,084 - 81,071,084 8.00%
R wE (Note 1)
(Bri=E1)

Evolution Japan Asset Interest of controlled Long position 81,071,084 - 81,071,084 8.00%
Management Co., Ltd. corporation j55) (Note 1)
(EJA) REEGEE 2 B (FfrzE)

EJA Interest of controlled Short position 81,071,084 - 81,071,084 8.00%
corporation *E (Note 1)
RREH LB B (B &£1)

Tiger Inn Enterprises Limited Inferest of controlled Long position 81,071,084 - 81,071,084 8.00%
(‘Tiger Inn") corporation i (Note 1)
REEGEE 2 B (Ffr=E1)

Tiger Inn Interest of controlled Short position 81,071,084 - 81,071,084 8.00%
corporation HE (Note 1)
REEGEE 2 B (frz)

Evolution Japan Co, Ltd. Interest of controlled Long position 81,071,084 - 81,071,084 8.00%
('EJ)C) corporation He (Note 1)
RREG LB Ba (E3))
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDERS/OTHER PERSONS RECORDED IN
THE REGISTER KEPT UNDER SECTION 336 OF THE

SFO (Continued)

(a) Interests of substantial shareholders in the shares and

underlying shares of the Company (Continued)

Name of shareholder

RERAE

EJC

EJ US, Inc. (EJUS")

EJUS

Evolution Japan Group

Holding Inc. ('E)G’)

EJG

Tiger Holdings Ltd.
(‘Tiger Holdings’)

Tiger Holdings

Evo Capital Management

Asia Limited

("Evo Capital Asia”)

Evo Capital Asia

Evo Strategies LLC
("Evo Strategies’)

Evo Strategies

Capacity

S1in

Interest of controlled
corporation
RREH LB Bam
Interest of controlled
corporation
RREG LB B
Interest of controlled
corporation
REEGEE 2 B
Inferest of controlled
corporation
REEGEE 2 B
Interest of controlled
corporation
RREG LBz B8
Interest of controlled
corporation
KRB LBz B
Interest of controlled
corporation
RREGEE 2 B
Interest of controlled
corporation
RREH LB B8
Interest of controlled
corporation
RREG LB B
Interest of controlled
corporation
REEGEE 2 B
Interest of controlled

corporation

RREGEBZ ER

EFEHRS

RIRE S M ERAIEI36MRF B B MATEE sk £
ER®E HMAT2#ER KR (18)

(o) TERRNAERNE RN RBRRN 2 2 (1)

Long/Short Number of

position shares held

BE/%E FEROHE

Short position 81,071,084
KB

Long position 81,071,084
55}

Short position 81,071,084
KB

Long position 81,071,084
=)

Short position 81,071,084
KB

Long position 81,071,084
55

Short position 81,071,084
KB

Long position 81,071,084
5o}

Short position 81,071,084
KB

Long position 81,071,084
5o}

Short position 81,071,084
KB

/7

Interest in

underlying shares
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Total number
of shares and
underlying
shares held
s R K
TR 4%
81,071,084
(Note 1)
(E=a)
81,071,084
(Note 1)
(k)
81,071,084
(Note )
(Rf=21)
81,071,084
(Note 1)
igal
81,071,084
(Note 1)
(BizE)
81,071,084
(Note )
(Bfz21)
81,071,084
(Note 1)
(Ry=21)
81,071,084
(Note 1)
(Rfz21)
81,071,084
(Note 1)
(E3))
81,071,084
(Note 1)
(Rz21)
81,071,084
(Note 1)
igal

Approximate
percentage

BNEDL

8.00%

8.00%

8.00%

8.00%

8.00%

8.00%

8.00%

8.00%

8.00%

8.00%

8.00%
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EFEHRS

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDERS/OTHER PERSONS RECORDED IN
THE REGISTER KEPT UNDER SECTION 336 OF THE
SFO (Continued)

(a) Interests of substantial shareholders in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company (Continued)

Long/Short
Name of shareholder Capacity position
RRRRE 513 He/ ¥%e
Evolution Capital Interest of controlled Long position
Management, LLC corporation 5=}
("Evolution Capital’) R2EGEEZ #a
Evolution Capital Interest of controlled Short position
corporation KB
RREGEE 2 B
Tiger Trust Inferest of controlled Long position
corporation 5o}
PREGEE 2 Em
Tiger Trust Interest of controlled Short position
corporation KB
NSl pRE
Lerch Michael Interest of controlled Long position
corporation 5o}
RREGEE 2 B
Lerch Michael Inferest of controlled Short position
cor i HRE
poration =]
PR EE 2 R
Advance Tech Limited Beneficial owner Long position
("Advance Tech”) EmBEEA =1
ITC Properties Management Interest of controlled Long position
Group Limited ('ITC corporation 5=
Properties RREH LB B8
Management’)
ITC Properties Interest of controlled Long position
BEME corporation FE
RREGEE 2 B
Chan Kwok Keung, Charles Inferest of controlled Long position
("Dr Chan") corporation 5o}
Bl (TREL) PREGEE R
Ng Yuen Lan, Macy (MsNg")  Interest of controlled Long position
R (Mae L)) corporation Hae
R EE 2 Em

RIRE S M ERAIEI36MRF B B MATEE sk £
ER®E HMAT2#ER KR (18)

(a)

Number of
shares held

Fis Rz 8B

96,839,084

81,071,084

96,839,084

81,071,084

96,839,084

81,071,084

106,110,260

106,110,260

106,110,260

106,110,260

106,110,260

/8

FERRNARB RN RIBREKR M < #E (18)

Interest in

underlying shares

RAERRY 2 #
168,368,300

168,368,300

168,368,300

4,500,000

4,500,000

SOUTH SHORE HOLDINGS LIMITED

Total number
of shares and
underlying
shares held
s R K
TR 4%
265,207,384
(Note 1)
(E=a)
81,071,084
(Note 1)
(iE3))
965,007,384
(Note 1)
(Bri=E)
81,071,084
(Note 1)
(E3))
265,207,384
(Note 1)
(BizE)
81,071,084
(Note 1)
(Brizk)
106,110,260
(Note 2)
(fzE2)
106,110,260
(Note 2)
(Fizk2)

106,110,260
(Note 2)
GE)

110,610,260
(Note 2)
(fz2)

110,610,260
(Note 2)
(frzt2)

Approximate
percentage

BNEDL

26.18%

8.00%

26.18%

8.00%

26.18%

8.00%

10.48%

10.48%

10.48%

10.92%

10.92%
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDERS/OTHER PERSONS RECORDED IN
THE REGISTER KEPT UNDER SECTION 336 OF THE
SFO (Continued)

(a) Interests of substantial shareholders in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company (Continued)

Notes:

1. Global Allocation was wholly owned by Evolution
Capital which was in turn wholly owned by Tiger Trust.
Mr Michael Lerch has 100% interest in Tiger Trust.
Evolution Capital, Tiger Trust and Mr Michael Lerch
were deemed to be interested in the underlying shares of
the Company held by Global Allocation.

Evo Fund was controlled by EJA, EJC, EJG, Evo Capital
Asia, Evolution Capital and Mr Michael Lerch. EJA
was wholly owned by Tiger Inn which was in turn wholly
owned by EJC. EJC was wholly owned by EJUS which
was in turn wholly owned by EJG. EJG was wholly
owned by Tiger Holdings which was in turn wholly
owned by Tiger Trust. Mr Michael Lerch has 100%
interest in Tiger Trust. Evo Capital Asia was wholly
owned by Evo Strategies. Mr Michael Lerch has 100%
interest in Evo Strategies. EJA, Tiger Inn, EJC, EJUS,
EJG, Tiger Holdings, Tiger Trust, Evo Capital Asia, Evo
Strategies and Mr Michael Lerch were deemed to be

interested in the shares of the Company held by Evo
Fund.

2. Advance Tech was a wholly-owned subsidiary of
ITC Properties Management which was in turn a
wholly-owned subsidiary of ITC Properties. Dr Chan and
Ms Ng (the spouse of Dr Chan) have approximately
27.10% and 24.96% interest in issued shares of ITC
Properties respectively. ITC Properties Management,
ITC Properties, Ms Ng and Dr Chan were deemed to
be interested in the shares of the Company held by
Advance Tech.

RIRE S M ERAIEI36MRF B B MATEE sk £
ER®E HMAT2#ER KR (18)

(o) TERRNAERNE RN RBRRN 2 2 (1)

P&t -

Global AllocationFH Evolution Capital 2 E#ES, M
Evolution CapitalfHTiger TrustE B G, Michael
Lerch?c &= fATiger TrustEE100% %45 Evolution
Capital. Tiger TrustNzMichael Lercht 4 4545 A 12
Global AllocationPT# 4~/ B AERI D P HE B 12 #

Evo FundEHEJA. EJC. EJG. Evo Capital Asia.
Evolution Capital 2Michael Lerchsc 44285l .EJA
HTiger Inn2= &4, MTiger Innfl|HE)CE &
B, EJCHEJUS=EHESR, MEJUSRIHEIGE
E¥EE, E)JGHTiger Holdings= E#EH, MTiger
HoldingsEl| A Tiger Trust= E# 5o Michael Lerch
S i Tiger TrustEB100% 2480 Evo Capital Asia
FHEvo Strategies® E#iGo Michael Lerchfz 472
Evo Strategies#E B 100% 845 EJA. Tiger Inn.
EJC. EJUS. EJG. Tiger Holdings. Tiger Trust. Evo
Capital Asia.  Evo Strategies NzMichael Lerch?s 4 4
AR Evo FundPis A R BB 1) R HE A #E 45,

R} AITC Properties Management” & &I & A
&), MITC Properties Management 2 @£ 11 7 & &
BB T, REBEL kAT RIBLZER)
DRI BRI ER B & 1T AR R A K27.10% X%
24.96%12%%c |ITC Properties Management. {E&€EH#0
E. MLt REE LR ERNEERRALE
e 10 RS B4k
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF SUBSTANTIAL RAREE 25 R AR B 5B 583361 F B 2 B ECMPTac e
SHAREHOLDERS/OTHER PERSONS RECORDED IN ERE T HM AL 2 ERR KR (18)
THE REGISTER KEPT UNDER SECTION 336 OF THE
SFO (Continued)
(b) Interests of other persons (b) HMt A TR
Total number of
Interest in shares and
Number of underlying underlying Approximate
Name of person Capacity shares held shares shares held percentage
Ll FriiRin &
HA LB 51 FrsiR R 88 2% R 2% BAELT
(Note1)
(Pr=E1)
Circle Swing Limited Beneficial owner 87,475,800 (L) - 87,475,800 8.64%
ERBEA (Note 2)
E)
Rally Praise Limited Interest of controlled 87,475,800 (L) - 87,475,800 8.64%
corporation (Note 2)
NG E (f5E2)
2ER
Empire City International Limited Inferest of controlled 87,475,800 (L) - 87,475,800 8.64%
corporation (Note 2)
PREHE GE)
2R
Affluent Talent Limited Interest of controlled 87,475,800 (L) - 87,475,800 8.64%
corporation (Note 2)
Rzl GE)
2R
Lau Tom Ko Yuen Interest of controlled 87,475,800 (L) - 87,475,800 8.64%
25R corporation (Note 2)
PR (fE2)
2R
Tiger Partners Trading L. L.C. Beneficial owner 55,584,784 (L) - 55,584,784 5.49%
St PN (Note 3)
GE)
Tiger Partners, L.P [nterest of controlled 55,584,784 (L) - 55,584,784 5.49%
corporation (Note 3)
NEEHEE (fzE3)
2R
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RIRE S M ERAIEI36MRF B B MATEE sk £

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF SUBSTANTIAL

SHAREHOLDERS/OTHER PERSONS RECORDED IN
THE REGISTER KEPT UNDER SECTION 336 OF THE

SFO (Continued)
(b) Interests of other persons (Continued)

Name of person

Hitt AL 578

Tiger Partners GP, L.L.C.

Tiger Management L.L.C

Tiger Management Corporation

U. S. Trust Company of Delaware as Directed
Co-Trustee of the Julian H. Robertson, Jr.
Revocable Trust dated 19 December 2005 as
amended (the “Trust")

U. S. Trust Company of Delaware, £ H £
ATEERE+ "B +71H Z)ulion H.
Robertson, Jr. Revocable Trust (£X1E57)
(MZEF) 2 ZEREETFEA

Julian Hart Robertson ("Ms. Robertson”)

Julian Hart Robertson (Robertson 21 1)

Capacity

&fn

Inferest of controlled
corporation
RZESZE
2R
[nvestment manager
KRB

Interest of controlled
corporation

RREHZE
2R

Interest of controlled
corporation

NESEaE N
b

Inferest of controlled
corporation
NCR e N
ba 1

ERFHMATZEERKE (E)

(b) Htt ALz % ()

Total number of

Interest in shares and

Number of underlying underlying

shares held shares shares held

RRERR A SRR &

EST LS 2 HRRDHEE
(Note 1)
(1)

55,584,784 (L) - 55,584,784

(Note 3)

(FizE3)

55,584,784 (L) - 55,584,784

(Note 3)

GE)

55,584,784 (L) - 55,584,784

(Note 3)

(HizE3)

55,584,784 (L) - 55,584,784

(Note 3)

e

56,008,984 (L) - 56,008,984

(Note 3)

GE)

81
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Approximate
percentage

BREDL

5.49%

5.49%

5.49%

5.49%

553%
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDERS/OTHER PERSONS RECORDED IN
THE REGISTER KEPT UNDER SECTION 336 OF THE
SFO (Continued)

(b) Interests of other persons (Continued)
Notes:

1. (L) denotes a long position.

2. Circle Swing Limited was a wholly owned subsidiary
of Rally Praise Limited which was in turn a wholly
owned subsidiary of Empire City International Limited.
Empire City International Limited was a wholly owned
subsidiary of Affluent Talent Limited which was in turn
wholly owned by Mr Lau Tom Ko Yuen. Mr Lau Tom
Ko Yuen, the former deputy chairman and executive
Director of the Company, is also a director of Affluent
Talent Limited, Empire City International Limited, Rally
Praise Limited and Circle Swing Limited respectively.

3. Tiger Partners Trading L.L.C. was wholly owned by
Tiger Partners, L.P. which was in turn wholly owned by
Tiger Partners GP, L.L.C. Tiger Partners GP, L.L.C. was
wholly owned by the Trust. Ms Robertson has 100%
interest in the Trust. Tiger Partners, L.P., Tiger Partners
GP, L.L.C, the Trust and Ms Robertson were deemed
to be interested in the shares of the Company held by
Tiger Partners Trading L.L.C.

Tiger Management L.L.C. was 98.69%-owned by Tiger
Management Corporation which was in turn wholly
owned by the Trust. Ms Robertson has 100% interest

in the Trust. Tiger Management Corporation, the Trust
and Ms Robertson were deemed to be interested in

the shares of the Company indirectly held by Tiger
Management L.L.C.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, the Company
has not been notified of any interests or short position in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the

register of the Company required to be kept under Section 336
of the SFO.

RIRE S M ERAIEI36MRF B B MATEE sk £
ER®E HMAT2#ER KR (18)

(b) Htt ALz % ()
F 5t

1. (LIBE A,

9. Circle Swing Limited ZRally Praise LimitedBY % &
B 22 5], MRally Praise Limited&l| ZEmpire City
International Limited Y 4= & [ /& /) 5lo  Empire City
International Limited Z5Affluent Talent LimitedY &= &
B B, MAffluent Talent LimitedFH 2 5 R 554
2EHR, AsRTEAARLINFE T ERY
1TEZE, 1) B2 Affluent Talent Limited. Empire
City International Limited. Rally Praise Limited N2Circle
Swing Limited 39 & =,

3. Tiger Partners Trading L.L.C.FiTiger Partners, L.P.%
E¥ERE, MTiger Partners, L.P.8IJHTiger Partners GP,
LLCL2&E¥H. Tiger Partners GP, LL.C.HHEZ(E5T
£ EHHo RobertsonZZ TR 5%EFEH HEA100%1E
#%o Tiger Partners, L.P.. Tiger Partners GP, L.L.C..
5218 5L N2 RobertsonZZ T 1518 2 12 Tiger Partners
Trading L.L.CATRF AL B R 1) RS 4k

Tiger Management L.L.C.;.27 98.69%/£ %5 FH

Tiger Management Corporation# 5, T Tiger
Management Corporationfl] HEZ 55t &S,
Robertson2Z T JA (G st P HE B 100% £ 4. Tiger
Management Corporation. %15 5t MzRobertson2Z 1=
448 A7 Tiger Management L. L.C. TR AL B
e 10 RS B4k

fREXPTiEBEESN, RIB-BF=A=1+—H, B
o M A ERAB336R AN B AT E ZE LM ER,
AREBEENEE EMA T HEE AR Z RN RIER/H
RN 2 IR BK B
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RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES AND OTHER POST
EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Information on the Group's retirement benefit schemes and
other post employment benefit schemes is set out in note 44 to
the consolidated financial statements.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the

Company was entered into or existed during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Bye-laws of the Company provides that directors of the
Company shall be indemnified out of the assets and profits

of the Compony against all actions, costs, chorges, |osses,
damages and expenses which they may incur or sustain in the
execution of their duty in their respective offices, provided that
this indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect of any
illful negligence, illful default, fraud or dishonesty.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’
liabilities insurance during the year and as at the date of this
report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company's Bye-laws, or the laws of Bermuda, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has complied with all code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 of the
Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31 March 2020 and
has adopted most of the recommended best practices stated
therein.

The Corporate Governance Report is set out on pages 23 to 47
of the annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is pub|ic|y available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the directors of the
Company, the Company has maintained a sufficient public float
throughout the year ended 31 March 2020 and up to the date
of this report as required under the Listing Rules.

IRREF 58 R H th BB R AR F 5 &

AEBRRBAGTE M E BB R EN S8 2 ERED
IRAR & M BRI 5440

BEGH
FRBES I FEERANE2MAERERILD X
B EENITHER.

FEASTRER

ARBEZRNEMAEE, ARBAESEHETHRREHR
TRHBNREEBREMSI RARZ 2 —UIFEA. HiA. X
. BE. BEKAS, ERUEARAEEKEN TE
BTHWE, HItBETERANEANERR. WEKXS.
HEF AN BB E R TIEE,

FANRAERSHH, AREAERREEZESE RSN
BEEERR.

BEEERE

RRBE 2 RNEMR S B READ P ERABILEEE
G, MERRNBARFTRILAMREERFIEZRE
.

PEER
(ECETEF-ACH—HIEFE, AKREIEEST L
HREIM R+ PUFrE A 2 E AR 2P E SFRMESS, IR
BN E P AN EFRRER R

CREABRSEEINAFREBEFTL/TE,

EHNAEFRE
REBEAREABZLAREMERAERBESEAM, AR
BARBE_RS_FF=—RB=T—HILFERBEEARS
HA—EMF LHRRIFTE Az RELRIFTRE.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable and other
donations of HK$536,000.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 1 April 2020, a bank issued a demand for the repayment

of aggregate principal and interest of approximately HK$470
mi||ion, and on account of the failure to repay, accelerated its
demand for all additional principal and interest under the facility
agreement, in the amount of approximately HK$2,481 million (in
aggregate amounting to approximately HK$2,951 million as at
31 March 2020). For details, please refer to the announcement
of the Company dated 6 April 2020.

On 1 September 2020, the Hotel Disposal and the transactions
contemplated thereunder have lapsed. For details, please refer to
the announcement of the Company dated 1 September 2020.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audited consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2020 have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee. Information on the work of the Audit Committee
and its composition are set out in the Corporate Governance
Report of the annual report.

AUDITOR
Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu has resigned as the
auditor of the Company with effect from 17 April 2020. The

board of directors of the Company has resolved to appoint

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited as the auditor of the
Company with effect from 17 April 2020. The consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2020 have
been audited by ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited, who will
retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting. A resolution
will be submitted to the annual general meeting to re-appoint

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Peter Lee Coker Jr.

Chairman

Hong Kong, 11 September 2020
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BIAZRENIR S

MM o

ZHONGHUI

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF SOUTH SHORE HOLDINGS
LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements
of South Shore Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the "Group”) set out on
pages 89 to 244, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2020, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting

policies.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. Because of the significance of the
matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section
of our report, we have not been able to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit
opinion on these consolidated financial statements. In all other
respects, in our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

HNEREEERAREBRE
(EEREEMRIIZBRRE)

FRESREH
EEFCDEZEEREFERARLNRE (8R5)) REKM
BRE (RiBEEE ) HIINEOEEFEMIE RS
HmE, QER_E_EF=R=1+—HZHEeUB
MRz, URBEZBILFECRGEER. FEE
BRAMEEHRER. FEEREHRNGERSRE
KURSREHHRENT, SEETETARRAE,

EETY BEEENFOVBRREXRER. ANES
BEN A RXBRESE ) —HTARFEENEEN,
EFTEESENNBEEREBUSRTREHMHR
XNBEREREMHE®RE, RATEEMSTE, EFRAR
GHBHRERCDEBEBLTGAHNIRERTEZSRE,.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Impairment assessment of the cash generating unit ("CGU")
of hotel operation

The CGU of hotel operation of the Group represents the
hotel operation business of the Group in the hotel located

in Macau. The hotel property, right-of-use assets and
property, plant and equipment included in the CGU of
hotel operation with carrying amounts of approximately
HK$3,202,597,000, approximately HK$588,016,000
and approximately HK$156,576,000 as at 31 March
2020 respectively, are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment.
The management of the Group determined the recoverable
amount of the CGU of hotel operation by estimating the
cash flow generated by these assets, which was valued by
an independent professional valuer. The anticipated cash
flow are based on a number of key assumptions, including
average hotel room rate per square feet, occupancy rate,
growth rate and discount rate for the hotel property. These
assumptions and estimation are highly dependent on the
hotel being able to successfully meet the Group's operational

forecasts in the future.

We have been unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence in respect of the assumptions adopted into the
anticipated cash flow on the impairment assessment of the
CGU of hotel operation.

There were no other satisfactory audit procedures that

we could perform to satisfy ourselves (i) whether carrying
amount of the CGU of hotel operations were fairly stated
as at 31 March 2020; (i) provision for impairment losses on
the CGU of hotel operation for the year ended 31 March
2020 were properly recorded; and (iii) the accuracy of the

disclosures in relation to the CGU of hotel operation.

FTREXBRCESE

BEEEEEREEMN (EERESEN) < REFT
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T = B =+ HWREED R ##93,202,597,000
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FTREXBRCEE (@

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (Continued)
2. Material uncertainty related to going concern

We draw attention to note 1 to the consolidated financial
statements which mentions that the Group incurred a
loss of approximately HK$1,018,605,000 for the year
ended 31 March 2020 and as at 31 March 2020 the
Group had net current liabilities and net liabilities of
approximately HK$4,400,918,000 and approximately
HK$1,595,797,000 respectively.

These conditions indicate the existence of a material
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
a going concern basis, the validity of which depends upon
the successful outcome that certain financing plans and
measures as stated in note 1 of the consolidated financial
statements to improve its consolidated financial position,
to provide liquidity and cash flows. The consolidated
financial statements do not include any adjustments that
would result from the failure to fulfill the financing plans

and measures. We consider that the material uncertainty

has been adequately disclosed in the consolidated financial

statements.

However, in view of the extent of the uncertainty relating
to the successful outcome that certain financing plans and
measures to improve its consolidated financial position, to
provide liquidity and cash flows, we disclaim our opinion
in respect of the material uncertainty relating to the going

concern basis.

Any adjustments to the figures as described from points 1 to

2 above might have a significant consequential effect on the

Group's consolidated financial performance and its consolidated

cash flows for the year ended 31 March 2020 and the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2020, and the related disclosures thereof in the consolidated

financial statements.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair

view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinonce, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,

whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as

a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to |iquic|ct’re the Group or to

cease operations, or have no redlistic alternative but to do so.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group's
consolidated financial statements in accordance with Hong
Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the HKICPA and to issue
an auditor’s report. However, because of the matters described
in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we
were not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence

to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these consolidated

financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in

accordance with the Code.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Pang Hon Chung

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number PO5988

Hong Kong, 11 September 2020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
raERR

For the year ended 31 March 2020

[ ECECEF A=+ —HIEEE

2020 2019

NOTES TETEF —ENF

lhEsd HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Revenue WA 6 10,899,289 9,381,863

Cost of construction business BEEHRA (10,558,716) (8,987,047)
Cost of sales and services on hotel, . . -

::)viibeverage and related Eg\i - %E@%Tﬁi%ﬁﬂ&ﬁ & (424,194) (504,521)
Gross Loss Ei8 (83,621) (109,705)
Other income H e 7 13,206 8,627
Administrative and other expenses TBRE MBS (523,763) (587,125)
Finance costs BEES Al A 8 (562,066) (445,105)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMNE QS 2 W 47(a) 153,705 -
Impairment loss on hotel property EIEYEZ RERSE 14 - (3,710,630)
mpamen o onprepad ondlecse iy mmEN M MESE 1 i (750.137)
'mcf:c‘jf::f;:f;‘j” property. Plant e i o 20 59 (8 59 15 ] (034.933)

4 o o R T g 2 2
foiinesiiai T (500 o400
Share of results of associates BEME R TEE 26 (2,560)
Share of results of joint ventures B =hEES (1,523) 2,293
Loss before tax FRr7 AT ES 18 (1,019,324) (5,837,044)
Income tax credit (expense) PRt Eol (FAs2) 9 719 (4,204)
Loss for the year FEER 10 (1,018,605) (5,841,248)
(Loss) profit for the year attributable to:  FE(GFEE (E538) & H -
Owners of the Company KNBIEE A (1,021,702) (5,847,646)
Non-controlling interests JEPERS e 3,097 6,398
(1,018,605) (5,841,248)
Loss per share SRER 13
Basic (HK cents) A GBA) (100.9) (577.3)
Diluted (HK cents) #5E GBI (100.9) (577.3)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

e RHEMEEBRR

For the year ended 31 March 2020
ECECEF_A=T—HLFE

2020 2019
—Eosg —znE
HK$'000 HK$'000
T8 FET
Loss for the year FEEE (1,018,605) (5,841,248)
Other comprehensive expense for the year: FEHME2EMX !
[tems that may be reclassified subsequenﬁy to ﬂfé @ﬁé%%ﬁﬁ%éézéﬁz
profit or loss: BHH
Exchorﬁge cliﬁcere‘nces arising from translation of %%i%%%%%iz (5,000) (4,608)
foreign operations PER =58
Share of translation reserve of an associate and H(h—EBE AR &
AN 5,944 5,490
joint ventures SETrEERFEE ( ) ( )
(10,944) (10,098)
Total comprehensive expense for the year FESEELAELE (1,029,549) (5,851,346)
Total comprehensive (expense) income for the year FERME2E FER)
attributable to: W am 4B 78
Owners of the Company ViN/NEIE7 2N (1,027,367) (5,852,872)
Non-controlling interests JEITRE R (2,182) 1,526
(1,029,549) (5,851,346)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

At 31 March 2020
R-_E-EF=—F=+—H

fRe MR AR

2020 2019
NOTES —TTERF “BAF
st HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FETT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FERFEE
Hotel property BIS Y 14 3,202,597 3,438,569
Property, plant and equipment IENIR e 15 300,097 370,841
Right-of-use assets BHEEE 16 675,002 -
) . - : 46 kb TL 2L
Deposits paid for ocqwsmo.n of W%#@%\/\&Hﬂﬁuﬂﬁ 15 21,642 09 849
property, plant and equipment 25]E
Prepaid land lease payments TR T E RIS 17 - 603,679
Goodwill EES 18 61,646 61,646
Other intangible assets HthmrsE 19 8,062 8,062
Interests in joint ventures SEhERR 21 86,477 94,144
4,355,523 4,606,783

SOUTH SHORE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

At 31 March 2020
AIEIEF-FA=+—H

fRe MR AR

2020 2019
NOTES TEITF =—NF
FEE HK$'000 HK$'000
THET BT
CURRENT ASSETS MENEE
Prepaid land lease payments TE T E RIS 17 - 47,305
Inventories 75 29 22,012 40,629
. j=va] H
Trade and other debfors, depos#s B Jﬂ",}@uy I8, 03 1,022,861 1,037,049
and prepayments Sl ATENTIE
Contract assets EBHEE 24 2,688,865 2,129,237
Amounts due from associates [EU i EYQEE| 25 17,634 18,462
Amounts due from joint ventures e &SR 25 6,830 28,637
. . 4,;\ A)\A/\ £ T
Amounts due from Jf)|-n’r operof|f:>ns/ FEUR %7[’&/ EEB 95 78,026 55,345
other partners of joint operations HAthgpremas
Amount due from a subsidiary of fE — SR —E M B AT
= 26 94 94
a shareholder I8
Other loans receivable HhElwER 27 48,084 56,162
Taxation recoverable EIE s 4,755 1,421
Pledged bank deposits EARIRIRITERR 28 291 16,044
Short term bank deposits FOHRIRTTIERR 28 108,170 94,638
Bank balances and cash TSR R IRS 28 395,357 297,134
4,322,979 3,752,357

SOUTH SHORE HOLDINGS LIMITED

99



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

At 31 March 2020
R-_E-EF=—F=+—H

fRe MR AR

2020 2019
NOTES T —ENEF
PEE HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET
CURRENT LIABILITIES pIEI=NE
Trade and other creditors and B 5k AMENFIA
- . 29 3,352,582 3,156,846
accrued expenses FESTRE
Contract liabilities GHEaR 24 495,374 393,822
Deposits/earnest money received Bl HEE 30 294,000 249,000
Amount due to a joint venture E—RaEhERE 25 60 -
Amounts due to joint operations/ kAl Ak A
other partners RTEEEE, Sa%E 25 77,588 58,436
E B AL TE ' ,
of joint operations HARSHRR
Amount due to a subsidiory of FEN—ZRE—
= 26 8,175 2,244
a shareholder M B A EIRIE
Amount due to a related company FEN—ERE AR RE 31 1,544 2,340
Loan from a subsidiary of —EZRE—
o 32 75,000 75,000
a shareholder b B A BIERR
Loan from a related company —EIRE A EERR 31 93,594 107,350
Taxation payable TE(IIRIE 1,440 2,122
Lease liabilities HEEE 36 27,112 -
Bank and other borrowings A~ 2877 T A {22
- due within one year —FREZ RIT R AAMAER 33 4,297,428 4,119,124
8,723,897 8,096,284
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES nEaERE (4,400,918) (4,343,927)
TOTAL ASSETSLESS CURRENT o mmnmam (45,395) 262,856

LIABILITIES
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

At 31 March 2020
R-_E-EF=—F=+—H

fRe MR AR

2020 2019
NOTES —ECEF BN
st HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES IEREIAE
BG?ZS:;LE;EO\;ZYI”QS — B RER Y SRIT R E AR 33 514,300 17,500
Convertible bonds AIRRES 34 964,903 812,741
Obligation in excess of inferests in - J 9K N\ = Al - ==
eociates HBEBE AR R BT 20 9,002 9,297
Lease liabilities HEaE 36 62,197 -
1,550,402 839,468
NET LIABILITIES B8ERE (1,595,797) (576,612)
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BARKEE
Share capital pe 37 202,591 209,591
Reserves BE (2,022,242) (1,006,047)
Equity attributable to owners of e T St
the Company A NELER (1,819,651) (803,456)
Non-controlling interests JEIERG TS 223,854 296,844
TOTAL DEFICIT 4EES A (1,595,797) (576,612)

The consolidated financial statements on pages 89 to 244 were

HNRSIEERMIRE LI BREEN S _FF

approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on NE+—RHESEESeEREETZE, TATMIEER
11 September 2020 and are signed on its behalf by: REFEEE
Peter Lee Coker Jr. James Chiu
Peter Lee Coker Jr. ik 2=
Chairman (Executive Director) Independent Non-Executive Director
T BITES) BIIERITESE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_E_BF=-A=1+—HLFE

RS EER

Atbutobl o onners f the Company

Comertble ~ Shoresheld Share Shore Non
Share Shore  Contrbuted Spedl bonds fordhore opfion avord  Trondafon Ofer  Accumulted confroling
copil premium supls resene resenie ovardscheme resene resere resene resere bses Sbotol inereds Total
HK$000 HKS 000 HK$000 HKS 000 HK$000 HK$000 HKS000 HK$000 HKS000 HK$000 HKS000 HKS 000 HKS000
(Noteii)
(&)
1o 208 NoF-\EDE-A W S0 LW (S U (8 % 5980 b 150 (7o SMeE WS s
Exchange diferences aring rom
. 264 %4 (487) (4608)
ondaton of ‘ove\gn operafions
Shareofronfion eseve of n asocite ) ;
(5490) (54%0) (54%0)
ondiont vertures
(Loss) poft for the year (04T646)  (5847646) 639 (564,249)
Totol comprehensive (expense] income forthe year 3 (5206) (o8areke)  (38526M) 156 (5851 34¢)
Recogrifion o zqmw-&eﬂed share bosed
payment expense of he share opfion 78 78 785
chemme o the Company (Note 3)
Tronferug b o b v (3505 3505
Troner upon lopseof share apfions (62m) 627
4¢3 March 2009 W S0 LW (S UMM (8 2080 W99 159 PR @) mess (60
Effectof changes i occountng polcy (955) (959) (808) (1763)
At Aorl 2019 restoted) 200591 3068152 1803317 (153761) 1794970 (3,063 20840 245 19,94 (153 (1se834) (80441) 226,03 (578.37)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_E_BF=-A=1+—HLFE

RS EER

Aitrbutable o onnersof the Company

Comvertble ~ Shoresheld Share Share
Shore Soe  Contrbuted Special bonds forhore opfion avord
CUF\'(]‘ premium SUYQ‘JS reserve reserve  awarg Xchemi reserve resenve

HKS000  HKSOOO  HKSOOD  HKS000  HKSOOO  HKSOOO  HK$000

HK$ 000

Trondafon

resenve

HKS000

Other

reserve

HK$ 000

Accumuloted

loses

HKS 000

Nor-

controling

Subfotal inerests
HKS000 HK$000

(Notei) (Notei) (Notei)
i
Exchange difeencesarsing from . | p
m w6 5000
rondaton of ‘cve\gn operafions
Shore of rondation eseve ofonasociote (
594 594 (5944
and Joint ventures
(Loss) poft for the year (om700) (102,709 3007 (1,018,609)
Totol comprehensive expensefor he yeor (5669) om700) (102737 (0080 (1029.549)
Recogriionof eity-setfed hare-based
payment expense of he share opfion (936) (93¢) (93¢)
scheme ofthe Company (Note 38)
Refund of cos held by ruste of hore award scheme 15063 15068 13063
Tronsferupon lopse o shae apfions (19904) 19904
A3 Morch 2020 200591 3068152 1803317 (153761) 1194970 - - 245 14260 (1532 (897015%9) (1819,651) 105854 (1595797)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
roEREER

For the year ended 31 March 2020
 EECEF=A=T—HILFE

Notes:

(i) The special reserve of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the "Group”) includes the

following:

(a) a credit amount of HK$1,000,000 representing
the difference between the cost of acquisition of two
subsidiaries and the nominal amount of their share
capital at the date on which they were acquired by Paul
Y. Management Contracting Group Limited ("Paul
Y. Management Contracting”), a subsidiary of the
Company, before the reverse acquisition as mentioned
in note (b) below; and

—
=

a debit amount of HK$154,767,000 representing

the reserve arising from the reverse acquisition of

Paul Y. Management Contracting and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as "Paul Y. Management
Contracting Group”), net of refund from ex-shareholder
of Paul Y. Management Contracting for the shortfall
in net asset value of Paul Y. Management Contracting
Group upon comp|eﬁon of the acquisition by the
Company from PY| Corporation Limited, the former
ultimate holding company, of the entire equity interest
in, and shareholders’ loan to Paul Y. Management
Contracting Group in January 2005.

(i) As at 31 March 2019, the balances of HK$13,063,000
represents cash held fhrough an independen’r trustee for
purchase of the Company's shares for eligible persons under
the share award scheme and there was no shares of the
Company held by the independent trustee at 31 March
2019. The balance was fully refunded during the year ended
31 March 2020.

(iii) The other reserve of the Group represents the difference
between the redemption amount paid and the carrying
amount of the share of net assets attributable to the
non-controlling interest redeemed by Paul Y. Engineering
Group Limited, a subsidiary of the Company.

o7
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BLUTIER
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(a)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
e RERER

For the year ended 31 March 2020

ECE_SF=R=+—HLEE

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Loss before tax

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of hotel property

Depreciation of property, p|cmf and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments

Loss (gain) on disposal of property, plant and
equipment

Loss upon the cancellation of leases

Loss on disposal of other intangible assets

Weritten-off of deposifs pcxid for property, |o|cm’r and
equipment
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries

Impairment allowance on financial assets and
contract assets

Impairment loss recognised in respect of hotel
property
Impairment loss recognised in respect of prepaid

land lease payments

Impairment loss recognised in respect of property,

plant and equipment

Interest income
Finance costs
Share of results of associates

Share of results of joint ventures

Share-based payment (income) expenses

«<M¥§${

FRIR AR 18

FLNFIEEETREE

BIEIEZITE
WD~ IR R 2 AT ES
EREEETE

A T SR IB

HEYE R REZ
g8 (W)

BUHMEM Z k518
LEHMBLEE BB

Y MR B ENE] &
Z 5

HENBAT Z&F
TREERGNEEL
BB

SRS YRS RERE
FLTRN LA EIEREEE 2
BIEEE

FLDEE ~ I SR R HESR
BIEESE

B W=

RRE AL A

AR UNSIES
BEOELEXS

MUpgtn A ER Z 3 (WA)
a2

2020

T

HK$'000
FHT

(1,019,324)

254,512
93,366

74,576

153

146

2,899
(153,705)

15,288

(9,795)
562,066
(26)

1,523

(936)

2019

—=—hn

HK$'000
TAET

(5,837,044)

307,022

90,817

104,591

(5,077)

30

6,469

3,710,630

752,137

234,933

(8,627)
445,105
2,560

(2,293)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
e RERER

For the year ended 31 March 2020
ECECEF_A=T—HLFE

2020 2019
ECEF “E-NEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHETT
; Sl R s e o

Operating cash flows before movements =* uiri Lﬁii%jjij Z (179,257) (198,6692)

in working capital REXEBIFENE
Decrease in inventories FERLD 18,617 6,369
Decrease in trade and other debtors, deposits and BS REMBWRIE F]$ &

= | 17,634 67,589

prepayments Ta RIE R D
Increase in contract assets BHEERN (564,450) (802,852)
Decrease (increase) in amounts due from associates & Ui it = /A B Z0IE /D (12 71) 828 (5,963)
Decrease (increase) in amounts due from joint ventures & W & & 1 22 20188,/ (38 0) 20,438 (23,510)
Increase in amounts due from joint operations/other ~ FEUN & & 275 /& 2 F H A

. : 2 o T (6,978) (268)

partners of joint operations BRI 0

Decrease in amounts due from subsidiaries of a FEW — = BE SR M B A B =18
e - 17,401
shareholder B
i i 25 REME B RS

Increase in trade and other creditors and accrued 85 &,ﬁ\f)@}ffﬁ B FEST 34,449 1110,907

expenses SRyl
Increase (decrease) in contract liabilities SHRIE/EE M Gl 171,552 (373,9292)

A E RN
Increase (decrease) in amount due to a joint venture ij FE?_FI SRR 60 (592)
120 Caisl)
Increase in amounts due to joint operations/other FENEEER/GE£HHEM
ioi i 4 (N h 3,420 153

partners of joint operations S RIEE
Increase in amount due to a subsidiary of a FEN—2RET —ENBA S 216 57

shareholder FIBIE N
Cash used in operations R =£%rRs (483,471) (2092,753)
Hong Kong profits tax paid BENEBANER (3,906) (3,841)
Hong Kong profits tax refunded BREFEFNER 1,370 1,708
Overseas tax paid EREINMRIE (766) (2,199)
Oversea tax refunded BIREBINGIE - 64
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES AR EXEB 2 IREFEE (486,773) (207,021)

SOUTH SHORE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
e ERER

For the year ended 31 March 2020
 EECEF=A=T—HILFE

2020 2019
=
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET &L
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REXR
Additions to hotel property REBEYE (18,540) (368,909)
Additions to deposits paid for acquisition of REWBYZE BWRRES
) 1,198 (85,623)
property, plant and equipment (SN
Additions to property, plant and equipment REYE B RS (36,942) (81,278)
Advance to joint operations/other partners of joint BEER/AEEBFEME
: = (15,703) -
operations Hlﬂ/
Advance of other loans receivable B EMEIRERRE - (30,000)
Earnest money received Bl ES 45,000 70,000
Procee-ds from disposal of property, plant and HE E%ZJ;% TS AR S 5% 96,457 5,561
equipment Bik=s 0=
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries HEWE AR TEHIE 10,273 -
|nterest received 2 U E 2,682 3,785
Receipt of refund held by trustee of shares under WAV 55 AIRIRRG D 12 B 51 & 13.063
share award scheme DT B 2B ’ )
Release of pledged bank deposits EEEIRIFIRITER 14,721 -
Repayment from joint ventures HEPEEN 1,19 2,328
b A) 15 % IHS
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) INVESTING ®E AR REEH RS 43,328 (484,136)

ACTIVITIES

FEE

SOUTH SHORE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

ma e RENR

For the year ended 31 March 2020
 EECEF=A=T—HILFE

2020 2019
it Sk 3 ot B =
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET
FINANCING ACTIVITIES REEE
Repayment of bank and other borrowings EBBIRTREMED (2,235,796) (2,223,640)
Interest paid B E (218,855) (239,218)
Loan management fee and transaction costs paid ENEMEEBERZZK (20,593) (18,152)
Repayment of lease liabilities BERESE (29,821) -
o phEs TEE N\
Repayment of loan from a subsidiary of a shareholder EE%% BRLEE - (5,000)
EEE
Repayment of loan from a related company —EEATEBEEMN (13,756) (3,8600)
Advances from joint operations/other partners of joint AW A E %f/éﬁ%ﬂz%,ﬁfﬂ
i o N 2 15,732 _
operations BrERIE
New bank and other borrowings raised FEIRIT R EMER 3,061,469 2,216,710
Loan from a related company —BRAEL S EM - 111,150
Loan from a subsidiary of a shareholder —EZRE—ENEATEMN - 5000
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) FINANCING RE (AR MEESHZ
ACTIVITIES REFE °56,380 (156.950)
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND ReEKARESEFEER 114 935 (848,107)
CASH EQUIVALENTS o0 Gl 7388 ' '
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE e
S SR i 240
CHANGES SMESEERBE 2 7 (3,180) (1,562)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT N
S RERS%EIA
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR FNREREREFEER 391,772 1,171,441
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF FRESRAESZEIEE 433,507 31779
THE YEAR
ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF CASH AND
HERERS%EIE
CASH EQUIVALENTS RERAREFERA DM
Short term bank deposits SRERIRITIER 108,170 94,638
Bank balances and cash IRTTEGRAIRS 395,357 927,134
433,527 391,772
101
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr MG IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
RE-B-SE-A-tQIEE

GENERAL AND BASIS OF PREPARATION

South Shore Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is an
exempted company incorporated in Bermuda with limited
liability. Its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the "Hong Kong Stock Exchange”).
The addresses of the registered office and principal place
of business of the Company are disclosed in the Corporate
Information section of the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries, associate, joint ventures
and joint operations are set out in note 46.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars ("HK$"), which is the same as the
functional currency of the Company.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company have given careful consideration
to the future liquidity of the Group in light of the fact

that the Group incurred a net loss of approximately
HK$1,018,605,000 for the year ended 31 March 2020
and as of that date, the Group has a deficit in equity
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$1,819,651,000 and the Group had net liabilities of
approximately HK$1,595,797,000 and net current liabilities
of approximately HK$4,400,918,000.

The directors of the Company have performed an
assessment of the Group's future liquidity and cash flows,
taking into account the following relevant matters:

(i) Likelihood of obtaining waiver for the non-compliance
of certain loan covenants in respect of bank
borrowings
The Group had not complied with certain covenants
in respect of bank borrowings in the amount of
approximately HK$2,842 million (which had original
contractual repayment dates on or before 15 August
2020), as stipulated in the bank loan agreement which
required The 13 Hotel (the "Hotel") to open no later than
31 March 2017 (subsequently extended to 31 July 2017)
and to obtain and maintain all authorisations for the

operation of hotel business.

The Group applied for a further extension of the hotel
opening date to 31 August 2018. The Group obtained
all the licenses for the operation of hotel business in
August 2018 and the Hotel opened on 31 August 2018.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R SRR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
RE-B-SE-A-tQIEE

GENERAL AND BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(i) Likelihood of obtaining waiver for the non-compliance

of certain loan covenants in respect of bank
borrowings (Continued)

In addition, the Group had not complied with certain
financial covenants as stipulated in the bank loan
agreement which required the Group to maintain a
certain amount of consolidated tangible net worth and
certain ratio of its consolidated net bank borrowings

to consolidated tangible net worth. The Group applied
for a waiver from strict compliance to meet with these
financial covenants.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the

bank issued a demand for the repayment of aggregate
principal and interest of approximately HK$470 million,
and on account of the failure to repay, accelerated its
demand for all additional principal and interest under
the facility agreement, in the amount of approximately
HK$2,481 million (in aggregate amounting to
approximately HK$2,951 million as at 31 March 2020).
The Company has applied to the bank for a “standstill”,
seeking assurance from the bank that it will not take
imminent steps either to enforce its security over the
Hotel or to liquidate the Company, mindful of the
severe adverse effect of the COVID-19 pandemic on the
state of the market, in Macau and generally.

As at the date of approval of these consolidated
financial statements, the applications for extension

and waiver in respect of non-compliance with the
covenants as stated in the bank loan agreement and the
application for a “standstill” are still being considered by
the bank. As a result, as at the date of approval of these
consolidated financial statements, such bank borrowings
are repayable on demand.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr MG IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_E_ZF=-A=1+—HLFE

1. GENERAL AND BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

@)

(ii)

Likelihood of obtaining waiver for the non-compliance
of certain loan covenants in respect of bank
borrowings (Continued)

The Group maintains frequent communications with the
bank, which has showed positive support for the Group.
Notwithstanding the lapse of the sale and purchase
agreements (the "Hotel Disposal Agreements”) in
respect of the disposal of a 50% interest in a subsidiary
of the Company that beneficially owns the Hotel on

1 September 2020, the directors of the Company
consider that a sale of the Hotel remains of interest

to the bank, and the Company will continue with its
endeavours to seek prospective buyer(s) for the Hotel
and/or site and execute a sale as soon as possible. The
Company will work with the bank on any remedial
measures and/or to find other prospective buyer(s) for
the Hotel and/or site. Ultimately, the directors of the
Company continue to believe that a sale of the Hoftel,
on terms soﬁsfocfory to the bonk, remains feasible.

Likelihood of a sale of the Hofel

Notwithstanding the lapse of the Hotel Disposal
Agreements, the directors of the Company consider
that a sale of the Hotel remains of interest to the bank,
and the Company will continue with its endeavours to
seek prospective buyer(s) for the Hotel and/or site and
execute a sale as soon as possible. The Company will
work with the bank on any remedial measures and/or to
find other prospective buyer(s) for the Hotel and/or site.
Ultimately, the directors of the Company continue to
believe that a sale of the Ho’re|, on terms soﬂsfodory to

the bonk, remains feasible.

104

—RERRIRREZE (E)

()

(ii)

MAREETERMBITERETERZHEERRE
Z ATRENE (8)

FEBKERFEBITEBMEBT ISR T
FEBEEXF. BEEREEERERBEL
RRNEINBRES0%ELR  EE R (DEELE
&) ER S -FFNA—HEN ARTE
SRS, BTHHEAEDEER, RO
BENRBER,/SMBY)CBTERLERE
THE. ARERRUERABIEEREBTEF,
R/ HRBER/ B EHMBETER &
RBEFRNARE, RRBITAENERLEX
BIE, RERIDERT.

1 B 2 T
FETELEBRESN, KLNVESRS, B
THUSAENERE, ALDSRESNAE
ER/ SBME BEE R Y BRETHE, &
AT ETRREBRBTAM, &/ AAE
ER/ SBME H M REER, ALDEF
SBIE, RRBITRE L ERAE, R
B A 1Te

SOUTH SHORE HOLDINGS LIMITED



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr MG IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_E_ZF=-A=1+—HLFE

1. GENERAL AND BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued) . —RENRRHEE (18)

(iii) Likelihood of the proposed disposal of a principal (i) BZRHE—TEETEMRB LB ZTEEMN

subsidiary

The Group has previously announced the proposed
disposal of a 51.76% interest in Paul Y. Engineering
Group Limited ("PYE") (the "PYE Disposal”), a principal
subsidiary of the Company, for consideration of
HK$300 million and has obtained the shareholders’
approval at a special general meeting held on 8 May
2018. The Group has received deposits of HK$179
million regarding the PYE Disposal up to 31 March
2020. The receipt of the remaining proceeds from the
proposed disposal of HK$121 million is subject to certain
conditions precedent for the completion of transaction.
The directors of the Company consider that outstanding
conditions precedent in relation to the PYE Disposal by
the Company may not be fulfilled prior to the long stop
date of 30 September 2020. Were the conditions to
the PYE Disposal to be satisfied (or waived) prior to a
sale of the Hotel, the directors of the Company would
not complete the PYE Disposal in circumstances where
the prospect of a sale of the Hotel remained on track.
Should a sale of the Hotel (or some like transaction
relevant to the Hotel) as mentioned in points (i) and (i)
above proceed, the directors of the Company would
elect not to proceed with the PYE Disposal unless it
were able to implement other appropriate measures
satisfactory to The Hong Kong Stock Exchange Limited
(the "Stock Exchange”) to preserve the Company's
listing status. As such, PYE would remain a subsidiary
of the Company and the Group would continue to have
access to the cash and financing available in PYE to
finance the Group's operations and to meet its financial
obligations for at least the next twelve months from

the date of approval of these consolidated financial
statements.

Management anticipated that the deposits of HK$179
million will have to be refunded and liquidated
damages of HK$32 million will have to be paid to the
purchasers if the Group is not able to complete the PYE
Disposal in accordance with the sale and purchase
agreements. On the other hand, it is anticipated that
there is positive operating cash flows from PYE and an
unutilised banking facilities of PYE at approximately
HK$649 million as at 31 March 2020 will continue

to be available for use throughout the next twelve
months from the date of approval of these consolidated
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr MG IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_E_ZF=-A=1+—HLFE

1. GENERAL AND BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(iv) Likelihood of successful execution of further financing
plans
The Group continues to seek new sources of funding in
the form of debt and, or equity, including via its placing
agent, Opus Capital Limited, which has a continuing
mandate to procure placees to subscribe for loan notes
with an aggregate principal amount of up to HK$740
million in accordance with the placing agreement
dated on 19 October 2017. Although placees have yet
to subscribe, the longstop contemplated drawdown
date has been extended to 31 December 2021. The
Company further entered into indicative term sheets with
Opus Financial Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries
("Opus Group”) dated 9 September 2020 in relation
to a conditional offer of HK$1,000 million in the
form of debt financing, which is subject to satisfaction
of the lender’s due diligence requirements, due and
valid execution of all loan documents and provision of
documents and information that the lender may require.
Such conditional offer will expire on 31 December 2021,
subsequent to which, any undrawn amount shall be
cancelled.

The directors of the Company consider that, taking

into account the above-mentioned financing plans and
measures, the Group will have sufficient working capital to
finance its operations and to meet its financial obligations
for at least the next twelve months from the date of
approval of these consolidated financial statements.
Accordingly the consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n e B HRRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_BEZF-_B=-+—HILFE

9. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. FERFIINMREBITIZEBMBEREERN ((EBMH%E

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("HKFRSs")

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new and
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (the "HKICPA") that are
relevant to its operations and effective for its accounting
year beginning on 1 April 2019. HKFRSs comprise HKFRS;
Hong Kong Accounting Standards ("HKAS"); and
Interpretations. The adoption of these new and amendments
to HKFRSs did not result in significant changes to the
Group's accounting policies, presentation of the Group's
consolidated financial statements and amounts reported for

the current year and prior years except as stated below.

HKFRS 16 "Leases’

The Group was initially applied HKFRS 16 “Leases” with
effect from 1 April 2019 and has taken transitional provisions
and methods not to restate comparative information for
prior period.

On adoption of HKFRS 16, the Group recognised
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities in relation to leases
which had previously been classified as “operating leases”
under HKAS 17 "Leases”, resulted in changes in the
consolidated amounts reported in the consolidated financia
statements as follows:
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REFE, 2EBERNEBEIINE (55E
STEINE)) FrEM B E AR N —F— N F0
A— Btz st FEER B MIKERT &
BMHBREER, EEYBREENIEEENF
WEER), EBEER (FESFER)) Rzl
P2 FRTE] MISES] B BB RE £ W E SR
FEBCEHHER. AEBRGMBRER 25U
RAEFEIMBEFE2RTEHIRERET), I
PR E BRI

BEEMBRESERN B EE)
FEEE_E-NFHA-AEEXXKAEEYH
REZEBIEHE ), TERMEELEXX RS
7+, UAEY E—HEZ 8BS,

RENE B RS ERIE6atE, AEERLITH

EIRBEEBEHERB7REE  nES KEEE)
ZHERREAREEREERR, SHRGHT

BERAZSR RO TEBEUTES !

At 1 April 2019:

Increase in right-of-use assets

Increase in lease liabilities

Decrease in prepaid land lease payments

Decrease in trade and other debfors, deposifs and
prepayments

Decrease in trade and other creditors and accrued

expenses
Increase in accumulated losses

Decrease in non-controlling interests

HK$'000
FET

RIE—-NFENBE—H:
EREEEERN 752,131
MESEEN (102,079)
AT AR EFER D (650,984)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr MG IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_E_ZF=-A=1+—HLFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("HKFRSs") (Continued)

HKFRS 16 "Leases” (Continued)
The reconciliation of operating lease commitment as at 31
March 2019 to lease liabilities as at 1 April 2019 is set out

. FERFETREFT < EBMBREER ((EBMH

WEZER) (8

BEEPBRESEDN B MEE) (]8)
TE-AF=R=+T—HNKEHERER"F
—NFHUR—HEEaEZHEREIIWT

below:
HK$'000
BT
Operating lease commitment at 31 March 2019 RIEBE—NFEF=HA=+—HZLKERE=E 55,805
Add: o
Extension options reasonably certain to be exercised SERER TITE 2 ETEEER 54,553
Less: T
Recognition exemption - short-term leases WS e—RBEEE (6,476)
Discounting of 7.6% 127 .6%A513 (1,803)
Lease liabilities as at 1 April 2019 RZE—NFHNA—HZHEEE®E 102,079
108

SOUTH SHORE HOLDINGS LIMITED



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr MG IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_E_ZF=-A=1+—HLFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are
not yet effective. The Group has already commenced an
assessment of the impact of these new and amendments to
HKFRSs but is not yet in a position to state whether these
new and amendments to HKFRSs would have a material

impact on its results of operations and financial position.

Amendments to HKFRS 3
Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28 (2011)

Amendment to HKFRS 16

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37
Amendment to HKAS 1

Annual Improvements

2018-2020

1

January 2020
2020
January 2021
January 2022
January 2023

available for adoption

Definition of a Business'

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework*

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform!'

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Covid-19-Related Rent

Concessions?
Insurance Contracts®

Definition of Material'

Property, Plant and Equipment
— Proceeds before Intended
Use*

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract*
Classification of Liabilities as

Current or Non-current®

Amendments to a number of

HKFRSs*

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

No mandatory effective date yet determined but
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n e B HRRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_BEZF-_B=-+—HILFE

9. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. FERFIINMREBITZEBMBEREED (EBMH%E

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected
to be applicable to the Group is described below:

(a) Amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify and provide
additional guidance on the definition of a business.
The amendments c|arify that for an infegrofecl set of
activities and assets to be considered a business, it must
inc|ude, at a minimum, an input and a substantive
process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create output. A business can exist without
including all of the inputs and processes needed to
create outputs. The amendments remove the assessment
of whether market participants are capable of acquiring
the business and continue to produce outputs. Instead,
the focus is on whether acquired inputs and acquired
substantive processes together significantly contribute to
the ability to create outputs. The amendments have also
narrowed the definition of outputs to focus on goods
or services provided to customers, investment income
or other income from ordinory activities. Furfhermore,
the amendments provide guidance to assess whether
an acquired process is substantive and infroduce an
optional fair value concentration test to permit a
simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of
activities and assets is not a business. The Group expects
to adopt the amendments prospectively from 1 April
2020. Since the amendments apply prospectively to
transactions or other events that occur on or after the
date of first application, the Group will not be affected
by these amendments on the date of transition.

(b) Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011)
address an inconsistency between the requirements in
HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and in
HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution
of assets between an investor and its joint venture or
associate. The amendments require a full recognition
of a gain or loss when the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its joint venture or associate
constitutes a business. For a transaction involving
assets that do not constitute a business, a gain or
loss resulting from the transaction is recognised in the
investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated
investor’s interest in that joint venture or associate.

The amendments are to be applied prospectively. The
previous mondo’rory effective date of amendments

to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by
the HKICPA in January 2016 and a new mandatory
effective date will be determined after the completion
of a broader review of accounting for joint ventures and
associates. However, the amendments are available for
adoption now.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n e B HRRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_BEZF-_B=-+—HILFE

9. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. FERFIINMREBITIZEBMBEREERN ((EBMH%E

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective (Continued)

(c) Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 provide a
new definition of material. The new definition states
that information is material if omitting, misstating or
obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements. The amendments clarify that materiality
will depend on the nature or magnitude of information.
A misstatement of information is material if it could
reasonably be expected to influence decisions made
by the primary users. The Group expects to adopt the
amendments prospectively from 1 April 2020. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant

impact on the Group's consolidated financial statements.

Except as described above, the directors of the Company
anticipate that the application of the other new and
amendments to HKFRSs will not have material impact of

consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In
oddiﬁon, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the "Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis. Historical cost is generally based
on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for
goods and services.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 “"Share-based
Payment”, leasing transactions that are within the scope of
HKAS 17, and measurements that have some similarities
to fair value but are not fair vo|ue, such as net realisable
value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value in use in HKAS 36

“Impairment of Assets".

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based

on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are
described as follows:

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity

can access at the measurement dofe;

Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.
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BE_E_ZF=-A=1+—HLFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved
when the Company:

has power over the investee;

is exposed, or has righfs, to variable returns from its

involvement with the investee; and
has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss from
the date the Group gains control until the date when the

Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies

in line with the Group's accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group's equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries

upon liquidation.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair vo|ue, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of
the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised
in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair vo|ue,
except that:

deferred tax assets or |iobi|i’ries, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are
recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS
12 “Income Taxes” and HKAS 19 "Employee Benefits”
respectively;

liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered info to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 at
the acquisition date (see the accounting policy below);
and

assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held
for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 "Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations” are
measured in accordance with that standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer's
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any)

over the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired

and the liabilities assumed as at acquisition date. hc, after
re-assessment, the net amount of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess

is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain
purchase gain.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share
of the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the event of
liquidation are initially measured at the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the recognised

amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at
fair value. The choice of measurement basis is made

on a fransaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of
non-controlling interests are measured at their fair value.

Acquisition of a subsidiary not constituting a business
When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities
that do not constitute a business, the Group identifies and
recognises the individual identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed by allocating the purchase price first to
the assets which are subsequently measured under fair value
model and financial assets and financial liabilities at the
respective fair values, the remaining balance of the purchase
price is then allocated to the other identifiable assets and
licbilities on the basis of their relative fair values at the date
of purchase. Such transaction does not give rise to goodwill

or bargain purchase gain.

Goodwill
Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business

less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group's cash-generating units (or groups

of cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit from
the synergies of the combination, which represent the

lowest level at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes and not larger than an operating

segment.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Goodwill (Continued)

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently when there is indication that the
unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition
in a reporting period, the cash-generating unit (or group of
cash-generating units) to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment before the end of that reporting
period. If the recoverable amount (higher of value in use
and fair value less costs of disposal) is less than its carrying
amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and
then to the other assets of the unit on a pro-rata basis based
on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or group
of cash-generating units). Any impairment loss for goodwill
is recognised directly in profit or loss. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any of
the cash-generating unit within the group of cash-generating
units, the attributable amount of goodwi” is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.
When the Group disposes of an operation within the
cash-generating unit (or a cash-generating unit within a
group of cash-generating units), the amount of goodwill
disposed of is measured on the basis of the relative values
of the operation (or the cash-generating unit) disposed of
and the portion of the cash-generating unit (or the group of
cash-generating units) retained.

The Group's policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of
an associate and a joint venture is described below.

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but is not control or joint control over those
policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to
the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)
The results and assets and liabilities of associates and joint
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. The
financial statements of associates and joint ventures

used for equity accounting purposes are prepared using
uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under

the equity method, an investment in an associate or a joint
venture is initially recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to
recognise the Group's share of the profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of the associate or joint venture.
Changes in net assets of an associate or a joint venture other
than profit or loss and other comprehensive income are not
accounted for unless such changes resulted in changes in
ownership interest held by the Group. When the Group's
share of losses of an associate or a joint venture exceeds
the Group's interest in that associate or joint venture (which
includes any |ong—ferm interests fhof, in subsfonce, form
part of the Group's net investment in the associate or joint
venture), the Group discontinues recognising its share of
further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate or

joint venture.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)
An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted
for using the equity method from the date on which the
investee becomes an associate or a joint venture. On
acquisition of the investment in an associate or a joint
venture, any excess of the cost of the investment over the
Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which
is included within the carrying amount of the investment.
Any excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of

the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the
investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediate|y

in profit or loss in the period in which the investment is
acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence
that the interest in an associate or a joint venture may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the entire
carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is
tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a
single asset by comparing its recoverable amount with its
carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms
part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal
of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with
HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)
When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate or joint control over a joint venture, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in the investee with a
resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. When
the Group retains an interest in the former associate or joint
venture and the retained interest is a financial asset within
the scope of HKFRS 9/HKAS 39, the Group measures

the retained interest at fair value at that date and the fair
value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition. The
difference between the carrying amount of the associate

or joint venture and the fair value of any retained interest
and any proceeds from disposing the relevant interest in the
associate or joint venture is included in the determination of
the gain or loss on disposal of the associate or joint venture.
In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to
that associate or joint venture on the same basis as would
be required if that associate or joint venture had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, ifa
gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive
income by that associate or joint venture would be
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss
from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment)
upon disposal/partial disposal of the relevant associate or

joint venture.

The Group continues to use the equity method when an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes an
investment in an associate. There is no remeasurement to
fair value upon such changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an
associate or a joint venture but the Group continues to use
the equity method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss
the proportion of the gain or loss that had previously been
recognised in other comprehensive income relating to that
reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss would be
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint
venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from

the transactions with the associate or joint venture are
recognised in the Group's consolidated financial statements
only to the extent of interests in the associate or joint venture
that are not related to the Group.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Interests in joint operations

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to

the assets, and ob|igcfions for the |iabi|ifies, re|cfing to the
joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed
sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when
decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group accounts for the assets, |iobi|iﬂes, revenues
and expenses relating to its interest in a joint operation in
accordance with the HKFRSs applicable to the particular
assets, |iobi|iﬁes, revenues and expenses.

When a group entity transacts with a joint operation in
which a group entity is a joint operator (such as a sale

or contribution of assefs), the Group is considered to be
conducting the transaction with the other parties to the
joint operation, and gains and losses resulting from the
transactions are recognised in the Group's consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of other parties’
interests in the joint operation.

When a group entity transacts with a joint operation in
which a group entity is a joint operator (such as a purchase
of assets), the Group does not recognise its share of the
gains and losses until it resells those assets to a third party.

Hotel property/property, plant and equipment

Hotel property and property, plant and equipment are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
items of property, plant and equipment less their residual
values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line
method. The estimated useful |ives, residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Hotel property/property, plant and equipment
(Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item
of property, plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Depreciation of hotel property and property, plant and

equipment is calculated at rates sufficient to write off their

costs less their residual values over the estimated useful lifes

on a straight-line basis. The principal annual rates are as

follows:

Hotel property Over the remaining lease term
of the land and depreciation

commences from the opening of
the hotel on 31 August 2018

Leasehold land and Over the terms of lease

building
Leasehold Over the shorter of the
improvement term of the lease or 3 years

Plant, machinery and  10% - 33.33%
equipment

16.66% - 20%

Furniture, fixtures and 20% - 33.33%

office equipment

Motor vehicles

Statues and artwork  20%

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are
reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the relevant asset, and is

recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr MG IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_E_ZF=-A=1+—HLFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases

The Group as a lessee (for the year ended 31 March 2019
or before)

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as

operating leases.

Operating lease payments, including the cost of acquiring
land held under operating leases, are recognised as

an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are
recognised as an expense in the period in which they are
incurred.

Lease incentives relating to operating leases are considered
as integral part of lease payments, the aggregate benefit of
incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a
straight-line basis.

Definition of a lease (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transition in note 2 above)

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of

time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application, the Group assesses whether a contract
is or contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception or modification date. Such contract will not
be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract

are subsequently changed.

As lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in accordance
with transition in note 2 above)

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability with respect to all lease arrangements
in which it is the lessee at the lease commencement date.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of
the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement
date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If
this rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses its

incremental borrowing rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr MG IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
RE-B-SE-A-tQIEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

As lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in accordance
with transition in note 2 above) (Continued)

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease
liability comprise:

- fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed

payments), less any lease incentive;

- variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or a rate at the
commencement dofe;

- the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under

residual value guarantees;

- the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise the options; and

- payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the lessee exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing
the carrying amounts to reflect interest on the lease liability
(using the effective interest method) and by reducing the
carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.

The Group remeasures the lease liability (and make a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset)

whenever:

- the lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which
case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using a revised discount rate.

- the lease payments change due to changes in an
index or rate or a change in expected payment under
a gucronfeed residue vc|ue, in which cases the lease
liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate (unless the
lease payments change is due to a change in a floating
interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate is

used).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MISHmRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2020

BE-EB-TE-g-+—ALER

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3. TEGEHEEE (@)

Leases (Continued)

As lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in accordance

with transition in note 2 above) (Continued)

- alease contract is modified and the lease modification is
not accounted for as a separate |eose, in which case the
lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised

lease payments using a revised discount rate.

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of
the corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at or
before the commencement day and any initial direct costs.
They are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period
of lease term and useful life of the underlying asset. If a
lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost
of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group expects to
exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset. The
depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease.

The right-of-use assets are presented as a separate line in
the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group applies HKAS 36 to determine whether a
right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for any identified
impairment loss as described in the “impairment on property,
plant and equipment, hotel property and right-of-use
assets’.

Prepaid land lease payments (for the year ended 31
March 2019 or before)

The up-front payments to acquire leasehold interest in land
are accounted for as operating leases and are stated initially
at cost and released over the lease term on a straight-line
basis. The released prepaid land lease payments in respect
of a parcel of land in Macau is capitalised into hotel
property during the construction period and recognised as
expenses subsequent to the completion of the hotel property.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr MG IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_E_ZF=-A=1+—HLFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3. EBREFEER )
Intangible assets BLEE
Intangible assets acquired separately B FIEEE

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are
acquired separately are carried at cost less any subsequent
accumulated impairment losses (see the accounting policy
in respect of impairment on tangible and intangible assets
other than goodwill below).

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of intangible
assets, measured as the difference between the net disposa|
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period when the asset is
derecognised.

Impairment on tangible and intangible assets other than
goodwill (see the accounting policy in respect of goodwill
above)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews

the carrying amounts of its tangible assets to determine
whether there is any indication that these assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated
in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if
any). Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested
for impairment at least annually, and whenever there is an
indication that they may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of tangible and intangible assets
are estimated individually, when it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be idenﬁfied, corporate assets are also
allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis
can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs

of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n e B HRRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2020
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3. TEGEHEEE (@)

Impairment on tangible and intangible assets other than
goodwill (see the accounting policy in respect of goodwill
above) (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit)

is reduced to its recoverable amount. In allocating the
impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in unit. The carrying
amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its
fair value less cost of disposo| (if measurable), its value in use
(if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment
loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset
is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or

a cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on a Firsf—in,
first-out basis. Net realisable value represents the estimated
selling price for inventories less all estimated cost of
completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

Revenue

Revenue from contracts with customers upon application
of HKFRS 15

Under HKFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue when

(or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when
“control” of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n e B HRRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_BEZF-_B=-+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3. TEGEHEEE (@)

Revenue (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers upon application
of HKFRS 15 (Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group's performance;

the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration
in exchange for goods or services that the Group has
transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is
assessed for impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In
contrast, a receivable represents the Group's unconditional
right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is
required before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group
has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr MG IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_E_ZF=-A=1+—HLFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers upon application

of HKFRS 15 (Continued)

()

(b)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation

Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on input
mefhod, which is to recognise revenue on the basis of
the Group's efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of a
performance obligation relative to the total expected
inputs to the satisfaction of that performance obligation,
that best depict the Group's performance in transferring

control of goods or services.

Variable consideration

For contracts that contain variable consideration

in relation to the variation works and claims for
prolongation, the Group estimates the amount of
consideration to which it will be entitled using either

(a) the expected value method or (b) the most likely
amount, depending on which method better predicts
the amount of consideration to which the Group will be
entitled.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is
included in the fransaction price only to the extent that
it is highly probable that such an inclusion will not result
in a significant revenue reversal in the future when the
uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is

subsequently resolved.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group updates
the estimated transaction price (including updating

its assessment of whether an estimate of variable
consideration is constrained) to represent faithfully the
circumstances present at the end of the reporting period
and the changes in circumstances during the reporting
period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr MG IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_E_ZF=-A=1+—HLFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers upon application

of HKFRS 15 (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts
the promised amount of consideration for the effects

of the time value of money if the timing of payments
agreed (either explicitly or implicitly) provides the
customer or the Group with a significant benefit of
financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer. In those circumstances, the contract contains a
significant financing component. A significant financing
component may exist regardless of whether the promise
of financing is explicitly stated in the contract or implied
by the payment terms agreed to by the parties to the
contract.

For contracts where the period between payment and
transfer of the associated goods or services is less than
one year, the Group applies the practical expedient of
not adjusting the transaction price for any significant
financing component.

Costs to fulfil a contract

The Group incurs costs to fulfil a contract in its
construction contracts. The Group first assesses whether
these costs qualify for recognition as an asset in terms of
other relevant standards, failing which it recognises an
asset for these costs only if they meet all of the following

criteria:

(i) the costs relate directly to a contract or to an
anticipated contract that the Group can specifically
identify;

(ii) the costs generate or enhance resources of the
Group that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing
to satisfy) performance obligations in the future; and

(i) the costs are expected to be recovered.

The asset so recognised is subsequently amortised to
profit or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent
with the transfer to the customer of the goods or
services to which the assets relate. The asset is subject to

impairment review.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr MG IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_E_ZF=-A=1+—HLFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers upon application

of HKFRS 15 (Continued)

(e) Performance obligaﬁons for contracts with customers
The Group provides management contracting services
and property development management services to
customers. Revenue from such services are recognised
as a performance obligation satisfied over time using
input method as the Group's performance creates or
enhances an asset that the customer controls as the
Group performs.

The Group's certain construction contracts include
payment schedules which require stage payments over
the construction period once certain specified milestones
are reached. In addition, the Group requires certain
customers to provide upfront deposits or advance
payments for construction works, this will give rise to
contract liabilities at the start of a contract, until the
revenue recognised on the specific contract exceeds the
amount received.

A contract asset, net of contract |iobi|ify related to the
same contract, is recognised over the period in which
the construction services are performed representing the
Group's right to consideration for the services performed
because the rights are conditioned on the Group's future
performance in achieving specified milestones or the
value of construction work has been agreed with the
customers. The contract assets are transferred to trade
debtors when the righfs become uncondi’rioncL which is
typically at the time the Group obtains the certification
of the completed construction works from the customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr MG IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_E_ZF=-A=1+—HLFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers upon application

of HKFRS 15 (Continued)

(e) Performance obligaﬁons for contracts with customers

(Continued)

Hotel room revenue is recognised over the stay of guests.
The Group receives deposit from customers when the
hotel room reservation is made. The deposits received
from the contracts prior to meeting the above criteria for
revenue recognition are recognised as contract liabilities.
The Group allows an average credit period of 30 - 60
days to its tfrade customers.

Other hotel income mainly comprises ancillary service
income which is recognised at a point in time when
control of the services is transferred to customers or
over the service period, depending on the terms of the
contracts.

Retention held by customers, prior to expiration of
defect liability period, are classified as contract assets or
liabilities, which ranges from one to two years from the
date of the practical completion of the construction. The
relevant amount is reclassified to trade debtors when the
defect liability period expires. The defect liability period
serves as an assurance that the construction services
performed comply with agreed upon specifications and
such assurance cannot be purchased separately.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr MG IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_E_ZF=-A=1+—HLFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Construction contracts

Where the outcome of a construction contract can

be estimated re|iab|y, contract revenue and costs are
recognised by reference to the stage of completion of

the contract activity at the end of the reporting period,
measured based on the proportion that the value of works
performed to date relative to the estimated total contract
revenue. Variations in contract works and claims are
included to the extent that the amount can be measured

reliably and its receipts is considered probable.

Where the outcome of a construction contract cannot be
estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised to the

extent of contract costs incurred that it is probable will be
recoverable. Contract costs are recognised as expenses in

the period in which they are incurred.

When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed
total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an

expense immediately.

Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits
less recognised losses exceed progress billings, the surplus is
shown as amounts due from customers for contract works.
For contracts where progress billings exceed contract costs
incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised
|osses, the surp|us is shown as amounts due to customers for
contract works. Amounts received before the related works
are performed are included in the consolidated statement
of financial position, as a liability, as advance receipts from
customers. Amounts billed for works performed but not

yet paid by the customer are included in the consolidated
statement of financial position under trade and other
debtors, deposits and prepayments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n e B HRRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_BEZF-_B=-+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3. TEGEHEEE (@)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time

to get ready for their infended use or sale, are added to

the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is

deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefit and other post-employment benefit
costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit
schemes, the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme and
other post-employment benefit schemes are recognised
as expenses or capitalised in contracts in progress or

hotel property, where appropriate, when employees have
rendered services entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as
and when employees rendered the services. All short-term
employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the
benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave)
after deducting any amount already paid.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from loss before tax because of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr MG IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_E_ZF=-A=1+—HLFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred
tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to

the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities
in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
interests in associates and joint ventures, except where

the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments and interests are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in
the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will
be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
|iobi|ify is settled or the asset is reo|iseo|, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of
its assets and liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n e B HRRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_BEZF-_B=-+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3. TEGEHEEE (@)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends
to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combincﬂon, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business combination.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the

dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting

period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using exchange rates
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and
expenses items are translated at the average exchange
rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during the period, in which case, the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of translation reserve.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr MG IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_E_ZF=-A=1+—HLFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payment transactions

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

Share options granted to directors, employees and advisers
providing similar services as employees

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments

at the date of grant without taking into consideration all
non-market vesting conditions is expensed or capitalised in
hotel under development on a straight-line basis over the
vesting period, with a corresponding increase in equity (share
option reserve).

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises

its estimates of the number of equity instruments that

are expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant
non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision
of the original estimates during the vesting period, if any,
is recognised in profit or loss or capitalised in hotel under
development such that the cumulative expense reflects the
revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to share
option reserve. For share options that vest immediately at
the date of grant, the fair value of the share options granted
is expensed immediately to profit or loss or capitalised in
hotel under development.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to
share premium. When the share options are forfeited after
the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date,
the amount previously recognised in share option reserve will
be transferred to accumulated losses.

Awarded shares granted to employees, consultants and
advisers providing similar services as employees

The fair value of services received determined by reference
to the fair value of awarded shares granted at the date of
grant is expensed or capitalised in hotel under development
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, with a
corresponding increase in equity (share award reserve).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n e B HRRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_BEZF-_B=-+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3. TEGEHEEE (@)

Share-based payment transactions (Continued)
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
(Continued)

Awarded shares granted to employees, consultants and
advisers providing similar services as employees (Continued)
At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of number of awarded shares that are expected
to ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates during the vesting period, if any, is recognised in
profit or loss or capitalised in hotel under development such
that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate,
with a corresponding adjustment to share award reserve.

When awarded shares are vesfed, the amount of the
relevant treasury shares (presented under the shares held
for share award scheme) will be transferred to share award
reserve and accumulated losses. When the awarded shares
are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised
at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in the
shares award reserve will be transferred to accumulated
losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr MG IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_E_ZF=-A=1+—HLFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments
Recognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the

risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest
in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may
have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asseft,
the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and
also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the sum of the consideration received and
receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n e B HRRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_BEZF-_B=-+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3. TEGEHEEE (@)

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis where the purchase or sale of an asset is under a
contract whose terms require delivery of the asset within the
timeframe established by the market concemed, and are
initially recognised at fair value, plus directly attributable
transaction costs except in the case of investments at fair
value through profit or loss. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of investments at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Financial assets of the Group are classified under financia
assets at amortised cost.

Financial assets (inc|uc|ing trade and other debtors) are
classified under this category if they satisfy both of the
following conditions:

- the assets are held within a business model whose
objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows; and

- the contractual terms of the assets give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less loss allowance for expected
credit losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr MG IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_E_ZF=-A=1+—HLFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Loss allowances for expected credit losses

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit
losses on financial assets and contract assets at amortised
cost. Expected credit losses are the weighted average of
credit losses with the respective risks of a default occurring as
the weights.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group measures the
loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal
to the expected credit losses that result from all possible
default events over the expected life of that financial
instrument ("lifetime expected credit losses”) for trade
receivob|es, or if the credit risk on that financial instrument

has increased significantly since initial recognition.

If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk on a
financial instrument (other than trade and other debtors and
contract assets) has not increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for that
financial instrument at an amount equal to the portion of
lifetime expected credit losses that represents the expected
credit losses that result from default events on that financial
instrument that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting period.

The amount of expected credit losses or reversal to adjust
the loss allowance at the end of the reporting period to
the required amount is recognised in profit or loss as an
impairment gain or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents represent cash at bank and on
hond, demand deposifs with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term highly liquid investments which
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. Bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group's cash management are also
included as a component of cash and cash equivalents.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and
an equity instrument under HKFRSs. An equity instrument
is any contfract that evidences a residual interest in the
assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The
accounting policies adopted for specific financial liabilities
and equity instruments are set out below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr MG IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_E_ZF=-A=1+—HLFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Convertible bonds

Convertible bonds which entitle the holder to convert the
bonds into a fixed number of equity instruments at a fixed
conversion price are regarded as compound instruments
consist of a liability and an equity component. At the

date of issue, the fair value of the liability component is
estimated using the prevailing market interest rate for
similar non-convertible debt. The fair value of any derivative
features embedded in the compound instruments is included
in the liability component. The difference between the
proceeds of issue of the convertible bonds and the fair
values assigned to the liability component, representing the
embedded option for the holder to convert the bonds into
equity of the Group, is included in equity as capital reserve.
The liability component is carried as a liability at amortised
cost using the effective interest method until extinguished on
conversion or redemption. The derivative components are
measured at fair value with gains and losses recognised in

profit or loss.

If the identifiable consideration received by the Group
appears to be less than the fair value of the convertible
bonds issued, the Group measures the unidentifiable services
received (to be received) as the difference between the

fair value of the convertible bonds issued and that of the
identifiable consideration received, and the difference is

recognised in profit or loss.

Transaction costs are apportioned between the liability and
equity components of the convertible bonds based on their
relative carrying amounts at the date of issue. The portion
relating to the equity component is charged directly to

equity.

Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method unless the effect of discounting
would be immoferio|, in which case ’rhey are stated at cost.
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BE-EB-TE-g-+—ALER

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3. TEGEHEEE (@)

Segment reporting

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements are identified from the
consolidated financial information provided regularly to the
Group's most senior executive management for the purpose
of allocating resources and assessing the performance of the
Group's various lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar in respect of the nature of products and services,

the nature of productions processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the producfs

or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not individually
material may be aggregated if they share a majority of
these criteria.

Related parties
A Related party is a person or entity that is related to the
Group.

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(ii)) is @ member of the key management personnel of
the Company or of a parent of the Company.

(b) An entity is related to the Group (reporting entity) if any
of the following conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Company are members of
the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

DERE
MENBRIAFREZ R ENDBRE FBIEAFR
EREESMTHRAEEASERRBEZGREHBHE
FIss), BRMBERRUNEERTAEES
BEBNHEBREHRR.

BRI EAAEE D EBRIE B RO R R, A E
mMRBIEE. TEREFIEE. ERREER
NIRERBEHRBIIR T ERRERENEE, &
E'JHAEX?QEDE%EB%WT’EE\T#%%O BB BERZE
DEINTTERED R, BIEHER.

RAER
FEL~MEAEEEMECALTHNELRS,

(o) fH— %}\:H%GTZJ"ME{W“#, RIZA LA

THNOREAERERE

() HAEBEEGIRIILFIZRGE ;

(i) HAEBEERTE , %

(i) HARBHXARTHRENEEEEANE,
()Th BERESE TNIEAGRT, BIEERERE
B hEEER) BRE !

() ZEREANTBR—SEENMENT B
. WBRRNERNELREERE) .

(i) —EERAS—BERVNHELTINGER

(Y%%%lﬁiféﬁ?ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ?&A*ﬁﬁ
8, MZB—ERITAILEBENRELNT)

(i) MBI ERYAR—E=FNEE NG,
BERAS-HERBNAENS, MB—

BERDEE=ZFEBHNMELE,

(iv)

SOUTH SHORE HOLDINGS LIMITED



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2020

BE-EB-TE-g-+—ALER

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3. TEGEHEEE (@)

Related parties (Continued)
(b) (Continued)

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group. If the Group is itself such
a plan, the sponsoring employers are also related to
the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

(viii)The entity, or any member of a group of which it is
a part, provides key management personnel services
to the Company or to a parent of the Company.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that
ob|igaﬂon, and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate

of the consideration required to settle the present obligation
at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle
the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present
value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value
of money is material).

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group's position at the end of the
reporting period or those that indicate the going concern
assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and are
reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Events
after the reporting period that are not adjusting events

are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements when material.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr MG IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_E_ZF=-A=1+—HLFE

4.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed

on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period, that may have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year:

(a) Construction contracts
The Group recognises contract revenue and profit of a
construction contract according to the management’s
estimation of the total outcome of the project as well
as the progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation measured based on input
method. Notwithstanding that management reviews
and revises the estimates of both contract revenue
and costs for the construction contract as the contract
progresses, the actual outcome of the contract in terms
of its total revenue and costs may be higher or lower
than the estimates and this will offect the revenue and
profit recognised.
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fr MG IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
RE-B-SE-A-tQIEE

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

(b) Property, plant and equipment, hotel property and

4. FEEEMFT 2 EE2RIR ()

(b) M. MMM RMRE. BEMERERREE T

right-of-use assets/prepaid land lease payments

The Group assesses regularly whether property, plant
and equipment, hotel property and right-of-use assets/
prepaid land lease payments have any indication of
impairment in accordance with its accounting policy.
The Group determines the recoverable amounts of the
property, plant and equipment, hotel property and
right-of-use assets/prepaid land lease payments based
on the estimation of the economic benefits generated
from these assets. The situation will be closely monitored
by the Group, and adjustments for impairment will be
made in which there is an indication of such adjustments
are appropriate.

In particular, the hotel property of the Group is located
in Macau, as an ultra-luxurious hotel that is sfy|ed like
a French palace and has a total of 196 suites/villas
ranging from around 2,000 and 10,000 square feet,
with 24-hour butler service. The hotel's business model
is not directly comparable to other hotels in Macau,
and as such the valuation of the Hotel for the purposes
of assessing impairment is highly dependent upon
management’s estimation of the inputs to the valuation
model. These estimations are in turn highly dependent
on whether the Hotel is able to successfully meet the
Group's operational forecasts upon further marketing
and promotion work to be carried out and the successful
launching of the other hotel facilities in future.

As at 31 March 2020, the carrying amounts of
property, plant and equipment, hotel property and
right-of-use assets (2019: prepaid land lease payments)
are HK$300,097,000 (2019: HK$370,841,000)
(net of accumulated impairment and depreciation

of HK$594,892,000 (2019: net of accumulated
impairment and depreciation of HK$610,797,000)),
HK$3,202,597,000 (2019: HK$3,438,569,000)

(net of accumulated impairment and depreciation of
HK$5,475,164,000 (2019: HK$5,220,652,000)) and
HK$675,002,000 (2019: HK$650,984,000) (net of
accumulated impairment of HK$752,137,000 (2019:
HK$752,137,000)) respectively.
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BE_BE_EF=-"A=+—HIFE
4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 4. TREEMFTzEERR ()
(Continued)
(c) Goodwill (c) BE
Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires ErmEZ2RtHRAEREHEESEBECE

an estimation of the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating units to which goodwill has been
allocated. The value in use calculation requires the
Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to
arise from the cash-generating units and a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value.
Where the actual future cash flows are less than
expected, a material impairment loss may arise. As at
31 March 2020, the carrying amount of goodwill is
approximately HK$61,646,000 (2019: approximately
HK$61,646,000). Details of the recoverable amount
calculation are disclosed in note 18.

FIRSE M2 WEESBIELHEE. STEERE
EEEAEEGABAHEELERSEUES Y

KRB RENEGBWREXLGIEIRE, B8
BORRIRSRERTEIAY, PIERIBEARERS
B, RIEEF=-F=+—0H, BEEEEN
#561,646,00078 7T (5 — L4 | 49461,646,000
BIt) . BRI WEISEFTE ZFIERHEHsH

W

(d) Impairment for trade debtors, retention held by (d) BZEKRTIE, ERFEREEMREWEENR
customers and contract assets =l
Trade debtors and contract assets are assessed for ECL AEBEERNBFEEBBEKR, WUESIENASE

collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate
groupings on the historical credit loss experience
adjusted by forward-looking information that is
reasonable and supportable available without undue
cost or effort.

As at 31 March 2020, the carrying amounts of trade

debtors and contract assets are HK$475,551,000 (2019:

HK$540,594,000) and HK$2,688,865,000 (2019:
HK$2,129,237,000) respectively.

The allowance for ECL is sensitive to changes in
estimates. The information about the ECL and the
Group's trade debtors and contract assets are disclosed
in notes 23 and 24 respectively.
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HE_E_

TFEZRB=+—HLFE

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

(e) Outbreak of coronavirus disease ("COVID-19")

(f)

The existence of novel COVID-19 was confirmed in
early 2020 and has spread across mainland China and
beyond, causing disruptions to businesses and economic
activity. As the situation is fluid and rapidly evolving,
the management’s estimation provides a quantitative
estimate of the potential impact of this outbreak on

the Group. The impact of this outbreak will be affect
the Group's ECL and fair value measurement as at 31

March 2020.

Deferred tax asset

As at 31 March 2020, a deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of unused tax losses amounted

to HK$44,674,000 (2019: HK$51,257,000) in

the Group's consolidated statement of financial
position. No deferred tax asset has been recognised

in relation to the remaining unused tax losses of
HK$1,639,230,000 (2019: HK$1,254,376,000) in
the consolidated statement of financial position due to
the unpredictability of future profit streams (see note
35). The redlisability of the deferred tax asset mainly
depends on whether sufficient future profits or taxable
temporary differences will be available in the future. In
cases where the actual future taxable profits generated
are less or more than expected, or change in facts

and circumstances which result in revision of future
taxable profifs estimation, a material reversal or further
recognition of deferred tax asset may arise, which would
be recognised in profit or loss for the period in which
such a reversal or further recognition takes place.

(g) Share-based payment expenses

The recognition of share-based payment expenses
requires the estimation of the number of options and
awards that will ultimately vest at the end of each
reporting period. The impact of the revision of the

estimates during the vesting period is recognised in profit

or loss whenever a revision arises.
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HE_S_BFE=A=t—QLFE
5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 5. MBREBE
The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: KEHE .E/é@]ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ RO TSR SV R

EERR. AIET R NHER R, I%!E’]%
BRREIES S ETRS/RMBN T EAMN,
ETEEHAEEMGERBBTIFEZE,

foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest
rate risk. The Group's overall risk management programme
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and
seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's
financial performance.

(o) V¥R B

(a) Foreign currency risk

Certain transactions and monetary assets and liabilities
of the Group are denominated in Macau Pataca
("MOP"), Renminbi ('RMB") and United States dollars
("USD") which is different from the functional currency
of the Group entities, i.e. HK$, which expose the Group
to currency risk. The Group currently does not use any
derivative contracts to hedge against its exposure to
currency risk. The management manages its foreign
currency risk by monitoring the movement of the foreign
currency rate and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

The Group is mainly exposed to the fluctuation of the
RMB against HK$ as USD and MOP is pegged to
HK$.

At 31 March 2020, if RMB had strengthened/
weakened by 5% against HK$ with all other variables
held constant, the Group post-tax loss for the year
would have been HK$36,000 (2019: HK$40,000)
lower/higher, arising mainly as a result of the foreign
exchange differences on trade and other debtors and
bank balances and cash denominated in RMB.
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RE-B-SE-A-tQIEE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 5. MEEKRERE (8
(b) Credit risk (b) EERK

At the end of the reporting period, the Group's
maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a
financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge
an obligation by the counterparties is arising from the
carrying amount of the respective recognised financial
assets as stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk of trade clebfors,
contract assets and trade balances due from

joint ventures, joint operations/other partners of

joint operations and subsidiaries of a shareholder,
management has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and
other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In oddiﬁon,
the Group performs impairment assessment under ECL
model upon application of HKFRS 9 on these balances
collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate
groupings. In this regard, the directors of the Company
consider that the Group's credit risk is significantly
reduced.

The credit risk of other and non-trade balances due
from associates, joint ventures, joint operations/other
partners of joint operations and subsidiaries of a
shareholder are managed through an internal process.
The Group actively monitors the outstanding amount
owed by each related party and identifies any credit
risks in a timely manner in order to reduce the risk of a
credit related loss. Further, the Group closely monitors
the financial performance of these parties which mainly
engage in the construction service in Hong Kong and
Macau and hospitality service in Macau. In addition,
the Group performs impairment assessment under ECL

model upon application of HKFRS 9 on the outstanding

balances individually. In this regard, the directors of the
Company consider the Group's credit risk is significantly
reduced.
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BE-EB-TE-g-+—ALER

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 5.
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

B ERERE (8)
(b) FEER (1)

The Group has a policy for assessing the impairment
on other loans receivable on an individual basis. The
assessment includes evaluation of collectability of the
loans receivable based on management’s judgment on
creditworthiness, collateral and past collection history
of each borrower and forward looking information. In
addition, the Group performs impairment assessment
under ECL model upon application of HKFRS 9 on
individual loan. In this regcrd, the directors of the
Company consider the Group's credit risk is significantly
reduced.

The credit risk of pledged bank deposits, short term
bank deposits and bank balances is limited because
these counterparties are banks with high credit-rating
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12-month ECL ("12m ECL"), unless
when there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should
be recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.

Due to the fact that there are only a few major property
developers in Hong Kong, the Group has significant
concentration of credit risk in a few customers. In view of
their credit standings, good payment record in the past
and long term relationships with the Group, the directors
of the Company consider that the Group's credit risk

is not material. At the end of the reporting period, the
outstanding balances from the five largest customers,
which have been included in the trade debfors,
amounted to HK$167,982,000 (2019: included in

the trade debtors, amounted to HK$212,954,000)

in aggregate, of which the single largest customer
represents 15% (2019: 20%) of the total trade debtors
and trade balances of amounts due from joint ventures
at the end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr MG IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020

HE_E_

TFEZRB=+—HLFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

5.

MHRARE

2 (%)

(b) FEER (&)

In addition, the Group's other loans receivable as

at 31 March 2020 with gross carrying amount of
HK$63,855,000 (2019: HK$63,855,000) (see note 27
for details) expose the Group to concentration of credit
risk. The directors of the Company continue to monitor
and assess the financial status of the counterparties.

Other than the above, the Group has no other
significant concentration of credit risk, with exposure
spread over a number of counter parties.

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment
comprises the following categories:

o, RS- EF=—H=+—H, £&EEE

M FEW & 302 BR R (8 #463,855,0008 71 (=

— L4 | 63,855,000/ 7T) GFIE RMIZE27) , A
EEATEEETRR. ANBEEHEEEN
LA 5 4 = 2 B AR o

fR EXPAmEES,, AEBZRRDBNZERS

:r;::;d credit Description
WEBEEFHR B
L ick The counterparty has a low risk of default
ow s and does not have any past-due amounts
. %ﬁim ENEREERRBER
Watch list Debtor usually settles past-due amounts
arens after due date
- BEBNBRERIBERGER
ERE AR
There have been significant increases in
credit risk since initial recognition through
Doubtful information developed internally or
external resources
a5 BN ANEBE L BRI NINLEIR,
SE R B B RS LORERZ 18
L There is evidence indicating the asset is
08 credit-impaired
B EEBENEELREERE
There is evidence indicating that the debtor
Write-off is in severe financial difficulty and the
Group has no redlistic prospect of recovery
T BEBENEBARBAREME

BARSEEITEBRAIWEIR R

151

HF, WIEAMEAEESET AR,
AEBENAEEE R R AIFHE2IE N8R
Trade debtors/ Other financial assets/
contract assets other items
B ERHRIE, Hitem&E
BENEE HtIgsg
:;:C:’;i::weed;ECL (not credit 19m ECL
A H| H=EES =] — e
b 0@ A EEEBE
Lifetime ECL (not credit 19m ECL

impaired)

2HFEREESE
CREEEREB)

Lifetime ECL (not credit
impaired)

£fiFEREESE
CRERFEERE

Lifetime ECL (credit impaired)

2HEREESE
(BEEERE)

Amount is written off

565 RARUE
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1218 A FRHRE E B 18

Lifetime ECL (not credit
impaired)

LIFEREERE
CREREERE)

Lifetime ECL (credit impaired)

2EIFEHREERE
(BEERE)

Amount is written off

I8 B REE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr MG IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_E_ZF=-A=1+—HLFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the

Group's financial assets and contract assets, which are

subject to ECL assessment:

Notes

By 5E

Financial assets at amortised cost

RMERANERMEE

Trade debtors 23

E S EWE

Other debtors 23
HAut gl shIa

Amounts due from associates 25

FEMEE N B FUR

Amounts due from joint ventures 25

Bl sehxNIA

Internal
credit rating

R
EE TR

Low risk

& E B
Watch list
HRZE

Loss

BiE

Low risk
R B
Watch list
By
Low risk

ERR

Low risk

R

Low risk

B

5. MBERERE (8
(b) FEER (1)

TRFRAERAETRPEEHENEHNER
EENGREENEERRMO :

12m or lifetime ECL

12188 X2 HATEH
EEEA

Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired)

(nofe (|))
SHAFEAEEBIE (YBEE
BE) (EEEG)

Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired)

(note (i)

THITEAEEBIE (REEE
wE) (BTEEG)

Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired)
(note (i))

SHEHEESE (BEER
B) (MI5E0)

12m ECL (note (ii))
1218 B 7B HAE E &8 (M 5EG)
12m ECL (note (ii))
1218 B 7B HAE EE5E (M 5EG)

12m ECL (note (ii))
1218 B 7B HAE & #5148 (FIEE()

Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired)

(note (i)
SHEAGEEBIE(REEE
wE) (BEEG)

12m ECL (note (ii))

1218 B 7B HAE E&518 (FIEEG)
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Gross carrying amount

PREE
2020 2019
“ECEE ZE-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT  TET
426,536 491,154
58,626 59,122
2,209 3,833
268,140 261,172
10,564 1180
17,634 18,462

- 23,841

6,830 4,796



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr MG IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_E_ZF=-A=1+—HLFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 5. MBRARERE (8)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) EER (&)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the TR ALEEBETTRIEEFETENER
Group's financial assets and contract assets, which are BENEHEENEERMRMNO :

subject to ECL assessment:

Gross carrying amount

FREHRE
Notes In’rilr:ncl . 12m or lifetime ECL 2020 2019
credit rating
o R 121815 3 2 HI T B e
W edme  Ea6E —R_RF —®&
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Amounts due from joint o o .
operations/other partners of joint 25 Low risk anehme ECL (nof credit-impaired) - 609
. (note (i)
operations
B ESEER SEER ERB SHFERESEHE (REEE
H B IR =R BE) (FEEG)
Watch list Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 337 160

(note (i))
o SHENELSEE BEEE
BR2E  SEV0a0

Low risk 12m ECL (note (ii)) 77,689 54,576
B2 b 1218 B FEEAE E B8 (FEEG)
Amounts due from subsidiaries of ) Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired)
a shareholder 26 Watch list (note (i)) o4 o4
o e E NS #RE7 < 29 cHEREEBIE (BEE
[EU —2A B EE [T [ N BI RIS By s S RCGETD)
Other loans receivable 27 Low risk 12m ECL (note (ii)) 33,855 33,855
HifEWER 1B /2 B 1218 B FBHRE & #5148 (FIEE()
Watch list 12m ECL (note (ii)) 30,000 30,000

BRELE 1EREIREERE (W)

Pledged bank deposits 28 Low risk 12m ECL (note (ii)) 291 16,044
BEIERIRITERR &R 121B B 7B HAE & &8 (M5EG)

Short term bank deposits 28 Low risk 12m ECL (note (ii)) 108,170 94,638
FRHERRIT A EE b 1218 B 7B HAE E &8 (M5E)

Bank balances 28 Low risk 12m ECL (note (ii)) 325,357 294,852
RITHEER R b 1218 B 7R HAE E #5148 (F5E()

Other item

HiEg

Contract assets 24 Low risk E_niiefzrg)e) ECL (not credit-impaired) 2,694,239 2,129,792
JU— wmm  SUEBMEEGERAES

EE) (&)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr MG IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020

HE_E_

TFEZRB=+—HLFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)
Notes:

0]

The Group determines the expected credit loss on
lifetime ECL for trade debtors, contract assets,

and trade balances due from joint ventures, joint
operations/other partners of joint operations and
subsidiaries of a shareholder using a provision matrix
with appropriate groupings based on historical
credit loss experience adjusted by forward-looking
estimates. The loss allowances are measured at an
average loss rate of less than 0.1% for trade debtors
and contract assets with low risk and at an average
loss rate of 16% (2019: 16%) for trade debtors

under watch list while the loss allowances for trade
balances due from joint ventures, joint operations/
other partners of joint operations and subsidiaries of
a shareholder are insignificant.

For the purposes of internal credit risk management,
the Group uses the financial information of
associates, joint ventures, joint operations/other
partners of joint operations to assess whether
credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition. The shareholders of associates, joint
ventures and joint operations/other partners of
joint operations are considered by management
to have sound financial position, and thus the loss
allowances for associates, joint ventures and joint
operations/other partners of joint operations are
expected to be very minimal and close to zero.

The Group has also used the historical past-due
experience and forward-looking information to
assess whether credit risk of other loans receivable
and other debtors has increased significantly since
initial recognition. The loss allowances for these
balances are measured at expected loss rates
ranging from 0% to 30% (2019: 0% to 20%) based
on12m ECL.

For pledged bank deposits, short term bank
deposits and bank balances, as these counterparties
are banks with high credit rating assigned by
international credit-rating agencies, the loss
allowance is expected to be very minimal and close
to zero.
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5.

B

MREE (1)

(b) FEER (1)
Ff&E

0]

I%Iﬁﬁkzﬂ%“ﬁZ%T&ﬁ@,%

%FW&E GRBENMBREGERE.
BER/ OEEFHEMBH R —LREN

REIEZEGREEHRIIEEBE L
%%Ef%% TR E TS BB IREERT
DHTBEMEEEHERE. SNERREZE
W aEE, BEEFERTIHOBIEXR
DR01%TE ; HNBRRDE ZEZEUG
H, BEBRRTHBERe (CF—NF!

mmﬁ%'%#TWA“ﬁi\mg%ﬁ/
EEBHEMBHAR—LRENBLEZE
M%Z§E@W17%ﬁo
AALEERREEMS, ~EEFBHME
NE GELRE oEEB/ GEXEHAEM

BHHBENRFLEERR Emiﬁm
u%% SREE R, BEEERAMELNT

EhENGES ﬁ/A“ifﬁﬁ%ﬁz
&%mﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ,WTW%ﬁ@ a
SEENGEER A“%%EM%#Z&
R IFE ZiEer e B IEA RRA S DT B
BT,

AEERE M ABERACE L EEER
REMEEMEKER N EMERGIECZEE
AR BT HERLRRTEEE, ZEE
R B IBRRIL R IRE B TR E EFEN
F0%ZE30% (—FE—4F | 0%220%) 2 TBHA
E5IERETRI &,

EREEMRTENR. RHIRTENIRIET
TR, HREZFXZH T HHERBFETR
BT sEaRRIT, BEAREERNIE
BN BT,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R SRR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
RE-B-SE-A-tQIEE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 5. MBERERE (8
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) EER (i8)
The following table shows the reconciliation of TEREYERE
impairment allowances that have been recognised for e

financial assets and contract assets.

RMEENSKEERESERRER

Lifelinje. ECL.(not Li.fe.’rime FCL o ECLother  19m ECL other Lifefinje. ECL.(not
credit-impaired)  (credit-impaired) ) credit-impaired) Total
debfors  loans receivable
trade debtors  trade debtors contract assets
A £
BAERIE BAEK S S aHEEL
LENESE  FEeH 2HRH A
st e HEZER EF2ER - aft
emefe mesEER Dooit) TRORR  gans
EERE) (EEHE) T R (REEERE)
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$000
TR TER R B B TEn
RIE-NE=B=+-0-
As ot 31 March 2018 - HKFRS 9 EAY R 0 9,693 3,833 5 1,608 505 15,644
Tronslation adjustments ERHE 8) (3) m
(Reversed) provided during the year %73 (3[2]) 45 (3) 334 6,085 53 6,469
Asat 3 Morch 2019 and 1 Aprl ~ AZE—fE=F=+—0)

200 R=B_EME—F 9,682 3,833 339 7,693 555 29,102
Tronslation adjustments EQAR 0 (10) 03) (20)
(Reversed) provided during the year %7 (B0 2k (94) 2,412 8,078 4899 15,288
Written off during the year ERE - (1624) (1,604)
As at 31 March 2020 REE-EE-B-+-F 9,65 9,209 9,74 1577] 5,374 35,746
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr MG IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_E_ZF=-A=1+—HLFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(c) Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by management to
finance its operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows. The management monitors
the utilisation of bank and other borrowings and ensures
compliance with loan covenants.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group's current liabilities
exceeded its current assets by HK$4,400,918,000
(2019: HK$4,343,927,000), which causes the Group
in significant liquidity risk. Subsequent to the end of
reporting period, the Group has taken appropriate
measures as set out in note 1 to mitigate such liquidity

risk.

The following table details the Group's contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The
table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted
cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest
date on which the Group can be required to pay.

Specifically, bank and other borrowings with @
repayable on demand clause are included in the earliest
time band regardless of the possibility of banks choosing
to exercise their rights. The maturity dates for other non-
derivative financial liabilities are based on the agreed
repayment dates. The table includes both interest and
principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are
ﬂocfing rates, the undiscounted amount is derived from
interest rate at the end of the reporting period.
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5.

B ERERE (8)
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mENE TR
REERBEEARE, FEEERTFIREE L
BRSSEEEMETEERRN e UENEE
B2, WRHERERENSZEE, EEE
BERIRTRAMERZEBABR, BRETEM
2 Mo

AECEF=-H=-+—H, AEEZREFE
S8 ER B & E4,400,918,000/8 70 (—E—1,
TF 1 4,343,927,000/870) , BHAEERTEK
mEESRR. REEARE, AEECDHIKW
STE B ERELUREERASE SRR,

TREAAEBIFTEERE BRI,
ZRBBEAEEJERBEREECRFHMZE
MEERERRS RERE,

AR, WHERERFEENRZIRITRAEME
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr MG IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020

HE_E_ 24 -—H=1+—HIFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 5. MBRARERE (8)
(c) Liquidity risk (Continued) (c) mENEL R (E)
Weighted ~ On demand 1 doys -1 Total Total
average  or within 90 Overlyear  undiscounted carrying
interest rate days year cash flow amount
mg  HEBXHX At+-H _Ent RERRE RE
TERE  ATHUA E-F ikt fERE
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
TET TER TAT TER TER
At 31 March 2020 R-ZE-EFZA=+-H
Trade and other creditors and e | - .
accrved expens EZNEMENITERETES - 1497093 395,733 419608 2,235,384 9935384
Amount due to a joint venture EN—Ragt%mE - 60 - - 60 60
et S
Amount due o a subsid\'ory of e T Ty
 shareholder N —aRE—ENELTNE - 8175 - - 8175 875
Amount due to a related company  TET—FE BN BIFIE - 1,544 - - 1544 1,544
ot ooson B EHELATE
- floating rate %8 7% 70,403 - - 70,403 70,000
- fved rate -ER 15% 5,000 - - 5,000 5,000
Loan from a related company [l NGIEEE
- fixed rate -ER 15% 93,594 - - 93,594 93,594
Bank and other borrowings BIREMER
- floating rate %8 53% 3,961,246 - - 3,961,246 3,957,924
- fixed rate -TE 17.7% 101,230 262,838 699,676 1,063,744 854,504
Convertible bonds SERES 18.6% - - 0018540 9018542 964,903
5,815,863 588,571 3,330,846 9,735,280 8,267,976
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr MG IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
RE-B-SE-A-tQIEE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 5. MERREE (8
(c) Liquidity risk (Continued) (c) MBETEAM (18)
Weighted ~ On demand o1 davs. 1 Total Total
average  or within 90 s Overlyear  undiscounted carrying
. year
interest rate days cash flow amount
mg  HEX® At-H _Enk FERRE &E
TERE  ATEUA E-F ikt EBRE
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TER TAT TER TER
At 31 March 2019 RZE-NE=R=1-H
Trade and other creditors and P -
27 RAMEMTERESFEX - 1,540,766 205,851 953566 2002183 2,002,183
accrued expenses
ks due o intoperati EHASLE/ SELKE
Amounts due to |0|n.ff>perahon§/ \j:_l %/ ACEBENY ] 58,436 ] ] 58,436 58,436
other partners of joint operations HHE
Amount due t idiary of =
mount due fo a subsidiary o Ef—RE—BHEATSE ) 2044 ) . 2044 2044
a shareholder
Amount due fo a related compony (I —ERE NI - 9,340 - - 2,340 9,340
Loan from a subsidiary of g g
a shorehoHer
- floating rate -%E 7% 70,410 - - 70,410 70,000
- fixed rate -EE 15% 5000 - - 5000 5000
Loan from a related company —BEFEELTER
- fived rate -TR 15% 107,350 - - 107,350 107,350
Bank and other borrowings BIREMER
- floating rate -%8 53% 3,518,454 8,287 18313 3,545,054 3,541,604
- fixed rate -EE 19.2% 151,417 508,201 - 659,618 595,000
Convertible bonds oERES 18.8% - - 0018540 021854 812,741
5,458,417 729,339 9,490,491 8,671,177 7,196,918
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fr MG IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
RE-B-SE-A-tQIEE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 5. MEEKRERE (8
(d) Interest rate risk (d) FI=E &

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk
in relation to fixed-rate amount due from a joint
venture of HK$3,272,000 (2019: HK$4,667,000),
other borrowings of HK$854,504,000 (2019:
HK$595,000,000), loan from a subsidiary

of a shareholder of HK$5,000,000 (2019:
HK$5,000,000), loan from a related company of
HK$93,594,000 (2019: HK$107,350,000) and
convertible bonds of HK$964,903,000 (2019:
HK$812,741,000) as set out in notes 25, 33, 32, 31 and
34, respectively.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
in relation to other loans receivable of HK$48,084,000
(2019: HK$56,162,000), pledged bank deposits

of HK$291,000 (2019: HK$16,044,000), short-

term bank deposits of HK$108,170,000 (2019:
HK$94,638,000), bank balances of HK$83,937,000
(2019: HK$51,168,000), loan from a subsidiary

of a shareholder of HK$70,000,000 (2019:
HK$70,000,000) and bank borrowings of
HK$3,957,224,000 (2019: HK$3,541,624,000).

The Group's cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on fluctuation of the best lending rate in
Hong Kong, the banks’ cost of funds and Hong Kong
Interbank Offered Rate ("HIBOR”).

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to cash flow interest rate risk
for variable-rate other loans receivab|e, loan from a
subsidiary of a shareholder and variable- rate bank
borrowings. The analysis is prepared assuming the
financial instruments outstanding at the end of the
reporting period were outstanding for the whole year.
If interest rates had been 50 basis points (2019: 50
basis points) higher/lower and all other variables
were held constant, the Group post-tax loss for the
year ended 31 March 2020 would increase/decrease
by HK$16,547,000 (2019: increase/decrease by
HK$14,812,000). This is mainly attributable to the
Group's exposure to inferest rates on its borrowings.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
due to the fluctuation of prevailing market interest rate
on pledged bank deposits, short term bank deposits
and bank balances. The Group considered interest
rate fluctuation on these bank deposits and balances is
insignificant.

HEOFFEE25. 33 32. 31 23477k, XEEHSD

B FELE BIEU — & & (b 2 FE3,272,0008

T (CE—F | 4,667,000 70) . EMES
854,504,000 ¢ (—F— L4 595,ooo,oooﬁéf
70) « — S B E — B 2 B8 F5,000,0007E 7T
(ZE—h=F: sooooooﬁ.éfm;) —HEFENE
E7093,594,0007%8 7T (—F—F1L4 107,350,000
B7T) &T#‘“foi%%zt 903 000ETT (ZEF—N
F 1 812,741,00075 7T) BN FEF = & f,

ZK%I/?T?LH\WJM& = 20148,084,0007E 7T, (—
—J1L4F 1 56,162,0005 7). BARFHIRITFES

QmpomﬁﬁﬁiggjmiimoMpomﬁﬁ%
F2HASR1T 72 7008,170,0008 71 (ZE— .5 -
94,638,000/ 7T) « #R1T#5ER83,937,00078 7T (—

— L4 [ 51168,000870) . —% A EE—E

N B2 570,000,000 7T (ZE—H4F
70,000,00075 7T) MR T8 703,957,224, ooo?.%fﬂ;
(ZE—N5F © 3,541,624,00055 1) &S RS 7 A
=agiillioe

FEBCRESANEAREBRENEERER
X BTESMRAREEBRTAZXKFR (&8
IRTTEEFR) B2 KB,

TP E 2 BRE D IR HMERZEE
;. —ARE—BENBERE ERUE ERT
BRFTAZ 2B RAERRMEE. Lo
BRRBEPRCKEESH T ERSFE
EEMRE, MAR EF/ T Es0EERE (TF
— L4 D SOfEEZ), fﬁﬁﬁﬁ@‘ﬁ%%&ﬁ?ﬁé
ZERTY, AEEEE_S—NF=-B=+—H
tfﬁfgz&%}éﬂ;%ﬁm/md\16,547,000%75
(CE—N4F 1800,5014,812,000E7T) - Itb
THER A A & B R 2L B U S 1 2= & f PR

AR BERRITER. BERTFRIRITHEER

ZBOIHGMERKE), AEETEBRERES RN X

HB REBEE AN R KB ZFIRTFRLAE
TET Ko
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr MG IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_E_ZF=-A=1+—HLFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(e) Fair values

(f)

The carrying amounts of the Group's financial assets
and financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated
statement of financial position approximate their

respective fair values.

(e)

. MHRREE (8

AFAE
WA BRRENFRR, AEET SR
EERSMA B REERLE QLT EEE.

Categories of financial instruments at 31 March ) R=B=+—HzemI E%ER
2020 2019
e N
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Financial assets: SREE
Financial assets at amortised cost BB AETEN TR
(including cash and cash equivalents) EE (QEReLEBS 1,335,960 1,299,123
=HIEH)
Financial liabilities: HaE:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REER AT ENEHEE 8,267,976 7,196,918

160

SOUTH SHORE HOLDINGS LIMITED



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MISHmRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2020

BE-EB-TE-g-+—ALER

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. WARDERER

Revenue of the Group represents the contract revenue from
management contracting services, gross proceeds received
and receivable from property development management
services in connection with contract works performed

and contract revenue with customers arising from hotel
operation.

The transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied)
as at 31 March 2020 amounting to HK$18,066,000,000
(2019: HK$20,246,000,000). Management expects that
all the remaining performance obligations will be recognised
as revenue over the contract terms up to four years from the
end of the reporting period.

Details of the Group's performance obligation for contracts
with customers are disclosed in note 3.

Information reported to the executive directors of the
Company, being the chief operating decision makers,
is organised info divisions for the purposes of resource
allocation and performance assessment focusing on
the types of services provided. Specifically, the Group's
reportable and operating segments under HKFRS 8
"Operating Segments” are as follows:

Management - building construction and civil
contracting engineering
Property - development management,

development project management and

management facilities and asset
management services
Property - investment in properties through
investment investment in a
joint venture
Hotel operation - hotel operation with ancillary

facilities

The Group had invested in an operating segment of the

hotel operation in Macau with provision of ancillary facilities.

The remaining segments are held under a major subsidiary

of the Group, PYE.

The accounting policies of the reportable and operating
segments are the same as the Group's accounting policies
described in note 3.

AEENWAEZEEERBNENA. SFE
TENIIENYZEE R EIERS S UL EIATK S
REUREBEEEES EBE RIS A

A_ECEF=—H-—+—H, DiEEERTE
WET GRBITIED EEETT) BIAZ Z (B 2
18,066,000,00075 75 (— = — L4 © 20,246,000,000
BIT) o ﬁ)ﬁ%EHHFEEE%TE%ﬁffﬂﬁﬁ%ﬁ%,ﬁﬂﬁk
CETZEUFM S F RN SR AW A

FEEDEE S SRNHENEEFBHMNM LS.

F]K VERITES EBEERRE) ERBHFER

DERRFEFEZER, EPUAMRHRBEEE
RE N BERME, ARBERBEEEMHRSE
R ZBe5R TAF 2 7 A8 ) @ PIR S RS E D BRI T

HEEE - BFEENRTARTE
MEZEREE - REEE. BEEENER
e B EEIEARSS
ERE - ® ”EAfF%%(L BIRER—FH
B
B EE - BIEEE, ERNERE

FEBRRERPTEEEE KENTL, WHEHHE
K. HErniHAEEE T —BEENBARR
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For the year ended 31 March 2020

BE-EB-TE-g-+—ALER

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. WAKRDERER (18)

(Continued)

Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market rates
or at terms determined and agreed by both parties, where
no market price was available.

Segment profit (loss) represents the profit earned or loss
incurred, by each reportable and operating segment without
allocation of corporate income, central administrative costs
and certain finance costs. This is the measure reported to the
chief operating decision makers for the purposes of resource
allocation and performance assessment.

The assets of the Group are allocated to reportable and
operating segments except for pledged bank deposits, short
term bank deposifs, bank balances and cash and other
unallocated assets.

The liabilities of the Group are allocated to reportable
and operating segments except for certain bank and other
borrowings and other unallocated liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_E_ZF=-A=1+—HLFE

R SRR M EE

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue from

contracts with customers and results by reportable and

operating segments.

For the year ended 31 March 2020

6. WARDEER (1)

LR BAEERE P SRR ANREEE A RER

BN ERZ Mo

BE_EZ

= —

FEZA=T—HLEE

Property
Management  development Property Hotel Segment
contracting  management investment PYE total operation total  Eliminations  Consolidated
RRER WEERERE  MERE REREML:  BEEE  SPa B &8
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn Thn Thn TEn TEn TEn TEn Thn
SEGMENT REVENUE DA
External sales HIMHE 10,869,114 1229 10,870,336 98953 10,899,289 10,899,289
Infer-segment sales N BHE 11,949 111,949 m 119,301 (19,321)
Segment revenue DHBA 10,981,063 1222 10,982,285 29,395 11,011,610 2,321 10,899,289
Timing of revenue recognition WD
Over time G 10,981,063 1222 10,982,285 16,665 10,998,950 2,321 10,886,629
At a point in fime E—HE 12,660 12,660 19,660
Total fi tracts . s
CIOENETUETIOMEONIAEE 22 A FU A8 10,981,063 1992 10,982,985 935 10160 (1232) 10,899,269
with customers
Segment profit (oss) PEEH (FE) 97,755 (759) (1796) 95,907 (993,861) (898,654) (Q145)  (900,799)
Corporate income tEWE 9,795
Centrol administrative costs R TH A (215,093)
EHBATS
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries : qu% Ak 153,705
Wi
Finance costs HENX (66,932)
Loss before fax BRAEE (1,019,324)
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R SRR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_E_ZF=-A=1+—HLFE

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2019

6. WARDEER (1)

BE_F-NFZA=1+—HLFE

Property
Management  development Property Hotel Segment
contracting  management investment PYE total operation totll  Eliminations ~ Consolidated
AREE WEFREE  WERE RERZEH  BEEE  pHs 3 &a
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
TEL TER TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL TER
SEGMENT REVENUE PEHEA
External sales HIMHE 9,377,364 2 - 9371139 4471 9,381,863 - 9,381,863
Infer-segment sales N BHE (29,755) - - (29,759) (29,759) 99,755 -
Seqment revenue BB 9,347,609 % - oI 4N 9352108 075 938,863
Timing of revenue recognition WD
Over time G 9,347,609 28 - 9,347,637 3,008 9,350,645 99,755 9,380,400
At a point in time E-EH - - - 1,463 1463 - 1,463
Total fi tracts . -
EEMETOMENOE  ZRABMEE 9347609 % S 93y 440 93008 W5 9381863
with customers
Seqment proft lose) NIEF (52) 189,474 (1734 0147 189867 (6000955  (5833068) 995098  (5607970)
Corporate income tEWE 8,627
Centrol administrative costs R TE A (193,069)
Finance costs RERE (44,612)
Loss before tax BiEEE (5,837,044)
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For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_E_ZF=-A=1+—HLFE

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. WARDEER ()
(Continued)
The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and UTAXEEEENBERYRENRECEDEND
liabilities by reportable and operating segments. Mo
At 31 March 2020 AZEZEF=RA=+—H
Property
Management  development Property Hotel Segment
contracting  management investment PYE total operation total  Eliminations  Consolidated

AEEE MEYREE  WERE RERREF  EEEE  HUAH il )
HK$000  HK$000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$000
FiEn FiEn TEn TiEn FiEn FiEn FiEn FiEn

ASSETS L

Segment assefs NPEE 4,971,756 13,497 88,718 437391 4,010,712 8,384,683 (376,21) 8,008,472
Pledged bank deposits BHERETER 291
Short term bank deposits BHRTER 108,170
Borkbaloncesand cosh ~ $/TEEER RS 305,357
Other unallocated assefs HitAPREE 236,212
Consolidated assets RRBE 8,678,502
LIABILITIES afE

Segment liabilifies PHEE 3,346,713 15,865 40 3,362,618 6,112,469 9,475,087 (846,483) 8,628,604
Bank and ofher borrowings 877 R EERT 1,115,300
Other undllocated liablities  EHAPEEE 530,395

Consolidated liabilities Y=L 10,274,299
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6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

At 31 March 2019

R SRR M EE

6. WARDEER (1)

RZBE—HE=ZRA=+—H

Property
Management  development Property Hotel Segment

contracting  management investment PYE total operation totll  Eliminations ~ Consolidated
EREE Y=¥REE  YERE REEHES  BEEE  OH4H Eafi Fa
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
TER TER TER TER TER TEn TR TER

ASSETS BE
Segment asses REEE 375,651 11,845 9660 38658 440670 BONBEO  (399921) T894
Pledged bank deposits BRI 16,044
Short term bank deposits BHRTER 94,638
Bank balances and cash RITERRIES 207,134
Other unallocated assefs HitAPREE 149,382
Consolidated assets RREE 8,359,140

LIABILITIES &
Segment labilties PHEE 3,149,006 6,457 40 355,503 5,496,467 8651970 (837.944) 784,026
Bank and other borrowings BIREMED 722,200
Other undllocated liablities ~ EHAPEEE 399,526
Consolidated liabilities ChaE 8,935,752
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RE-B-SE-A-tQIEE

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. WARDEER ()
(Continued)
The following is an analysis of the Group's other information LU AEEHMERIR B 3 & M & 9289 1T
by reportable and operating segments.
For the year ended 31 March 2020  E_E_EF=H=+—HLEEE
Property
Management  development Property Hotel
contracting ~ management  investment PYE total operation  Unallocated ~ Consolidated

AEEE NXLREEE  MERE REERAR  BEEE ADE ]

HKS000 ~ HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$000  HK5000

TER TER TER TR TiEn TiEn TER
OTHER INFORMATION HfnEk

Amounts included in the measure of segment profit (loss) or segment assets:

HESART G T HEES
Additions to hotel property REBENE - - - - 18,540 - 18,540
Additions to property, e T
) REVE. BHLGE 17,393 81 - 17,480 1,041 25,143 43,664
plant and equipment
Addiﬁorﬁs‘ To deposits paid for TEWEYL BHEDEY
acquisition of property, N - - - - 383 - 383
, bﬂﬂi
plant and equipment
Depreciation of hotel property ~ EEYJENE - - - - 254,512 - 254,512
- " N
Depreciionof prapery, M, BRRRETE 3,424 16 . 31,500 59,012 9,854 93,366
plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets B EEE ZITE 6,260 - - 6,260 46,730 21,586 74,576
Finance costs RERE - - - - 495,134 66,932 562,066
Loss (gain) on d\fposcﬂ of property, HENE. BHAEEZEHE 0% ) ) 03 (1,024 044 153
plant and equipment (7))
Iferests in joint ventures SEhEEG 1,084 - 85,393 86,477 - - 86,477
. . (EBE AN A
Share ?f‘proﬂ'r (loss) of associates  #{4 / EHENERAELERA % 0 (153) (1497) i i (1497)
and joint ventures &R PE—

Amounts regularly provided to the chief operating decision makers buf not included in the measure of segment profit (loss):

B PR KA B4
THEEFIEEEFRE BT ERRHEY

Share of revenue of associates and BUEHSATRAS AL

joint ventures

A 161,080 1 5417 166,508 - - 166,508
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RE-B-SE-A-tQIEE

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. WARDEER ()
(Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2019 E_E-NF=ZA=+—HLEEE
Property
Management  development Property Hotel
confracting  management investment PYE fotal operation  Unallocated  Consolidated
REEE NENEEE  ERE RERELy  EESE A& )
HKSO00  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKSOOD  HKS000
TEn TER TER TER TEn TEn TEn

OTHER INFORMATION Hft&R

Amounts included in the measure of segment profit (loss) or segment assets:
SEDWET (BR) A HEEF AR EE

Additions to hotel property REBENE - - - - 494977 - 494977
Additions t ty, plant . o
it °:”°per WPt gy wipna 18,303 ] : 16,304 1433 a9 81456
equipmen

Additions to deposits paid for FEREYL BHEDEY

acquisition of property, a4 - - - - 94797 - 94,797
plant and equipment EffEE

Depreciation of hotel property ~ EEEHE - - - - 307,022 - 307,022

Deprdaton ofpropery WL BRRRERE 29,900 : - 2900 5436 6,56 90817
plant and equipment

Finance costs RENE - - - - 400,493 44,619 44505

Gain on disposal of d M TS L
N NEPETTPOREN, e mRRE (5,061) - . (5,067) . (10) (5,07)
plant and equipment

Loss on disposal of WERNELEE Y ER ] _ ) ) ] 3 3
other intangible assets s e

Amortisation of prepaid land lease B ESERY 75 . ) 5% 104016 ) 10459
payments

Impairment loss on hotel property BEMEZRESE - - - - 3,110,630 - 3,710,630

mpamertlosonprepaidlord g e i wEmE - - . . 750,37 - 750,37
lease payments

eimertosonpobe,  yr juispieiey wieg : : : S 1
plant and equipment

Iterests in joint ventures SEMEER 1176 - 99,968 94,144 - - 94144

Share of (loss) proﬁf of associates  BEHE N NAELE
and joint ventures (B8) &7 (233) o) w 267 _ ) _(%7)

Amounts regularly provided fo the chief operaﬂng decision makers but not included in the measure of segment profit (loss):

- 77, fuay [
TP EEERRE OO EN TR /%/(‘57—*5/2155

Share of.révenue of associates BUEBSNTRARARI 9140 3 5610 “Im ) ] i
and joint ventures

The Group's operations are mainly located in Hong AEBECEBRTEZMRES. B, REARHEM

Kong, Macau, the People’s Republic of China ("the PRC") (TrRERL) (BB REPIBRSN) RN K B2k A ee,

(excluding Hong Kong and Macau), and Singapore and
Malaysia.
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6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue based
on geographical location where construction works or other
services are provided:

WA R EE R ()

R BAEERARREHEBR TR HEMRES 2
TEHE A& 2 79T

2020 2019
—Z2TERF “E-NEF

HK$ 000 HK$'000

FET FET

Hong Kong 5B 8,630,529 8,283,884
Macau EPY 92,158,905 1,043,178
The PRC = 1,465 -
Singapore and Malaysia 03K K Sk PE ae 108,390 54,801
10,899,289 9,381,863

The followings is an analysis of the Group's revenue based
on types of goods and services:

U AREBRALE MR RFBEEZ DA

2020 2019

e

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET TET

Management contracting AEEE 10,869,114 9,377,364
Property development management MEEREE 1,222 28
Hotel operation AR E 28,953 4,471
10,899,289 9,381,863

The following is an analysis of the carrying amounts of
non-current assets based on the geographical location of the

U mIERSEERAEREEMTMEMLEZD
#r

assets:
2020 2019
—EBCEH “ENEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Hong Kong 58 294,064 295,813
Macau EFS 3,971,150 4,284,214
The PRC = 88,077 94,963
Singapore and Malaysia NI ke B AR PR R 2,232 1,793
4,355,593 4,606,783
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For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_E_ZF=-A=1+—HLFE

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

6. WARDEER (1)

Revenue from customers contributing more than 10% of the WA BRBME R EEEWAEBI0NEFIOT !

total revenue of the Group are as follows:

2020 2019
—g=gx  —= %
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET AT
Customer A HRA 1,785,518 1,281,153
. t
Customer B ZFEB qué 1,123,713
Customer C ZRC Eﬂ%ﬁ 1,113,275
Customer D =/D 1,560,418 'B?ﬁogie
Note: This customer contributed less than 10% of total et ER WA ESMEAERRE_S_F
revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 March — A=+ HUEFEFBRE_S—HhF=A
2020 or the year ended 31 March 2019. =+ —HIEFERADTR10%,
All these customers are under the management contracting FEBEREBAEEEDE,
segment.
7. OTHER INCOME 7. Hhuras
2020 2019
—EITHF “ZE-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET
Bank interest income RITF B 1,365 1,373
Interest income on other loans receivable HMEWER 2 F EW s 7,090 6,836
Interest income on amount due from F’?H&*%ﬁé%ﬁ%%ﬁﬁz
es - 995 374
a joint venture A E W=
Others Hith 4,526 44
13,206 8,627
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8. FINANCE COSTS 8. BREMA
2020 2019
=T - &
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET T8
Interest and loan management fee on bank BT REMERF B
and other borrowings EREEE 376,407 308,273
o EnEs S =Nt
Interest on loan from a subsidiary of a shareholder Eiﬁf ELIEASIEE 5,715 5,362
Interest on loan from a related company — B BEERNBETZNE 15,449 3,340
T ercrldor of o bl horclderct | FAT—BEBEEL 672 :
FTERRZERZFR ’
the Company
Interest on borrowings from a director of certain KNBIETHEB LB w—% 0 034
subsidiarieis of the Company EEENCFE ’ )
Effective interest on convertible bonds AR ESCBERERNE 152,162 128,130
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HESECHEMEZ 3,578 -
562,066 445,105
9. INCOME TAX CREDIT (EXPENSE) o. FrEMEE (B)
2020 2019
—BE2F “ENF
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET T
Hong Kong g
Current tax ARERFRIE (81) (1,082)
Overprovision in prior years B FEBEEG 825 -
744 (1,082)
Macau and other jurisdictions B R Hh B AR
Current tax NGRS (1170) (1,008)
Over(under) provision in prior years BEFEBE (R R BE 1,145 (2114)
(25) (3,122)
79 (4,204)
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RE-B-SE-A-tQIEE

9.

INCOME TAX CREDIT (EXPENSE) (Continued)

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2
million of profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed
at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at
16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying for the
two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed
at a flat rate of 16.5%.

The directors of the Company considered the amount
involved upon implementation of the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime as insignificant to the consolidated financial
statements. Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of
the estimated assessable profits for both years.

Taxation arising in Macau and other jurisdictions is
calculated at the rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

. PSR (M) (8

RERREMEGRELE, SCERERBEBIEIE
BRI %R8.25% R AR, MiBiEen &1
TLETRRREN6 SBVIRE IR, T & mRHIRIS
ME=HE LN EEBRBAATR RS 5% B
— IR BARTR Ho

RRNBEEFERR, BlimkdFSREGIERY &
BB OB IWEM S Tﬁ;ﬁﬁ@igéﬁ
MR ZEFTERIEHB6.5%51Fo

MERPI N E MBI AR EE 2 RETHRFEEREE
HeRTREFE -

The income tax credit (expense) for the year can be AFEZFERERL (i) MR8 REMy] 2k
reconciled to the loss before tax per the consolidated MBIBRCHERNT :
statement of profit or loss as follows:
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET T
Loss before tax PRI AT BB (1,019,324) (5,837,044)
i X % _ =
Tax at the domestic tax rate of 16.5% (2019: 16.5%) ?ﬁﬁ J@]TS%;G;:T'%(Z%QIE n 168,188 963,112
Tax effect of share of results of associates and BhBMEND RS hEZE (247) (44)
joint ventures BB E
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax E%ﬂﬁg;ﬁ? EEibE1cE - (127,551) (970,989)
purpose RS E
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose E;\ fgg%/” Rz 26,254 4,499
Tax effect of deductible temporary differences not AR FER B 1R E BF =58 2 17
A =% (124) (48)
recognised b3
Tax effect of utilisation of deductible temporary B A SR AR R B R B 17 1980
differences previously not recognised ERECME R '
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERDRIEBEEREEE (79,724) (34,643)
Tax eFFecT of utilisation of tax losses previously not  E) ?ﬁiﬁfﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁlﬁféﬂéz 1,007 3,900
recognised METE
Tax eﬁcecf of deferred tax assets previously not SEAY ﬂiiﬁ;z FIERIBEEY 266 28,650
recognised MBs &
H =] = oo N B D )
Tax effect of different tax rates in other jurisdictions ’\;§§§$&EI FIREZ 663 1,478
Over (under) provision in prior years mAEFEBE (M) #1F 1,970 (2114)
Income tax credit (expense) for the year FEZPEMRERL (D) ne (4,204)

Details of the deferred taxation are set out in note 35.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020

HE_E_ 24 -—H=1+—HIFE

R SRR M EE

10. LOSS FOR THE YEAR 10. FEBE
2020 2019
—s-®F  —TaE
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ExT T
Loss for the year has been arrived at after AEEHZFERBHEBEDNARK
charging (crediting): (5T A) -
Auditor’s remuneration 1Z BLEMEN = 5,599 5,037
Depreciation of hotel property BIEYIZE 2 e 254,512 307,022
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME. BB ITE 93,366 90,817
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEZITE 74,576 -
Loss (gain) on disposal of property, plant and HEWZE. BiNKEHEEE
i s 153 (5,077)
equipment (U z)
Legal and professional fees EEREFEER 25,817 44,905
Net exchange loss PE 2 E e F 58 3,997 3,084
Expenses relating to short-term leases and leases BRECBEHEREEEESER
PN 163,926 -
of low-value assets BEoMx
Operating lease rentals REHERSE - 165,998
Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments TR T8 & IR - 104,591
Staff costs (including directors’ remuneration): ETmA (BEE=2) !
Salaries, discretionary bonus and other benefits FEN. BYETEAL R EMEF] 1,034,589 933,867
Reg;esrfnee rr:pkroe ; :f:nsfcsiir:ri : ::I o:f:izruﬂ ons, net BIRER! B R A MR
' ' I, RaE
of forfeited contributions of approximately 3\;:;]’;27 g\oo%glgj (Xily% 28,633 26,730
HK$1,797,000 (2019: approximately le £ i3 s Z)Eoc;%v_)
HK$3,734,000) BGaaha et
D BE RRE 4 | By A EL R 2
Equity-settled share-based payment expenses /Myi% SR B R (936) 1,251
N5
Total staff costs 4B E T A 1,062,286 961,848
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr MG IRRMIEE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND FIVE

HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ and chief executive's emoluments

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the eight

directors (2019: eight directors and one former director)

which include the chief executive officer are as follows:

. BERERFETHAEBNAURSFHIASHE

() EZEREFEITHAEMSE
ENRENN\LES (CF—NF  \REER
—REIEE) (PEBETBHER) EAZBIE0T ¢

Retirement
Salaries benefit
2_0;0_ = andother  Discretionary scheme Share-based
“EIER Fees benefits bonus contributions payments Total
2 ) RAEA LR1A &

ik HthiEF BETta AR ERZAR st
Name of director and chief executive Notes HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000
BERIETHABHE Wiz TEx TET TAm T#n TEx TEL
Executive Directors
YES
Peter Lee Coler . () 347 6,981 ; 30 . 7638
Lau Tom Ko Yuen o
gl5E (i) (vii) 579 6,981 - 7560
Walter Craig Power (i) Gi) Giv) (vi) 29 - 29
Non-executive Directors
FHTES
Walter Craig Power (i) i) iv) (vi) 318 - 318
Independent non-executive Directors
BUERTES
James Chiu
s (i) 1,366 - 1,366
I;: (illack Fan (i) 1162 - 1162
eSS
|ain Ferguson Bruce
EEt (i) 1,246 - 1,246
Francis Goutenmacher (i) (v) 1,343 - 1,343
Chan Kok Chung, Joh
E%‘g ung, Johnny (i) () 4 ; 44

6,831 13,962 - 310 - 21,103
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11. DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND FIVE . EERFETBRAERAMUSEHFMAEME (8
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES EMOLUMENTS
(Continued)
(a) Directors’ and chief executive's emoluments (o) EERFETBRAEMNS (B
(Continued)
Retirement
Solaries benefit
2_02 and other  Discrefionary scheme  Share-based
“ENE Fees benefits bonus contributions payments Total
A RINEF] DR 7
ik EAtEH BIETEAL SRS ERZOW EE)
Name of director and chief executive Notes HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ " 000
EERTETHAEHE piat TET TET TET TET TEx FET
Executive Directors
YES
Peter Lee Coker Jr. (i) 347 6,981 - 310 279 7917
Lau Tom Ko Yuen o
gl5E (i) (vii) 579 6,981 - - 279 7,839
Walter Craig Power (i) Gi) Giv) (vi) 347 8,268 - 413 9279 9,307
Independent non-executive Directors
BUERITES
Jomes Chiu
i i) 1366 ; - - % 1,391
ifj‘ﬁ?CkF°“ i) 1162 ; - - % 1187
_Y_I\ﬁﬁ
|ain Ferguson Bruce
- (i 1,246 - - - 25 1271
Francis Goutenmacher (ii) (v) 1,343 - - - 925 1,368
Chan Kok Chung, Joh
E;qj’ ung, Johnny (i) () 4 ; - - % 466
6,831 29,230 - 723 962 30,746
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BE-EB-TE-g-+—ALER

1. DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES EMOLUMENTS

. BEERFBTHRAENAUSSFMASHE (8)

(Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive's emoluments (o) EBERTETBAEME (B)
(Continued)
Notes: FIEE -

(i) The executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were for their services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company and the
Group.

(i) The non-executive director's emoluments shown
above were for his services as director of the
Company.

(iii) The independent non-executive directors’
emoluments shown above were for their service as
directors of the Company.

(iv) Mr. Walter Craig Power was re-designated from
executive director to non-executive director of the
Company with effect from 1 May 2019.

(v) Resigned on 6 April 2020.
(vi) Resigned on 18 May 2020.
(vii) Resigned on 10 June 2020.

Mr. Walter Craig Power was also the chief executive
officer of the Company and his emoluments disclosed
above included those for services rendered by him as the
chief executive officer for both years. Mr. Walter Craig
Power ceased to be chief executive officer with effect
from 1 May 2019.

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts
in relation to the Group's business to which the Company
was a party and in which a director of the Company
had a material interest, whether direcﬂy or indirecﬂy,
subsisted at the end of both years or at any time during
both years.

Discretionary bonus was determined with reference to
the Group's operating results, individual performance
and comparable market statistics. Neither the directors
nor the chief executive of the Company waived or
agreed to waive any emoluments for both years.

() EXPIRePTESME DREERRE R
FEBEZSHRHERBMES,

(i) EXPIRZIFRTESIME DB ERRE
ESRREHRFBMER.

(i) PR BIIFERITESME DRl HEE
RNEERREHRBMES,

(iv) Walter Craig Powersc 2 BT E R BT A IE
WITESR, BF—NERA—HEEW

v RIB_BFMA BT
i) RZEFZEFFRA+/\HE# T
(il R ZFE Z_FFNAE+ HEF T,

Walter Craig Power5T 4= 78 A A2 B) 2 1T AR EL,
HR ER Rz Ml S B M B F E Rl 1T
BT IR AR5 < Bl <20 Walter Craig Power%t
FTABEFETERE, B —NFhB—HBiE
4320

RAFEREHNFERERAEE, RNROEBIET
TEFRARREENETERNBEEGEAE
BZEBERG. BHRE.

MEEAIZEAEBKEEGE. @AKRKTERAL
WH SR HFMET. BEALNSACZEENE
ZITHABMEZMEFE 2 E A2,
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BE_E_ZF=-A=1+—HLFE

11. DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES EMOLUMENTS
(Continued)

(b) Employees’ emoluments
The five highest paid individuals in the Group for
the year included two (2019: three) directors of the
Company whose emoluments are disclosed above in
note 11(a). The aggregate emoluments of the remaining
three (2019: two) highest paid individuals who are
neither a director of the Company nor chief executive of
the Group are as follows:

. BEERFBTHRAENAUSSFMASHE (8)

(b) REB S
AEERAFEAUSREFMAEIEMBEAR
AEE (CE—NEF ZLERFESR), Hilw
SHISEMN EXMIE () BR =% (CE—NF
M) ERARNBDEFNAERTBTHAELZ
oA ZRMEEIIWT

2020 2019
—EoEs i
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET
Salaries and other benefits EN R EAAEF 20,041 12,055
Discretionary bonus BITE {EAL 26,497 15,800
Retirement benefit scheme contributions BIRER 58 175 27
46,713 27,882
The emoluments were within the following bands: WEMSFTBEENT
2020 2019
—EEHF “ENEFE
Number of employee
wEAB
3,500,00178 T &
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 4000,000 77, 1 -
12,000,001 B0 &
HK$12,000,001 to HK$12,500,000 12,500,000 & - 1
15,000,001/ 2 7L &
HK$15,000,001 to HK$15,500,000 15,500,000 71, - 1
16,000,001 87L&
HK$16,000,001 to HK$16,500,000 16,500,000 T 1 -
26,000,00178 L2
HK$26,000,001 to HK$26,500,000 96,500,000 % 7t 1 -
3 2

During both years, no emoluments were paid by the
Group to the five highest paid individuals, including

directors of the Company and chief executive of the
Group, as an inducement fo join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office.
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12. DIVIDENDS

The directors do not recommend the payment of any

dividend for the year ended 31 March 2020 (2019: Nil).

LOSS PER SHARE

Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share attributable to owners
of the Company is based on the loss for the year attributable
to owners of the Company of HK$1,021,702,000 (2019:
HK$5,847,646,000) and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares of 1,012,953,711 (2019: 1,012,953,711) in issue
during the year.

Diluted loss per share

For the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, the
computation of diluted loss per share does not assume the
exercise of the Company's convertible bonds, the unvested
shares awarded outstanding and share options since their

exercise would result in a decrease in loss per share.
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EETRHERNBFE _B_BF=A=t+—HiItF
B AARE (CE—NE &),

BREBE

BEARERERE

ANBVHEB NEL 2 ERERNBBIIBIEARL B
B N E(EEEETE,021,702,0008 7T (—E—HFE !
5,847,646,00078 1) NP E 81T E @R IE T 5
1,012,953, 71A% (— 55— 1.4 11,012,953, 711A%) 210 &t
5,

FR#ESIR
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For the year ended 31 March 2020
RE-B-SE-A-tQIEE

14. HOTEL PROPERTY 14. 3@#%%

The movements of the hotel property for the years ended 31 BE_SE_FSEN_F—NF=A=+—HILEE
March 2020 and 2019 are set out below: @ﬁ#@%i“%ﬂ%ﬁw m

HK$000

FHET

CosT 977
At 1 April 2018 N TE—-N\FOBE—H 8,164,944
Additions wnE 494,977
At 31 March 2019 R_E-hF=B=+—H 8,659,221
Additions nNE 18,540
At 31 March 2020 R_E_ZF=F=+—H 8,677,761
ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT AND DEPRECIATION  ZitiRiERITE
At 1 April 2018 RZE—NFHE—H 1,203,000
Provision of depreciation for the year FRITERS 307,022
Impairment loss recognised EERERE 3,710,630
At 31 March 2019 RIE—NF=A=+—H 5,220,652
Provision of depreciation for the year FRITERS 254,512
At 31 March 2020 R_E_ZTF=F=+—H 5,475,164
CARRYING VALUE fREE
At 31 March 2020 N _ZE_EBFE=A=+—H 3,002,597
At 31 March 2019 RZE-NFE=B=+—H 3,438,569
The hotel property is depreciated over the remaining lease @f%%ﬁ’\ii@ F MAAANEHRITE, MITERC
term of the land and depreciation commences from the F—/\FN\B =+—HAERRLHIE.

opening of the Hotel on 31 August 2018.
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14. HOTEL PROPERTY (Continued) 14. SEEYE (8)

The hotel property is erected on a piece of land on the
Cotai Strip of Macau which is held under a medium-term
lease. The amounts capitalised in the hotel property in
prior years mainly represent the amortisation of prepaid
land lease payments, depreciation of property, plant and
equipment, effective interest of convertible bonds and bank
and other borrowings, share-based payment expenses and
share award expenses, directors and key management's
emo|umenfs, other staff costs, direct construction costs as
well as other professional fees including design fee and
consultancy fees. The capitalised share-based payments,
share award expenses, directors and key management's
emoluments are based on the roles and functions of each
individuals and their relevant time spent in relation to the
hotel under development project.

The recoverable amount of the cash generating unit (‘'CGU")
of the hotel operation segment has been determined based
on the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in
use.

The management of the Company estimates the
anticipated cash flow generated by the underlying assets
and was valued by Vincorn Consulting and Appraisal
Limited, an independent professional valuer. The value in
use calculations are calculated based on the asset’s current
condition upon the commencement of hotel operation
during the current year.

According to the valuation report prepared by Vincorn
Consulting and Appraisal Limited (2019: Greater China
Appraisal Limited) dated 11 September 2020, the value of
CGU is HK$4,100,000,000 as at 31 March 2020 (2019:
HK$4,330,000,000). Since the recoverable amount as

at 31 March 2020 is higher than its carrying amount of
hotel property, right-of-use assets and property, plant and
equipment in the CGU, no impairment loss is recognised
during the year ended 31 March 2020, whereas impairment
losses of HK$3,710,630,000, HK$752,137,000 and
HK$234,233,000 were recognised on the hotel property,
prepaid land lease payments and property, plant and
equipment in the hotel operation segment respectively for
the last year ended 31 March 2019. Considered that there
are no significant changes with a favourable effect in which
the Hotel is operated and the economic performance of the
hotel business is, or will be, better than expecfed, as there

is no indicator showing that an impairment loss recognised
in prior periods for the hotel business may no longer exist or
may have decreased, the management of the Company has
not recognised a reversal of impairment loss during the year
ended 31 March 2020 accordingly.

BIEYFERNRPIRR KN BN —B L E, I
MR ERB. BEFEMBAEYRBRERZ
TRTEERN DMEETIERE. ¥R, Bk
KimZITE. PIBRREZSRIRTREMEEERT
B URMNASER MR RRNZRFAS. &
ERTEEEASMNE. HMMBE T4, ERAR
TREMANAMEXER (SERFTERNBEBE

). BERFTERZLURNBER IR RINER
. EEREEEEASZMENREENALT
Z B R B RE K 3R A B8 e T B I iz A R Ry ) 7 o

BEEENMeELRe BN (EEREEMN) 2
Pl Bl BB AT ERHENEAREABEZR

BEET.

ANBEEEGSTEMEEEENEIRESM,
MBI B EEEMLZER R GERAEETE
B, ERBEZABEDNENAFEEELSERKBR
EEMRITRREE,

RIEAh SN EEREAT (ZE—NE  EEF
BEERAT) RIBE_SFAA+—HREZHER
g RCEEF=-A=+—HELRSEMNEBE
4,100,000,000%5 77 (—F—11.7F | 4,330,000,0007
o AR B FF=-_A=-+—HWIlE+ES
REELRESBEUNBEYE. EEEEE, UK
ME. BRLRENERERDE, SREE_5-5
—B=-t+—HUIEFEIERIRERRE, mMREE
TE-AEZA=t—HLELE—EFEELERESE
BHOEIPEEYE. B IMAERUE, URYE.
N B, 0 B RESE B{E B51E3,710,630,0008 7T
752,137,000 71 M2234,233,0008 71, & B2 A EHK
ERTHPNEHNEEN EEABE), BIEEBNK
BRIBIEZWASSENTEE, WA LEPSRERE
[EERBEFBEHERBEBENT HIRG 06
B, ARNEEBEBIERNBE S _SF -8
=+ —HIEFEREFELIRERBE,
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14. BIEV) (1)
I5E A 1EEASEEE. ITHIEERERE

14. HOTEL PROPERTY (Continued)

Valuation methodology, value of inputs, basis and

assumptions and sensitivity analysis

The valuation methodology, value of inputs in the current
and previous year used in the valuation together with the
basis and assumption are as follows:

Valuation Methodology
HEH %

Discount Rate

FhIR=

Average daily room rate in year 1
F—FTHEHERER
Occupancy rate in year 1
FE—FEALEX

Sales revenue in year |
FE—FIHEUWA

Growth rate in sales revenue

WEPAEES

Growth rate in average daily room rate

THEOBREREEE

Growth rate in occupancy rate

AEEEX
Long term growth rate
REIREEX

Valuation method

Income approach and use of discounted cash flow method

R 7T

BERA HEMARAFEREFECHARE
BEEREENRRRLOT

Current Year Valuation Report

Last Year Valuation Report

REEGERS FEEMGMERS
Income Approach Income Approach
W AE WA

9% 10.5%

HK$2,800 - HK$15,680
2,80078 75 £15,68078 71
2.5% - 10%

HK$6,050 - HK$35,000
6,05078 75 235,000/8 75
12% - 46%

HK$39.6 million HK$274.1 million
39,600,0007E 7T 274,100,00078 75

YearQ 55 4 . 798% Year 9 58 1 | 47%
Year 3 56 = F | 45% Year 3 6 = 1F | 49%
Year 4 SEVU4E | 36% Year 4 SEVU4E © 29%
Year 5 55 FH4F 1 12% Year5 £ HF 1 19%
Year 2 55 —4F 1 100% Year 2 85 4 © 3% - 22%
(vs 2nd half of year 1)

(RE—F THEMEL)

Year 3 85 = F | 3%-20% Year 3 5= 1F © 3% - 19%
Year 4 E5VU4E | 3%-15% Year 4 S5V04F 1 3% - 17%
Year 5 5 FL4F 1 3%-12.5% Year 5 B 4F 1 3% - 15%
Year 2 55 —4F 1 100% Year 2 55 4F 1 8% - 21%
(vs 2nd half of year 1)

(RE—F T HEMEL)

Year 3 585 =4 | 0%-30% Year3 8 =4 | 8% -18%
Year 4 VUL | 3%-23% Year 4 VUL [ 7% -12%
Year 5 5 HF | 0%-25% Year5 ELF 1 4% - 7%
3% 3%

HERE

RIBTEFR-F-—NF=A=+—H, FHEE

RAWAERERERERSE (HRRS R
o AL AR T |

("DCF") are applied for the valuation as at 31 March 2020
and 2019. The reason for using this method is as follow:

— RBIEBGFT RSB, EENELREE
IR e DB EPIRBH T ERHEMA R
EREE FRERRSRE) E1TE ;

- Under the "Hong Kong Accounting Standard 36”, the
recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating
unit can only be assessed based on its fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use (i.e. DCF);

- The value of the hotel business is determined by its — BEEREEVRENEESNG R DE

potential ability to generate a stream of benefits in the €

Fufure;
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14. HOTEL PROPERTY (Continued) 14. SEEYE (8)

Valuation methodology, value of inputs, basis and
assumptions and sensitivity analysis (Continued)

Valuation method (Continued)

- The future cash flow of the hotel business can be
identified based on the hotel performance record and
forecast prepared by management of the Company;
and

- Market approach (i.e. fair value less costs of disposal)
is not applicable due to infrequent sales of hotels on an
open market basis in the locality of the hotel business, i.e.
Macau.

The reason for changes in the value of the inputs and
assumptions adopted in current year apart from those
adopted in prior years was mainly due to the outbreak of
COVID-19 pandemic and quarantine measures at Macau
where the Hotel situated and the valuation of the Hotel is

therefore dropped compares to last year accordingly.

The effect of the reasonably possible change in key
assumptions on the calculation of value in use of the CGU of
hotel operation, which would cause the carrying amount to
exceed its recoverable amount is disclosed below.

If the average daily room rate during the cash flow
projection period increased/decreased by 5% and all other
variables are held constant, the carrying amount of the
CGU of hotel operation would be increased/decreased by
HK$210 million as at 31 March 2020 (2019: increased by
HK$410 million/decreased by HK$420 million).

If the occupancy rate is 5% higher/lower and all other
variables are held constant, the carrying amount of the
CGU of hotel operation would be increased by HK$390
million/decreased by HK$380 million as at 31 March 2020
(2019: increased/decreased by HK$640 million).

If the growth rate is 0.5% higher/lower and all other
variables are held constant, the carrying amount of the CGU
of hotel operation would be increased by HK$200 million/
decreased by 190 million as at 31 March 2020 (2019:
increased by HK$460 million/decreased by HK$450

million).

I5E A 1EEASEEE. ITHIEERERE
R /R ZE T (#8)

LB E (18)
— JBIEEBHARR A CRBEERF LR LA R
B EEERENBASEG ; &

— mHE @R TFEREENRA) L EA, REE
BIEEBATEM (BIRF) RS H LBERE

NEEFTHRNAABEEBENRREBEFEMK
NE D IRE ENRY T 22 R R 45 8 5 P 1E 8 P e i
REBERENRERRIER, HIVAEZGERE
FRDo

HREEEEELRSBUNGEREBERIZRK
BETREFNRE, BERREEBLEIKE
SRR EE T3

MRS RBIENTFEHEEEEEREMN, D
5%, EFMBEMEBESHIFEBRT, RIEZ
EF-A -+ RBLEEEELREBUNERE
FEIS TN,/ 38/1210,000,000 77 (ZE— 4 1271
410,000,00075 75,/ #,7420,000,00075 7T) o

MBAMEREIN, B 5%, (EFTEEMBEEE 1~
BOERT, RIE_EE-RA=-t+—HABEEE
E RS BAIMEREE IS NN390,000,0007% 7T,/
5/0380,000,0005 71 (ZE—F1L4F 180, F D
640,000,000 7T) o

MBIgERIEN,RD05%, TTATE BB S
TERIZIERT, RIE-EF=A=+—HAE
EhEE4F RS B M RMEEEEI1200,000,000
BT,/ 190,000,000 7T (ZE— .4 18]
460,000,00075 7T,/ 787)450,000,0005 1) o
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BE-EB-TE-g-+—ALER

14. HOTEL PROPERTY (Continued) 14. SEEYE (8)

Valuation methodology, value of inputs, basis and
assumptions and sensitivity analysis (Continued)

Valuation method (Continued)

If the discount rate is 0.5% higher/lower and all other
variables are held constant, the carrying amount of the
CGU of hotel operation would be decreased by HK$160
million/increased by HK$170 million as at 31 March 2020
(2019: decreased/increased by HK$160 million).

The capitalisation rate applied is 6%, and if the
capitalisation rate is 0.5% higher/lower and all other
variables are held constant, the carrying amount of the
CGU of hotel operation would be decreased by HK$210
million/increased by HK$240 million as at 31 March 2020
(2019: decreased by HK$210 million/increased by HK$240

million).
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I5E A 1EEASEEE. ITHIEERERE
R /R ZE T (#8)

HERE (8)

MMERIR=E NN L 05%, EFEEMBEHST
BrERT, RIEEE-F=-1+—HBEEE
EERSEMNERERER Méo,ooo 000E 7T,/
¥ /M70,000,0007E ¢ (—E— .4 B &80
160,000,000 7T) o

FIXBE AR E6%, ﬁ'ﬁfﬁi@!&fb%ﬁm/ﬁd\
05%, TEAEHMBEMZIEZBERNT, RS
TEFE-RC T HBEEEELRSBEUMNE
M8 FE 5,)210,000,00078 75,1 11240,000,000
BT (CEBE—NF 1 E2210,000,0005 7T, 1871
240,000,000 7T) o
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT/DEPOSITS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15. 2. MmN RS WEYE. BIRkREZEN

PAID FOR ACQUISITION OF PROPERTY, PLANT HiES
AND EQUIPMENT
(a) Property, plant and equipment OR/ENE LV
Plant, Furniture,
Leasehold machinery fixtures Statues
landand  Leasehold and Motor  and office and Total
building improvement  equipment vehicles  equipment artwork
‘ RE. BE
HELH LN NS HEX \
RIEF  HEEE Rl HE Rk aiim st
HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000 HK$000  HK$000  HK$000
TET TET TET TET TET TET TET
COST Mz
At Aprl 2018 PZZ2—-N\ERE—H B8 265970 201,095 169,195 672,071
Translation adjustments ERHE - (10) (423) (130) (563)
Transfer from deposits EEA 41,633 - - 209,698 35,399 286,653
Additions wE 38,625 75 10,248 9,649 99,795 64 81,456
Disposals HeE (35,811 (12,357) (2,503) (7308) (57,979)
At 31 March 2019 R_E—NF=F=1—H 38,625 4708 963,851 207,818 394,950 35,386 981,638
Translation adjustments ERAE - (29) (447) (198) (667)
Transfer from deposits BRES - - - 5,684 5,684
Additions hE 58 5,707 5,691 39,078 43,664
Disposal of subsidiaries RS (T
(Nofe 47(0) HENBAZ (H347() - - - (1,718) (1,718)
Disposals HeE - (3153) (124,949 (5510) (133,612)
At 31 March 2020 RIE"RFEZA=1—H 38,625 41766 966,383 86,043 404,786 35386 894,989
DEPRECIATION AND e
IMPAIRMENT R E
At1 Aprl 9018 PZE—-N\FRA—H 35,796 188,563 39,133 87170 343,662
Translation adjustments ERHEE - (10) (324) (115) (449)
Provided for the yeor AEERE 999 8,18 96,069 1,567 40,777 3,087 90,817
Impairment loss recognised B HESTELEFE 12,488 - 120,704 89,688 1353 234,933
Eliminated on disposals HERHHE (35,811) (12,05) (2,431) (719) (57,466)
At 31 March 2019 R_E2-NE=-B=1+—H 999 20,591 202,517 161,649 210,401 14,640 610,797
Translation adjustments EQEE - (18) (390) (143) (551)
Provided for the year AEERE 1332 8,740 95,685 6,674 47389 3,546 93,366
Disposal of subsidiaries RS (2
(Note 47(0) HEMBAR (H547(0) - - - (1,718) (1,718)
Eliminated on disposals HEBRHH - (2,874) (99,949) (4,179) (107,002)
At 31 March 2020 RERE-F=1—H 9,331 99,33] 995,310 67,984 951,750 18186 594,892
CARRYING VALUE REME
At 31 March 2020 R_E-ERE-H-+—H 36,294 12,435 4,073 20,059 173,036 17000 300,097
At 31 March 2019 R-E2—NE=-B=1+—H 37,626 91,17 61,334 46,169 183,849 90,746 370,841
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For the year ended 31 March 2020

HE_E_

15.

TFEZRB=+—HLFE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT/DEPOSITS
PAID FOR ACQUISITION OF PROPERTY, PLANT
AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

(b) Deposits paid for acquisition of property, plant and
equipment
As at 31 March 2020, the Group has deposits of
HK$21,642,000 (2019: HK$29,842,000) paid to
independent third parties for acquisition of property,
plant and equipment.

(c) Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment
Since the recoverable amount of the hotel segment as
at 31 March 2020 is higher than its carrying amounts
of assets in the hotel segment, no impairment loss is
recognised during the year ended 31 March 2020,
whereas impairment loss of HK$234,233,000 was
recognised on property, plant and equipment in the
hotel segment for the last year ended 31 March 2019.

15. 2. MmN RS WEYE. BIRkREZEN

T ()

(b) FEMIR. B RFEEMNTE

ATETEF-_F=-+—H, 2EEDHK
BEYE. BN FREOEIIE = A2 2
21,642,00078 70 (ZZ—H.F 29,842,000 7T) o

(c) M. BMARRRERBE
HR_E_EF= )ﬂ +—HBEE DB A I [E]
SHEENREBENSMEENERERE, WREEC
ETEBEF-H= + H IS AR R E
B, MREE S N"EF=-A=+—Hitt—F
FERIFLEIE ﬂm%% R N R (R P ER B (B S
189234,233,000/8 70, B A W (o] 88 MR E B R
EIEE NS

Details of recoverable amount and impairment loss are

set out in note 14.

. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (ON OR AFTER 1 APRIL

6. EAREE (RZFE-—NAFHNA—HRZE)

2019)
2020
—TERF
HK$'000
T
At 31 March R=B=+—H
Right-of-use assets EREE
- Leasehold lands (Note) — A& i () 588,016
- Land and buildings — T K AEF 85,467
- Motor vehicle and office equipment —AEBERIAERE 1,519
675,002
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16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (ON OR AFTER 31 MARCH 16. FREEE R_SE—NE=B=+—H=Z%)
2019) (Continued) €]
The maturity analysis, based on undiscounted cash flows, of ERRERBRERENAEBHEEESENEIBHED
the Group's lease liabilities is as follows: M
2020
bS5
HK$'000
THET
- Less than 1 year ——FR 29,949
- Between 1 and 2 years —— FEMF 2 26,600
- Between 2 and 5 years —EERF 38,533
95,082
Note: New Concordia Hotel Limited (‘New Concordia”), a MEE © I AEBERREAR (FHE), ANF2
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, has been 2ENBRNE) B TIVEPIE kS KE
granted an irrecoverable and exclusive power of Z—mgtih (T ) 2RI RERBRZ
attorney ("POA”") in respect of interest in a parcel of RIEE ((RIEBE) ., BREBEAERRE, €
land situated on the Cotai Strip of Macau (the "Land’). HEMEARPEBHEHACEEXE, UE
Taken into consideration of a legal opinion, POA is H. fEeEo e aEm T HAERE R R
considered to be a legal instrument commonly used in 7o

Macau to grant, assign or transfer righfs, interest and
powers on or re|o’ring to the Land.

Since the recoverable amount of the hotel segment as at 31 EEI MNIE_EFF=-F=+—RHABEDE A UKC]E
March 2020 is higher than the carrying amounts of assets SREBENEEENKREE, HNEE_5 -
in the hotel segment, no impairment loss is recognised during = Efﬁ —+—HIEFEWEESRREBER. 6
the year ended 31 March 2020. Details of recoverable AW [o]& 58 MR E SRR B S M A 140

amount and impairment loss are set out in note 14.
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16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (ON OR AFTER 31 MARCH 16. EFAEEE (R-F-AEFE=A=+—HIZK)
2019) (Continued) €]
2020
“EBEF
HK$'000
FHET
Year ended 31 March BHE=ZB=T—HILEFE
Depreciation right-of-use assets EREEENTE
- Leasehold lands —HE i 46,730
- Land and buildings — T K AEF 27,700
- Motor vehicle and office equipment —RERAERE 146
74,576
Lease inferests HENE 3,578
Expenses related to short-term leases BRERBEREREEE 163.926
and leases of low-value assets SEHREZMAE '
Total cash outflow for leases HENRE ML AR 29,821
Additions to right-of-use assets NETEHEEE 15,597
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 47(a)) HEM B AT (M5E47(a))
- Decrease in right-of-use assets —EREEEERD (16,04¢6)
Cancellation of leases BUHEE
- Decrease in right-of-use assets —(EREEERD (1,982)
- Decrease in lease liabilities —HEaERD 1,836
The Group leases various leasehold lands, land and K%%ﬁ%%ﬂ@%ﬁ%iiﬁ\ TR T RSB Rl
buildings, motor vehicle and office equipment. Lease RNER o %ﬁ%ﬁﬁ% =8 Eﬁﬂ FRI8 & A1 =25,
agreements are typically made for fixed periods of 1to 25 EGRRTHEER! géﬁﬁ—fﬁ%ﬁ: @%%@T\ﬁ B)\]T‘%
years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis A o %ﬁ%%%ﬂﬂﬂﬂﬁ@ﬂmﬂﬂ%%, mAE&E
and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. ETSAFEERERER.

The lease agreements do not impose any covenants and

the leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing

purposes.
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17. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS (FOR THE YEAR 7. AL MBEERE (RBEE-_F-NF=B=+—H
ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 OR BEFORE) I FEE 2 F)
Analysed for reporting purposes as follows: HEREMAFWOT -
2019
—EnE
HK$'000
BT
Non-current assets EREEE 603,679
Current assets RENEE 47,305
650,984
The Group's prepaid land lease payments comprise AEE BN T HABAERIBIEMRU T A 2+
leasehold interest in land situated in: MW EER
2019
—e—pnE
HK$'000
TETT
Hong Kong 558 16,236
Macau (Note) YRR (MF5E) 634,748
650,984
Note: New Concordia Hotel Limited ("New Concordia"), PHEE . BT BEARAR (FHE), ANElzEe
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, has BB NE]) BE T IREPIRRIKE KB —
been granted an irrecoverable and exclusive power g3t (T3h)) 2 AR MIBR < IR
of attorney ("POA") in respect of interest in a (MR . REBLERRE, RIEBREW
parcel of land situated on the Cotai Strip of Macau BAEPBREEOEENE, U, 15
(the "Land"). Taken into consideration of a legal oy EERE L 1 ARRE BT, R NE T,

opinion, POA is considered to be a legal instrument
common|y used in Macau to grant, assign or
transfer rights, interest and powers on or relating to

the Land.
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17. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS (FOR THE YEAR 17.
ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 OR BEFORE) (Continued)

Since the recoverable amount of hotel segment as at 31
March 2019 was less than the carrying amount of assets

in the hotel segment, impairment loss of HK$752,137,000
was recognised on prepaid land lease payment in the hotel
segment for the year ended 31 March 2019.

ENLEEHE REE_E—AE=ZA=1+—H
IEFESZ A (@)

HR-_S—hF=-BA=+—HAED ﬁmTW@i
BENREBEDHEENERE, REE-S
EEEE+—B¢¢§EﬁEEﬁ%%ﬁﬁimm
ENIENE SR E B518752,137,0007 TTo

18. GOODWILL 18. HE
HK$'000
TET
COsT D%
) RZE—NEFENE—H. _E—IEXK
At 1 April 2018, 31 March 2019 and 2020 —=-—=s-g=4_Q 64,412
ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT HiHRE
) R_E—NEFENE—H. _E—IEXK
At 1 April 2018, 31 March 2019 and 2020 —=-—ms-g=4_Q (2,766)
CARRYING VALUE BRHE(E
At 31 March 2019 and 2020 R_E-NFrR T EF=F=+—H 61,646

For the purpose of impairment testing, the carrying amount
of goodwill has been allocated to the CGU of building
construction in the management contracting segment.

The recoverable amount of the above CGU has been
determined based on value in use calculations. The Group
prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent
financial budgets approved by the management for the next
two years (2019: two years) and extrapolates cash flows

for the following five years (2019: five years) with a steady
growth rate of 5% (2019: 5%). The rate used to discount

the forecast cash flows is 9% (2019: 9%). The value in use

is calculated based on the budgeted gross margin, which

is determined using the unit's past performance and the

management'’s expectations for the market development.

The management believes that any reasonably possible
change in any of these assumptions would not cause the
aggregate carrying amount to exceed the aggregate
recoverable amount.
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19. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

9. HthEFEE

2020 2019
= e
HK$'000 HK$'000
FiB7 Fiiz

Other intangible assets comprise: BEErEEGSE
Club membership in Hong Kong, at cost EBCEMEE, WA 7,000 7,000
Motor vehicles registration marks, at cost EERE TR, @A 1,062 1,062
8,062 8,062

The above intangible assets have indefinite useful lives. The

i]\_ﬁﬁ/

FEEE@@%E%OI NSIEES

directors of the Company are of the opinion that the club ERFHBERESRS, FefE N BB S 5 Te 05
membership and motor vehicles registration marks are worth Zfﬁfﬁﬁd%géﬁ/\\ﬁgﬁﬁfﬁo
at least their carrying amounts by reference to latest market
prices.
20. OBLIGATIONS IN EXCESS OF INTERESTS IN 20. BHBIE NEIESZEE
ASSOCIATES
2020 2019
—EBCEF “Z2-NEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T8
N 4 KK SN >
Cost of unlisted investments in associates REFFLPBEATZ 1,561 1,561
%N
Share of post-acquisition losses and other BWERZEEN
comprehensive expenses, net of dividends HM2mpasz, Mk (10,563) (10,788)
received EUER B
(9,002) (9,227)
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20. OBLIGATIONS IN EXCESS OF INTERESTS IN 20. BHBE NEES 2 BT (8)
ASSOCIATES (Continued)
Aggregate information of associates that are not BB IEEE VEE N T v B FEE .

2l.

individually material:

2020 2019
e L
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ExT T
The Group's share of profit (loss) AEBE (L EHN (B18) 26 (2,560)
The Group’s share of other comprehensive income  Z< 52 B (5 EL it 2 1 W i 199 169
The Group's share of total comprehensive income AEEEGE2EYE (B
. 225 (2,391)
(expense) 4278
. . = 4 R AN D ol
Aggre-gof-e ccﬂjrymg omou-nf of fhe.Group? $%f&ﬂjgw SN NEEm (9,002) (9,227)
obligations in excess of interests in associates SEZREEE
Particulars of the Group's principal associate as at 31 March AEEFEMENTIN _SIHFTER_F—NE=
2020 and 2019 are set out in note 46(c). B =+—HZFBEY R EE46(c).
INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 21 EEDEMER
2020 2019
—go®E Tk
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET
U PN
Cost of unlisted investments in joint ventures TX;; FEPEEREZ 51,773 51,773
Share of post-acquisition profits and other BEWIEE 2 m R
oo pro T o 4 Hin2 EWE, KRB 34,704 49,37
comprehensive income, net of dividends received o
e
86,477 94,144
The summarised financial information in respect of the ERASEEASELENIZMBEEERLE L
Group's material joint venture, FT 1= E £ ERAT , He & B QBN SRR ERNE 27
and its wholly-owned subsidiary, FNFT BRI BB R BEBIZES T UTHBERETREREE
AN B is set out below. The summarised financial information VBHREERBEMM EEREYN BRI T2
below represents amounts shown in the joint venture's B8,

financial statements prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.
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R SRR M EE

21. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued) 21 REREER (1)
Financial position of the joint venture as at 31 March: BEPER_A =+ —HZHBERT
2020 2019
—T-T =g
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ExT &
Non-current assets ERFEE 195,847 219,046
Current assets TRENE EE 5,067 5,807
Current ligbilities mEhaE (10,905) (15,559)
Non-current liabilities EREEE (19,223) (23,358)
Net assets of the joint venture SETEEERE 170,786 185,936
The above amounts of assets and liabilities include the FTAEENEERBEIE M
following:
2020 2019
—ETER — &
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET T
Cash and cash equivalents BehEIESEEEH 4,850 5,379
Reconciliation of its net assets to the carrying amount of the BEPECEESERARSEMECHE !
interest in the joint venture:
QOQO 2019
—ETER “E-NEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Net assets of the joint venture SEPTEEERE 170,786 185,936
Proportion of the Group's ownership inferest AEBLGEPERERE
) o 50% 50%
in the joint venture w2 LB
. o N A RK A £
Co'rrymg‘o'mounf of the Group's interest AEERGErERR L 85,393 99 968
in the joint venture EREE
199

SOUTH SHORE HOLDINGS LIMITED



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr MG IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
RE-B-SE-A-tQIEE

21. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued) 20. R bR (1]8)
Results of the joint venture for the year ended 31 March: AEPEHE AT+ —HIFECEE
2020 2019
—EBCEH “E-NEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET &
Revenue I ON 10,835 11,224
(Loss) profit for the year FE (518) mrl (3,061) 4,748
Other comprehensive expense for the year FEHEME2ERX (12,089) (11,214)
Total comprehensive expense for the year FE>EBESZ4EEE (15,150) (6,466)
Aggregate information of joint ventures that are not BERwIEBEAR A EPECEREE
individually material:
2020 2019
=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET &
The Group's share of profit (loss) KEB# (L EHN (B18) 7 (81
The Group’s share of other comprehensive expense  Zx& E#H(H E M2 EFH L (99) (52)
The Group's share of total comprehensive expense  A~E2 [B 1 (5 2 [ 5 <5 4828 (92) (133)
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's interests AEEN &= P2 m 2
L 1,084 1,176
in joint ventures EREAR(E
Particulars of the Group's principal joint ventures as at 31 REBFTEGEPLENRN_S_EFN_E—HF=
March 2020 and 2019 are set out in note 46(d). B=+—H s 5H5 LM u$46(d)o
22. INVENTORIES 2. 78
The inventories were carried at cost and represent principa”y T?E\&EZK@J BE, E%?E BRES %fy BIEE A
food, beveroges and operating supp|ies which are to be ZER RNEEYE,

utilised in the ordinary course of operations.
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23. TRADE AND OTHER DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND 23. BH REMEBYRIA. ST RBHNIEA
PREPAYMENTS
2020 2019
—EoEE B
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET T
Trade debtors B ZIEWEIE 487,371 554,109
Less: Impairment allowance B OBERE (11,860) (13,515)
475,511 540,594
Advance payments to sub-contractors ERapEllE RN A N/ 218,282 157,894
Construction and material purchase costs paid on KAHEEZ Nz BER
- N 193,329 294,07
behalf of sub-contractors AR B AR A 33 070
HEWRIE, 1%
Other debtors, deposits and prepayments /\;ggiigg Tk 138,480 115,030
550,091 496,994
Less: Impairment allowance B OBERE (2,741) (339)
547,350 496,655
1,022,861 1,037,249
Trade debtors mainly arise from management contracting BESENTIBFEREAEEEER, ~AEERE
business. The Group's credit terms for its management BIEERCEERNEBE SR PER NG, BE
contracting business are negotiated at terms determined HAFR6OH 90 H T %,

and agreed with its trade customers. The credit periods are

ranging from 60 to 90 days.
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23. TRADE AND OTHER DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

The aged andlysis of trade debtors, net of impairment

cu||owonce, presen’red based on the invoice date at the end

of the reporting period is as follows:

23. B 5 NHEMEKRIA, T REMRIE ()

RI|BEHR, UHTEHASEESRIHRRE
BiRtkcEZREGEEZ RO T

2020 2019

—EIEHF —Z—NF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET BT

Within 90 days 90HM 424,907 491,086
More than 90 days and within 180 days BiEo0HB180H A 1,224 -
More than 180 days 180 H 49,380 49,508
475,511 540,594

The Group maintains a defined credit policy to assess the

credit quality of the trade customers. The collection is closely

monitored to minimise any credit risk associated with these

trade debtors.

The directors of the Company consider that there has not
been a significant change in credit quality of the trade

debtors and there was no recent hisfory of defouH, therefore

the amounts are considered recoverable. The Group does

not hold any collateral over these balances.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 5(b).
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24. CONTRACT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 24 ENEERAR
2020 2019
e e
Notes HK$'000 HK$000
UL T FilT
i 2REARER
Retention held by customers BERRHERES (a) 1,041,780 766,634
Unbilled revenue of construction contracts JEZRE 4 7 REEZ UL A (b) 2,010,407 1,679,207
Advances from customers of TN o
, FBWBRRESNE LIS (0) (853,322) (639,871)
construction contracts
2,198,865 1,805,970
Less: Impairment allowance A OBERE (5.374) (555)
2,193,491 1,805,415
Analysed for reporting purposes as: FLERE MM
(d)
LI
Contract assets BHNEE 2,688,865 0129,037
Contract liabilities SHEE (495,374) (323,829)
2,193,491 1,805,415
Retention held by customers expected ZEREFEEH H%EA—F@J
to be settled: HEE S REE
- within 12 months from the end of the — IR R AT
reporting period 1218 8 A 475949 332447
- after 12 months from the end of the — IR EHIREEET
reporting period 1218 2 & >03.83] 34167
1,041,780 766,634
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HE_E_

TFEZRB=+—HLFE

24. CONTRACT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (Continued)
Notes:

(a)

—
=

(d)

Retention held by customers represents the Group's
right to consideration for works performed and not

yet released by customers because the rights are
conditional upon the satisfaction of the service quality
by the customers over a certain period as stipulated

in the contracts. The retention held by customers are
transferred to the trade debtors when the rights become
unconditional, which is typically at the expiry date of the
period for the provision of assurance by the Group on
the service quality of the construction works performed
by the Group. The significant increase in the current
year is the result of the increase ongoing construction
contracts at the end of the year.

Unbilled revenue represents the Group's right to
consideration for works completed and not yet certified
because the rights are conditional upon the satisfaction
by the customers on the construction works completed
by the Group and the works is pending for the
certification by the customers. The unbilled revenue are
transferred to the trade debtors when the rights become
unconditional, which is typically at the time the Group
obtains the certification of the completed construction
works from the customers.

Advances from customers consist of the non-refundable
payment made by customers. Advances from customers
represent the Group's obligation to transfer goods or
services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration from the customers.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the
same contract are accounted for and presented on a net
basis.

The Group classifies the contract assets as current
because the Group expects to realise them in its normal
operating cycle. Details of the impairment assessment
are set out in note 5(b).

Contract liabilities of the Group, which are expected to
be settled within the Group's normal operating cycle, are
classified as current.

Revenue from construction contracts recognised during
the year ended 31 March 2020 that was included in
the contract liabilities at the beginning of the year was

HK$208,332,000 (2019: HK$651,112,000).
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25. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO ASSOCIATES/

25. FEUWR IBHENE B

JOINT VENTURES/JOINT OPERATIONS/OTHER

PARTNERS OF JOINT OPERATIONS

BHMBHNIE

(a) Amounts due from/to associates/joint ventures (o) FEW (JEHE/NE] /SO ERIE
(i) Amounts due from associates () FEWERZE/NT] —kIE
2020 2019
—g-gF T E
HK$ 000 HK$'000
Trade and other balances 85 M EMiEeR
Other balances HMA R 17,634 18,462
(i) Amounts due from joint ventures (i) B EEPETIE
2020 2019
—=f Sy
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET
Trade and other balances B 5 Mk EMAERR
Trade balances 85458 - 23,841
Other balances HiaE ek 3,558 129
Non-trade balance B F4EER 3,272 4,667
6,830 28,637
The trade balances due from joint ventures which ey AM@% B 5 mere FHEEHA0
have a credit period of 90 days on average are H, MRZ% jli B=+—HBM#EE
aged within 90 days based on the invoice date as HAEZEREAHMA,
at 31 March 2019.
(iii) Amount due to a joint venture (i) FET—RI& % h¥EFIE
2020 2019
—m-ms —= &
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET AT
Trade and other balance B 5 M E M5 R
Other balance HAA R 60 -
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25. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO ASSOCIATES/ 95. FEIR YRS NE] REhE BEEY BEH

JOINT VENTURES/JOINT OPERATIONS/OTHER BHEMB AR ()

PARTNERS OF JOINT OPERATIONS (Continued)

(b) Amounts due from/to joint operations/other partners (b) FEURH &%, AEEFHMBAIIE
of joint operations
Amounts represent balances due from and to joint TTIETEfHQ&ﬁTTA** T& (WEABHRHEEE
operations, which are deemed to be borne by other EEFEMBHRE) MEEEBEMBH G
partners of such joint operations, and other partners B MENAEXB N EEHBHMBHE ZIGERD
of joint operations. The balances due from joint 71 7523,970,00078 7T (—F — 14 1 1,289,00075
operations and other partners of joint operations 75) K254,056,0005 71 (ZE—F1.4F | 54,056,000
are HK$23,970,000 (2019: HK$1,289,000) BIT) . BNEEER A**%%Eﬁﬂ%ﬁt
and HK$54,056,000 (2019: HK$54,056,000), 2 S5 B 454,085,000 7T (ZF—LEF -
respectively. The balances due to joint operations and 54,056,00075 71) £223,503, OOO/;.ﬂfTB (ZE=—N
other partners of joint operations are HK$54,085,000 F 1 4,380,0007870) o

(2019: HK$54,056,000) and HK$23,503,000 (2019:
HK$4,380,000), respectively.

(i) Amounts due from joint operations/other partners () FEREEET SEEFHMBERTE
of joint operations

2020 2019
e S
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET BT

Trade and other balances B 5 Mk E M5 R
Trade balances B5 4% 337 769
Other balances H 45 e 7,930 520
Non-trade balances IEBZ4EER 69,759 54,056
78,026 55,345
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HE_E_

25. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO ASSOCIATES/

TFEZRB=+—HLFE

JOINT VENTURES/JOINT OPERATIONS/OTHER
PARTNERS OF JOINT OPERATIONS (Continued)

(b) Amounts due from/to joint operations/other partners

of joint operations (Continued)

@)

(ii)

Amounts due from joint operations/other partners
of joint operations (Continued)

The trade balances due from joint operations/other
partners of joint operations have a credit period

of 90 days on average and the aged analysis
presented based on the invoice date at the end of
the reporting period is as follows:

25. FEUWR IBHE NERERE B

EES V=L S

BHHMBH A (8)

(b) FEY N EEEY AEXFHMBHIE (1)

() BREEERT SEXBHMBHEIE B
TE BT/ Q8 EBAMBH B HHE
R TYEEEIA90H, MRS AR
EAMAEEZRIREDITOT :

2020 2019

—E-mE —h

HK$'000 HK$'000

Fit FiE

Within 90 days 90HA - 609
More than 180 days iEsoH 337 160
337 769

The above balance aged more than 180 days is J:Lﬁ%H%ﬁLBO H Z SERERAR. ANEE

past due. The directors of the Company consider
that there has not been a significant change in credit
quality of the joint operations/other partners of joint
operations and there is no recent history of default,
therefore the amount is considered recoverable.

Amounts due to joint operations/other partners of
joint operations

M DEEY GEERTHMBE N ZEE
BERESAE(, BORETREE, #ER
A FNAE R T U,

(i) ENEEER AEEBHMBHRE

2020 2019
—EITHF “ZE-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
T FiE

Trade and other balances 85 M EMmiE R
Trade balances B 54585 548 1,920
Other balances HaE sk 7,281 2,460
Non-trade balances B Z 4 e 69,759 54,056
77,588 58,436
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For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_E_ZF=-A=1+—HLFE

25. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO ASSOCIATES/ 25 R IS NE] BE R AEER BEE
JOINT VENTURES/JOINT OPERATIONS/OTHER HEHMBHERIE (B)
PARTNERS OF JOINT OPERATIONS (Continued)
(b) Amounts due from/to joint operations/other partners (b) FEW M EEET S EFHMB4ERIE (B)
of joint operations (Continued)
(i) Amounts due to joint operations/other partners of (i) BTSSR SEEFEMBAEIIE (E)
joint operations (Continued)
The trade balances due to joint operations/other FE{T B E: %%/é*ﬁ%%%ﬁ%%&i%ﬁ%%
partners of joint operations have a credit period R FEERA90H, MRS AR
of 90 days on average and the aged analysis TSHEHEAEEZRIBERBOTOT !

presented based on the invoice date at the end of

the reporting period is as follows:

2020 2019
It =
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET THETT
Within 90 days 90H - 1,332
More than 180 days iEsoH 548 588
548 1,920
Other balances and non-trade balances due from/to F‘%Hﬁz/ﬁﬁéﬁ%@ﬁ/é% ﬁ%/@ﬁ%%/éﬁ%
associates/joint ventures/joint operations/other partners of BHMmBN C HtiGaR N IFESEGARTE. %
joint operations are unsecured, interest-free and repayable BEXNBREREER, HEK—EaErEIIEE
on demand except for non-trade balance due from a joint 5 #5873,272,000/8 70 (ZE—J1L4F © 4,667,000787T)
venture of HK$3,272,000 (2019: HK$4,667,000) which B TEEFZR 6%t BB —EWEIELR
is interest bearing at a fixed rate of 6% per annum and is
repayable within one year.
Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 5(b)A ﬁ%ﬁxﬁfﬁ%ﬁfﬁi%ﬂ%ﬁﬁé Bﬁé{s(b)o
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For the year ended 31 March 2020
RE-B-SE-A-tQIEE

26. AMOUNT DUE FROM/TO A SUBSIDIARY OF A

SHAREHOLDER

(i) Amount due from a subsidiary of a shareholder

(ii)

B 7 R MG R

Trdde Oﬂd ofher bOlOﬂCQ

Trade balance g 5455

26. FEUWR /I —RBRER— BB L B RIE

(i) FEW—2RR—EWERRRE
2020 2019
—EIEF N
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET BT
94 94

The trade balance due from a subsidiary of a
shareholder which has a credit period of 90 days on
average are aged over 180 days based on the invoice
date and past due at the end of the reporting period.

The directors of the Company consider that there
has not been a significant change in credit quality of
the subsidiary of a shareholder and there is no recent

FEW— 2 RE—BINE AR B RiEer 2 F1aE
EfiA90H, MRREHRUBEEZEQRAEEY
BR 55 74818180 H 7 B & AR,

RRBEFRA, BR—BRE-—ENBELFZ
oG EEEREE AR, HAMESR
sLi%, HERAEEFNAER T,

history of default, therefore the amounts are considered

recoverob|e4

Amount due to a subsidiary of a shareholder (i) FEN—RIRR—RIMBATRIE
QOQO 2019
HK$ 000 HK$'000
FET TET
Trade and other balance B 5 M EMis R
Other balance Hihah ek 8,175 2,244
Other balance due to a subsidiary of a shareholder is FET — % Bt B8 — BB B 2 B w2 ELAAGE ER 2 R

unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_E_ZF=-A=1+—HLFE

27.

28.

OTHER LOANS RECEIVABLE 27. HIFEWRE N
2020 2019
—m-mi i
HK$'000 HK$'000
FiB7 Fiz
Other loans receivable HhEW SR 63,855 63,855
Less: Impairment allowance B OBERE (15,771) (7,693)
48,084 56,162

The other loans receivable are unsecured, interest beqring at
a floating rate at the best lending rate in Hong Kong plus
6% per annum and are repayable within one year.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 5(b).

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS, SHORT TERM BANK
DEPOSITS AND BANK BALANCES AND CASH

The p|edged bank deposifs represent deposifs p|edged fo
banks to secure banking facilities granted to the Group
with maturity within one year from the end of the reporting
period and are therefore classified as current assets.

The pledged bank deposits and short term bank deposits
with maturity less than three months carry prevoi|ing market
rates ranging from 0.35% to 2.6% (2019: 0.05% to 2.65%)
per annum. The bank balances carry prevailing market rates
ranging from 0% to 0.5% (2019: 0% to 0.5%) per annum.
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HMEWERSEIER, REBREBNEMER
6%:2 FBH KT R RAR—FRNER.

B RIRERH G Z S IEEN I EE5(b).

28. BEMRITENR. ERRTERMBITERRRE

EERBRTENEARRNER T BMEHREST
—FRIPCRTREMBRTRITZER 80
BARBEE.

BIEBRTERR DR =B 8 2B B RRRIT T
A E B FH0.35%22.65% (— S —/1LF | 0.05%%
2.65%) ZIRTTTIHFZR, BITEERMITEEE0%E0.5%
(CZE—NFE  0%E05%) 2 IR1THhEHI=E,
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fr MG IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
RE-B-SE-A-tQIEE

29. TRADE AND OTHER CREDITORS AND ACCRUED 29. B 5 R H Ath FE (S TRIE N FEST RS2
EXPENSES
2020 2019
=T - &
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ExT &
Trade creditors EZIENIE 548,987 677,028
A TR
Retention held by the Group expected to be settled: K%;};Fﬁﬂzﬁ /g;;f?.i
- within twelve ‘monfhs- from the end of — 3R HA S B EH0(E B 7Y 655,599 665,510
the reporting penod
- after twelve months from the end of . N ,
4 . —IREHRES2ER ' 412,627 253,566
the reporting period
1,068,226 919,076
Other creditors and accrued expenses HMENRIE R ETR X 1,735,369 1,560,742
3,352,582 3,156,846
The average credit period on trade creditors is 90 days. The B EENTIBZ FEEERAOH, AEERES
Group has financial risk management po|icies in p|oce fo mﬁﬂﬁ@m@ﬁz%, BRI EEMNELTEERE
ensure that all poy0b|es are within the credit time frame. Mo
The ctged cmc1|ysis of trade creditors presenfed based on the PREREHR, UEEHBEAREEERCEZENT
invoice date at the end of the reporting period is as follows: B ZERE DT -
2020 2019
-3 2 “ENF
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET T
Within 90 days 90HA 520,576 645,705
More than 90 days and within 180 days B0 HE180H 5,096 2,064
More than 180 days BiE1s0H 93,315 29,959
548,987 677,028
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HE_E_

TFEZRB=+—HLFE

30. DEPOSITS/EARNEST MONEY RECEIVED

(a)

On 28 June 2017, a subsidiary of the Company entered
into sale and purchase agreements in respect of the
disposal of its 51.76% interests in PYE, an indirect
subsidiary of the Company, to Precious Year Limited,
a wholly owned subsidiary of ITC Properties Group
Limited ("ITCP"), a listed company whose shares are
listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 199), and
Tycoon Bliss Limited, a company wholly owned by

Mr Chan Fut Yan, the deputy chairman and executive
director of PYE and also the managing director and
executive director of ITCP, for a total consideration

of HK$300,000,000 (the "Disposal”). As at 31
March 2020, deposits of HK$179,000,000 (2019:
HK$179,000,000) were received pursuant to the sale
and purchase agreements. The Disposal was approved
by the Company’s independent shareholders at a
special general meeting held on 8 May 2018, in which
the completion of the disposal is conditional upon the
fulfilment of certain conditions as set out in the circular
of the Company dated 28 March 2018.

On 4 January 2019, the Company entered into a
non-binding memorandum of understanding with an
associate of a substantial shareholder of the Company
for a potential investment in the Company’s subsidiary
that beneficially owns The 13 Hotel for a consideration
not exceeding HK$1,500,000,000. As at 31 March
2020, the Company has received earnest money of

HK$70,000,000 (2019: HK$70,000,000).

On 14 and 15 October 2019, a subsidiary of the
Company entered into the Hotel Disposal Agreements
with purchasers relating to the disposal of a 50% interest
in a subsidiary of the Company that beneficially owns
the Hotel (the "Hotel Disposal”). During the year ended
31 March 2020, deposits of HK$45,000,000 were
received pursuant to the Hotel Disposal Agreements.
Subsequently, the Hotel Disposal Agreements were
lapsed on 1 September 2020 and the deposits received
shall be refunded to the purchasers as appropriate and
in accordance with the Hotel Disposal Agreements.

3QEWﬂﬁ/ﬁn$

(a)

(b)

—tEFSRBZ+H/\H, ARBIWEAR
SIS EWE, NERIREPrecious Year L|m|fed
(ﬁﬁmﬁ%lﬁﬁ B (ME#EHE), AL™
NE), HRRMOPRERSA B (BRm T 1199) &
2 EHIEB /N E]) MTycoon Bliss Limited ((REEFE 3
BEENATERREEMES SRCERH
TEEMRBREAELEHECNE) HEAR
B2 M B N BRIEE S 7%l is, FAMN(E
%Kmomxmo%m(wﬁiiﬁﬁ ﬁ&:*:
EF-F=+—H, DRBREERzWIILE
179,000,00078 71 (ZFE—714F 1 179,000,0005
). HESEER - E—/\ERAF/\H£7T72
ISR A E DB N BRI R E, HESE
%E%EFW#E%%&E SeAk, EFIBEEHINA
NEIHA—S—/\F=A-+/\HZEX.

\77—_,

/\*,,

—NE—ANH, RAAFEARN
%1%&%%%@@ Jﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ,
REREEREE T AL —BWEBLAS
T i8381,500,000,00009 78 T /B F IR E o 2
ECEF-FB=-+—H, ALDEELZTA
£/70,000,000 8 T E S (2 — 14 !
70,000,000/ 7T) o

RE-BE—NE+A+UERTAR, AAF— W
WEADHHEERERBEZALNBINER
ym@é(@ﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁ%
HE. BE_ B EFEF-F=-+—HIEFER,
E%Ea%%/@fﬁ‘%Tfmuﬁuﬁzﬁyﬂ‘i\zxs,ooo,ooo%m
BEHERZHEN _E-EFNA—HEEXL
¥, BWEGET R BRBASE HERZBEMER
FTEEH.
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HE_E_

3.

32.

TFEZRB=+—HLFE

AMOUNT DUE TO A RELATED COMPANY/LOAN
FROM A RELATED COMPANY

The amount due to a related company is unsecured,

interest-free and is repayable within one year.

The loan from a related company is unsecured, interest

bearing at 15% per annum and is repayable within one year.

The related company is a company wholly owned by a
director of the Company.

LOAN FROM A SUBSIDIARY OF A SHAREHOLDER

The loan from a subsidiary of a shareholder is unsecured
and is repayable on demand.

The loan from a subsidiary of a shareholder amounting

to HK$70,000,000 (2019: HK$70,000,000) and
HK$5,000,000 (2019: HK$5,000,000) are interest
bearing at a floating rate at the best lending rate in Hong
Kong plus 2% per annum and at a fixed rate of 15% per
annum respectively.
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31

32.

FEAS—FERAE R BRI, — R RE R B AR
BN —HERELRRBES BT RENER—F
MEE,

—RERELR B ERAEIER, REN K%t B &RA
R—FREE
FENRSERNE]—RES2EHEEZN

—% KRR BB ER

—HRE—ENB ARG EER, WARREXR
iSEIEPE

— B — BN BB 570,000,000/ 7T (—
Z—fL£F 1 70,000,000 71) K25,000,00078 7T (—
=E— 14 1 5,000,00057T) D AEEEREBEEHN X
BN B 2% iF BN F) R N AR [E T EF] FK15%:1 Bo
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For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_E_ZF=-A=1+—HLFE

33. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 33. SRAT R ELARfERR

2020 2019
—E-mE —E
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Bank borrowings RITERR 3,957,224 3,541,624
Other borrowing (note) HhEm (REE) 854,504 595,000
4,811,728 4,136,624

Analysed as: P2
Secured B 3,676,224 3,891,624
Unsecured IR 1,135,504 245,000
4,811,728 4,136,624
Note: The other borrowings at 31 March 2020 which Wt REIEEBEF-—A -+ —HZ2HMERIE

include:

(i) Unsecured borrowings from a substantial () ARRBE—%HFEREC TERE 7 EIEFIHR
shareholder of a substantial shareholder B, KREIEER4134,300,0008 70, HE
of the Company with principal balance of FEKIOWEIS%FTE, BRMENER,
HK$134,300,000, carries interest at 10% to Ne;

15% per annum and repayable within two years
and;

(ii) Unsecured borrowings from a director of certain (ii) K@ El %? Bﬁ% NS Z_% %%Zfﬂﬁﬁ#ﬁ
subsidiaries of the Company with principal BFN, ANEHEER#45000,0005 70, ZE
balance of HK$45,000,000, carries interest at FZEI5%ETE, BRMENER,

15% per annum and repayable within two years.
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33. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued) 33 RIT R EAMER (1)
The bank and other borrowings are repoyob|e as follows: WIT R EMERTZEERDOT
2020 2019
=Sl 3= 5 —Z—NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
On demand or within one year iENER—FENEHR 4,297,428 4,119,124
More than one year, but not exceeding two years Bis—F, BABBEmE 514,300 10,000
More than two years, but not exceeding five years BB, B8 HF - 7,500
4,811,728 4,136,624
Less: Amount due within one year shown B — FREIER S E R E)
under current liabilities =RE O] (4,297,428) (4119,124)
Amount due after one year shown under —F B BB S EIE TR B
non-current liabilities 8B HIE 514,300 17,500
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RE-B-SE-A-tQIEE

33. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued) 33 RTT R HMER (1)
At 31 March 2020, carrying amounts of bank and other /\\:ffffﬁ_ﬁ —+—H, WBEBEREREE
borrowings that contain a repayment on demand clause BIEFRBIBEEN HECTATE iﬁﬁﬁ BR—FA
and are repayable within one year based on scheduled %@Eﬁﬁ{ﬁ%?,éﬂ ,924,0008 70 (ZF—4F
repayment dates of the loan agreements amounting to 587,200,000/ 70) Z BRI TER ﬁigﬁfﬁ nEaE,

HK$2,841,924,000 (2019: HK$587,200,000) have been

classified as current liabilities.

The Group's bank borrowings carry interest at floating rates AEBERFHF LT ECBITENR, HFHF ERZE
ranging from Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate ("HIBOR”) *%fﬁﬁﬂ%%ﬁ B (MEBRTRZERE) MIeE
plus 1.7% to 3.50% (2019: HIBOR plus 2% to 3.50%), with 350% (ZE—F | REBRTEZEREN%E
effective interest rates ranging from 2.96% to 5.89% (2019: 3.50%) D+/%\? EREFRZEANF296%455.89% (— ==
3.29% to 5.61%) per annum. The Group's other borrowings — L 1 3.29%E5.61%) o AR HMEFURET
carry inferest at fixed rates of 10% to 25% per annum (2019: FRFENF10%E25% (ZF—LF | 7%5225%) 51 Eo

7% to 25%).

As at 31 March 2020, the secured bank and other RTEEF=/F=+—H, BIRFEITLHEM
borrowings and the banking facilities granted to the BN AL EER T 2RITRE T U AL EER
Group are secured by the Group's certain hotel property, MHAEE D 722,652,890, OOO/%E (BN
property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets (2019: 2,863,716,000757T) « & (& — % | 32,000,000
prepaid land lease payments), inventories and bank HETT) . 588,016,00075 7T (7 =E— . 1 650,984,000
deposits with a carrying value of HK$2,652,890,000 Bro) B (CE—4F 119,725000570) £2291,000
(2019: HK$2,863,716,000), nil (2019: HK$32,000,000), BT (CE—LF 116,044,000 70) 2 & THEEY)
HK$588,016,000 (2019: HK$650,984,000), il X WE. kB SREEE (CE-NF:
(2019: HK$19,725,000) and HK$291,000 (2019: %Eﬁiﬂﬁﬂi%mk) GFENRBITERUN A EE S
HK$16,044,000), respectively, and charges over the BRERENEFE A B NAEBRETHRERR
Group's benefits from certain construction contracts and the 7@%«5?&#&

Group's interests over certain subsidiaries.
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BE_BEZF-_B=-+—HILFE

33. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued) 33 SRIT R EfhER (&)

Certain bank and other borrowings of the Group are
subject to covenant clauses, whereby the subsidiaries are
required to meet certain stipulated financial ratios. As at 31
March 2020 and up to the date of the approval of these
consolidated financial statements, certain loan covenants of
the Group's bank borrowing of approximately HK$2,842
million outstanding as at 31 March 2020 (2019: HK$2,942
million), which require the opening of the Group's hotel in
Macau to be no later than 31 March 2017 (subsequently
extended to 31 July 2017) and all authorisations for the
operation of hotel business to be obtained. The Group has
applied for a further extension of the hotel opening date to
31 August 2018 due to the further delay in the hotel opening.
The Group obtained all the licenses for the operation of hotel
business in August 2018 and the hotel opened on 31 August
2018. In addition, the Group also had not complied with
certain financial covenants as stipulated in the bank loan
agreement which require the Group to meet certain amount
of consolidated tangible net worth and certain ratio of its
consolidated net bank borrowings to consolidated tangible
net worfh, after net of the impairment loss on the hotel
property at approximately HK$3,711 million, right-of-use
assets/prepaid land lease payments at approximately
HK$752 million and property, plant and equipment of
approximately HK$234 million in the consolidated financial
statements respectively. The Group has applied for a waiver
to strictly compliance to meet with certain of these financial
covenants. As at the date of approval of these consolidated
financial statements, such extension and waiver for the
non-compliance of the covenants as stated in the bank loan
agreement is being processed by the bank. The Group will

closely monitor its financial position to ensure the compliance

with the relevant financial covenants and undertaking
requirements at the end of the reporting period.

AEEE T RIT N EMERT ZEERFTRES,
Bit, WBABRBREE TIREVHLEER, RIS
TEF-BA-+—ANEERAUEREREE
ZH, AEER_SE-EBEF-_HA=-1+—HBKE
BERITERN(2,842,000,0008 71 (ZE— L4 :
2,942,000,0007870) w & T ENTHERAEE B
FUBER _ESE—tF A =+—H ERILHEE_
E—tFERA=1+—H) sIRENEUSKERIEE
BemEiE, ARNBERSE—FTER, ~EE
ERESEEHEERBEE—THBEE_S—/\F/\
B=1+—H. "&EER _E—/\FE/\BDEEKE
EIEEBCBREE, BEEEN_S—/\F/\HB
—+—HBER. ItH, KEBNTAEETIRTER
ks AN E TH B, ERERAEERGRE
B ER IR 0 B BR B IR ) 2R E B 1R T3,711,000,000
B, EREBEE AN T EENIE R EBEN
752,000,00078 70 e W25, B N B Rl (B E5 1R 1Y
234,000,00078 0, HEafraBFEEFEE TS
BNERGHRTEIFREEGFAEFEEFENL
X, AEBEBHRBHREBEETE T U T EEE,
BEGREMBREELECR, BT EEERIEESR
IERAR RE R B E ST IRIT BN P E2EE 2 B o
AEERRVERATHERT, BERNRIRSHERE
SPABRE TS 52 R A& EE 2 IR E
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ECE_SF=R=+—HLEE

34. CONVERTIBLE BONDS
(i) Convertible bonds issued on 5 February 2013 (the

34, AR E S
() RZE—=FE_BARARTILRES (S

"February 2013 Convertible Bonds")

The Company issued 1,202,000,000 February

2013 Convertible Bonds with zero coupon rate at an
initial conversion price of HK$0.68 each (subject to
anti-dilutive adjustments) on 5 February 2013 for a total
proceed of HK$1,202,000,000 (the principal amount).
The maturity date is the twelfth anniversary of the date
of issue of the February 2013 Convertible Bonds (the
"Maturity Date”). The February 2013 Convertible Bonds
entitle the holders to convert them into ordinary shares
of the Company at any time commencing on the date
of issue of the February 2013 Convertible Bonds and

up to the close of business on a day no later than seven
days prior to the Maturity Date (both days inclusive). If
the convertible bonds have not been converfed, fhey will
be redeemed on the Maturity Date at the face value of
February 2013 Convertible Bonds. The Company, from
the fifth anniversary of the date of issue of the February
2013 Convertible Bonds, may redeem the convertible
bonds in whole or in part, at principal and interest of 5%
per annum accrued for the remaining period from early
redemption date to the maturity date. The proceeds of
the February 2013 Convertible Bonds were allocated
into two components, debt and equity elements on initial
recognition. The fair value of the equity component

is HK$1,029,614,000 and the fair value of the debt
component which is determined using the effective
interest rate of the debt component at approximately
18.1% per annum is HK$172,386,000.

At 31 March 2020 and 31 March 2019, the adjusted
conversion price of the February 2013 Convertible

Bonds was HK$13.18 per share.

On initial recognition, the transaction costs

incurred for the issuance of the convertible bonds
totalling HK$60,395,000 were allocated into

the debt component and the equity component of
HK$8,662,000 and HK$51,733,000, respectively, in
proportion to the allocation of the gross proceeds.

—=FEZAHBERESE)
ARNBR_E—=F B A HZRYT K EBE0.68
BT (W EH R #58FH %) £5171,202,000,000
KEER_S—=F_F0RKES, NEHE
#4858 #41,002,000,0008 7t (A£48) . FIHEA

TE— g BrRRESETHBRS R T
BeoR (MFI#HA) . —ZS—=%_FoJ#iE
ERFTEHEFATR S —=F " Ao/aREsas
THHEBEBELEERSHA AR tEEZE (B
EEEMH) €5 %R v B N RS « &
HARNE 2T ER. Mo R ES R,
FREFAEIR —E—=F _ArERESvHE
BHEE, B-E—=—F_FrBRESFETHE
BRBFRE, ANEIEEFEELE =R
R T BRI A 2 BB N ) 3502 RET A EHE
Bl E D A mRES. —F—=F_F iR
B Z 2 FTSFUER )P HEERRs 7 B = (@ 48
BB - BEN AT EE&.B )N A
1,029,614,0007 71, ﬁ‘ﬁﬁaﬂ DN ETIRE
I 2 BERFERIENS %= E, EN72,386,000
AT

ATETEF-AC++—HAN_ES-NE=ZR
=+—H, fi—:fﬁfﬁﬁﬁ‘eﬁxﬁ%m%%%
AR B AT RR13.1875 7T,

R HEERry, REToBRESELE RSN
zrs:..ﬁ%éos%ooo;%m RIERTS ME%'@E
PELEB DB D B E a8 EE D MR,

71 458,662,000 7T 251,733,000 710
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ECE_SF=R=+—HLEE

34. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued) 34. AJ ARG B S ()
(i) Convertible bonds issued on 16 December 2013 (the (i) RZE—=F+"BA+/SBRT R E%S

"December 2013 Convertible Bonds")

The Company issued 299,942,350 December 2013
Convertible Bonds with zero coupon rate at an

initial conversion price of HK$8.23 each (subject to
anti-dilutive adjustments) on 16 December 2013 for

a total proceed of HK$299,942,350 (the principal
amount). The maturity date is on 5 February 2025. The
December 2013 Convertible Bonds entitle the holders
to convert them into ordinary shares of the Company
at any time commencing on the date of issue of the
December 2013 Convertible Bonds and up to the close
of business on a day no later than seven days prior to 5
February 2025 (both days inclusive). If the December
2013 Convertible Bonds have not been converted,

they will be redeemed on 5 February 2025 at the face
value of the December 2013 Convertible Bonds. The
Company, from 5 February 2018, may redeem the
December 2013 Convertible Bonds in whole or in part,
at principal and interest of 5% per annum accrued for
the remaining period from early redemption date to 5
February 2025. The proceeds of the December 2013
Convertible Bonds were allocated into two components,
debt and equity elements on initial recognition. The
equity element is presented in equity heading convertible
bonds reserve. The December 2013 Convertible Bonds
have been valued as at 16 December 2013 on the basis
carried out at that date by Asset Appraisal Limited, an
independent qualified professional valuer not connected
with the Group. The fair value of the equity component
is HK$252,551,000 and the fair value of the debt
component which is determined using the effective
interest rate of the debt component at approximately
18.5% per annum is HK$47,391,000.

At 31 March 2020 and 31 March 2019, the adjusted
conversion price of the December 2013 Convertible
Bonds was HK$16.56 per share.

On initial recognition, the transaction costs

incurred for the issuance of the convertible bonds
totalling HK$12,408,000 were allocated into the
debt component and the equity component of
HK$1,960,000 and HK$10,448,000, respectively, in
proportion to the allocation of the gross proceeds.

(IZEBE—=F+Z B ES)
ANBIRN B —=F+ "B+ BHRNFTBRE
8.2378 7T (W EFH R EEFE) 5817299,942,350
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IE%'%E%2999423502§75($3%§E) FHRHAC
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47,391,00078 710
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34. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued) 34. AT RR(EZS (1)
(iii) Convertible bonds issued on 8 January 2015 (the (i) RZB—RAFE—B/N\ BT RRES (125

"January 2015 Convertible Bonds")

The Company issued 755,300,000 January 2015
Convertible Bonds with zero coupon rate at an

initial conversion price of HK$3.00 each (subject to
anti-dilutive adjustments) on 8 January 2015 for a

total proceed of HK$755,300,000 (the principal
amount). The maturity date is on 5 February 2025.
The January 2015 Convertible Bonds entitle the holders
to convert them into ordinary shares of the Company
at any time commencing on the date of issue of the
January 2015 Convertible Bonds and up to the close

of business on a day no later than seven days prior to

5 February 2025 (both days inclusive). If the January
2015 Convertible Bonds have not been converted,

they will be redeemed on 5 February 2025 at the face
value of the January 2015 Convertible Bonds. The
Company, from 5 February 2018, may redeem the
January 2015 Convertible Bonds in whole or in part,

at principal and interest of 5% per annum accrued for
the remaining period from early redemption date to

5 February 20925. The proceeds of the January 2015
Convertible Bonds were allocated into two components,
debt and equity elements on initial recognition. The
equity element is presented in equity heading convertible
bonds reserve. The January 2015 Convertible Bonds
have been valued as at 8 January 2015 on the basis
carried out at that date by Asset Appraisal Limited, an
independent qualified professional valuer not connected
with the Group. The fair value of the equity component
is HK$629,747,000 and the fair value of the debt
component which is determined using the effective
interest rate of the debt component at approximately
19.9% per annum is HK$125,553,000.

At 31 March 2020 and 31 March 2019, the adjusted
conversion price of the January 2015 Convertible Bonds
was HK$6.03 per share.

On initial recognition, the transaction costs

incurred for the issuance of the convertible bonds
totalling HK$27,915,000 were allocated into the

debt component and the equity component of
HK$4,640,000 and HK$23,275,000, respectively, in
proportion to the allocation of the gross proceeds.

—HE—AHBERES))
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34. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

The movements of the debt component
2013 Convertible Bonds, the December

R SRR M EE

34,

of the February
2013 Convertible

Al ESS (18)
BHE_EFEF-_HA=-"1+—HKEK_Z—h&=H
—t+—HIEFE, ZF—=

— =

FPRBMERES

Bonds and the January 2015 Convertible Bonds for the E-——F+_BroRESN_E—AF—A0/#
years ended 31 March 2020 and 31 March 2019 are set out REZS BRI D 2 B8R~ -
below:
February 2013 December 2013 January 2015
Convertible Convertible Convertible
Bonds Bonds Bonds Total
“2—=fF “E-=F “E-0fF
—_R +ZA —H
okREs  ARkEs  PakEs Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
TET TET TET FET
At1 April 2018 RIZ—N\FHEAE—H 373,068 94,008 917,535 684,611
Effective interest expense for the year FRERNERY 67,405 17,358 43,367 128,130
At 31 March 2019 RZE-NF=A=+—H 440,473 11,366 260,902 812,741
Effective interest expense for the year FERERHN BB 79,585 20,563 52,014 152,162
At 31 March 2020 R_EEF-F=+—H 520,058 131,929 312,916 964,903
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35. DEFERRED TAXATION

The followings are the major deferred tax liabilities (assets)

recognised and movements thereon during the current and

35 RERRIE
RAEENDFFEDEREBRIERIEEE (8
) LU AER =S T ¢

prior years:
Accelerated
tax depreciation Tax losses Total
MBMEITE MIEE 8 4B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FET TET
At1 April 2018 RIE-—N\ENE—H 8,746 (8,746) -
(Credit) charge to profit or loss R GrA) Mk (289) 289 -
At 31 March 2019 RIB-NE=A=+—H 8,457 (8,457) -
(Credit) charge to profit or loss RiE@m GrA) Mk (1,086) 1,086 -
At 31 March 2020 RIEZEF=A=+—H 7,371 (7,37 -
For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated MIREH R RERNZIME, FRRERIBEEE
statement of financial position, the above deferred tax assets LeEe T,
and liabilities have been offset.
As at 31 March 2020, the Group has unused tax losses of ANTECSFE-H-+—H, XEEEXRTHRIE
HK$1,703,003,000 (2019: HK$1,305,633,000) available }§581,703,003,00075 77, (—F—J14F 11,305,633,000
for offsetting against future taxable profits. A deferred B7t) B BLURIBB AR RERR AN 7t mEE

tax asset has been recognised in respect of such losses of
HK$44,674,000 (2019: HK$51,257,000). No deferred tax
asset has been recognised in respect of the remaining tax
losses of HK$1,658,329,000 (2019: HK$1,254,376,000)
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. The
unused tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group has deductible temporary
difference of HK$245,586,000 (2019: HK$244,945,000).
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in relation

to such temporary difference as it is not probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary difference can be utilised.

In addition, there are no undistributed earnings of the PRC
subsidiaries as at 31 March 2020 and 2019.
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44,674,000 71 (—F—JL4F 1 51,257,00072 7©) EHE
SRILIRIEE . BN RBERETE RIEF IR,

7 4 5L TR BR AR IE 5 481,658,329,00078 7T, (ZF—11,
F 11,254,376,000570) FESE AIRLRIEE E, K5

AMRIERIE P T ER G,

ATETEF—A=+—H, KAEEH245,586,000
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36. LEASE LIABILITIES 6. HE&E

Lease payments

Present value of

lease payments

HEUH HENHZRE
2020 2020
—s-ss —2-nE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET
Within one year —&FR 29,949 27112
In the second to fifth years, inclusive E_ERFE (BEEEME) 65,133 62,197
95,802
Less: Future finance charges B RRUHEA (5,773)
Present value of lease liabilities HEEEZIRE 89,309 89,309
Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 months B T2EE REIERAE B RUE (27112)
(shown under current liabilities) GIRPNRBEEIET) '
Amount due for seftlement after 12 months (shown under o8 A R REERIE Gln 60197

FOERBSEET)

non-current liabilities)

At 31 March 2020, the average effective borrowing rate
was 7.6%. Interest rates are fixed at the contract dates and

BF =AM,

thus expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk.

37. SHARE CAPITAL 37. A

\ZB-BEF=A={—H, FTHER
Tow MIENEHEBEE, BlASBEEEAT

Number of ordinary shares

BEMES

EREREE
at HK$0.20 per share Amount
5R090ETT g2
HK$'000
TET
Authorised: FE .
At 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2020 RIE—NE=E=+—HBkK
e o 25,000,000,000 5,000,000
—ET2F-FB-1+—H
Issued and fully paid: BETRER
At 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2020 R_E-NE=-B=1+—0k
o 1,012,953,711 209,591
—E-E2E-H=+—H 01293, 023
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38. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 11 August 2015 (the "Adoption Date”), the Company
adopted a new share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentive or reward
to any employees, executives or officers, directors of the
Group or any invested entity and any consultant, adviser

or agent of any member of the Group or any invested
entity, who have contributed or will contribute to the growth
and development of the Group or any invested entity (the
"Eligible Person"). The Share Option Scheme will remain in
force for a period of ten years from the Adoption Date.

Under the Share Option Scheme, the directors of the
Company may at their discretion grant options to any
Eligible Person to subscribe for shares in the Company.
Consideration to be paid on each grant of option is
HK$1.00. The exercise price is determined by the directors
of the Company and will be at least the higher of: (i) the
subscription price as is permissible under Listing Rules from
time to time; and (i) the nominal value of the shares of the
Company.

Any options granted pursuant to the Share Option Scheme
will be exercised over a period of not more than 10 years
from the date of grant of the relevant options (subject to
the provisions for early termination contained in the Share
Option Scheme).

The maximum number of shares that may initially be issued
upon the exercise of all options to be granted under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme(s)
Gdop’red by the Company must not in aggregate exceed
10% of the total number of issued shares of the Company

as at its Adoption Date, i.e. 92,086,701 shares of the
Company. Subject to the approval of the shareholders of
the Company in general meeting, the limit may be refreshed
to 10% of the total number of shares of the Company in
issue as at the date of approval by the shareholders of

the Company in general meeting. Notwithstanding the
forgoing, the maximum number of shares of the Company
which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of the
Company must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the total
number of shares of the Company in issue from time to time.
Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at the Company's
special general meeting held on 8 May 2018, the 10%
scheme limit was refreshed to 101,295,371, representing 10%
of the total number of issued shares of the Company as at
the date of such meeting.

38. FERRTEETE

RTE-—RENA+—H (EWBEH)), FARFH%
W—IEHT BB IR EST ) (TFERMESTE))) , UAHEL
REHAEENEAIRERBCBERERIFHE
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+F
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(AR B R 2 E B,

RIFR RS 8K B 2 E R RAER p] AERE R AR
TR v BECST N BIE + 2 B A T LUT 6 (I
TR BT H IR FRILIEXAAR) o

IRIREB RS ARS8 N AN B PRI 2 BT {n) B8 AR 42
SRR E 2 BB B BT R RIDE

H, 6N EBEANTNINEHBRESEITRDE
E,710%, £192,086, 701 AN BN, WIEEARN
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BEWI, FTEERBEREST 8 AN BEMT
I RERRIEST B IR B i R T 2 BB AR AR T (BT o)
FEOCRZROEE, LT EBEARLNE TE
BTN B Z30%, BIBEBARANENR _S—/\F
FANBETZRERRAZEG ZE8RESE,
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38. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The maximum number of shares of the Company in respect
of which options may be granted to each Eligible Person
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option scheme(s) of the Company (including both exercised,
cancelled and outstanding options) in any 12-month period
shall not exceed 1% of the total number of shares of the
Company in issue from time to time unless such grant has
been duly approved by shareholders of the Company

in general meeting at which the Eligible Person and his
associate (as defined in the Listing Rules) abstained from
voting. Options granted to a substantial shareholder and/
or an independent non-executive director of the Company
or any of their respective associates (as defined in the
Listing Rules) in any 12-month period in excess of 0.1% of
the total number of the Company in issue and have an
aggregate value exceeding HKS$5 million must be approved
by the shareholders of the Company in general meeting in
advance.
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38. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Details of movements in the share options of the Company
granted under the Share Option Scheme during the year

ended 31 March 2020 are as follows:

38. EIRIESTEI ()

BEFT EF-_A=-—T—HLEFEARIEEE
REESTEIR L IBRIEBS SFIBWT

Closing
Number of shares of the Company to be price of the
issued upon exercise of the share options Company's
REREETREIAFRETZRAHE shares
QOutstanding ~ Reclassified Lapsed  Outstanding Exercise  immediately
Date of at during during at price  before date
grant 142019 the year theyear 3132020 per share of grant  Exercise period
i
i “BTEF 2R
“2-NF =A =85
mA—-H £R =+—H KAF]
Name of grantee ERAER et HATE ENNR FRRM BETE EROPE ROLTE e
HK$ HK$
BT BT
(Note 3)
(223
Directors Fd
Pefer Lee Coker Jr. Peter Lee Coker Jr. 18.9.2015 9,904,976 - (2,204,276) - 12531 298 Note |
M
Lau Tom Ko Yuen A5k 18.9.2015 2,204,276 - (2,204,276) - 12531 298 Note
ik
Walter Craig Power Walter Craig Power 18.9.2015 2,204,276 - (2.20427¢) - 12531 298 Note
a2
James Chiu HES 18.9.015 195,350 - (195,350) - 12531 298 Note |
a2
Lee Chack Fan B3PS 18.9.2015 195,350 - (195,350) - 19531 298 Note
g2
lain Ferguson Bruce het 18.9.9015 195,350 - (195,350) - 12.531 298 Note 1
ik
Francis Goutenmacher Francis Goutenmacher 18.9.2015 195,350 - (195,350) - 12531 298 Note
o=
Chan Kok Chung, Johnny BER 18.9.2015 195,350 - (195,350) - 12531 298 Note
I
Sub-total st 7,589,578 - (7589578)
Employees (In aggregate) EE (A3 18.9.2015 540,803 - (540,803) - 12531 298 Note
loE=a
89.2016 239,400 - (239,400) - 13124 316 Note 2
Mzt
Sub-total st 780,203 - (780,203)
Totdl Bt 8,369,781 - (8369.78)
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38. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 38. BERIEST R (1)
Details of movements in the share options of the Company BE_ S NEF-_B=+—HLEFEXLNARERE
granted under the Share Option Scheme during the year R RESTE|IE B o BT ES &) v 5E B ¢

ended 31 March 2019 are as follows:

Closing
Number of shares of the Company to be price of the
issued upon exercise of the share options Company's
REREETEEALSRETZRMHUE shares
QOutstanding ~ Reclassified Lapsed  Outstanding Exercise  immediately
af during during at price  before date Exercise
Date of grant 142018 the year the year 3132019 per share of grant period
IS
IS “ENE SRR
_2)\E = Bl
mE—H £R =+—H NS
Name of grontee ERAES RiaH AR EN08  ERAN BROR SRORE RHWHE T8
HKS HKS
BT T
(Note 3)
(M3t3)
Directors B3
Pefer Lee Coker Jr. Pefer Lee Coker Jr. 18.9.2015 2,204,276 - - 2904276 12531 298 Note |
Bz
Lau Tom Ko Yuen =R 18.9.2015 2,204,276 - - 2204276 12,531 298 Note
Mz
Walter Craig Power Walter Craig Power 18.9.9015 2,204,276 - - 2904276 12531 298 Note 1
it
Jarmes Chiu bl 23 189.2015 195,350 - - 195,350 12531 298 Nofe
(it
Lee Chack Fan ES TR 18.9.2015 195,350 - - 195,350 12.531 298 Note 1
li=d
lain Ferguson Bruce hEL 18.9.9015 195,350 - - 195,350 12531 2.98 Note 1
Mz
Francis Goutenmacher Francis Goutenmacher 18.9.0015 195,350 - - 195,350 12531 298 Note
]
Chan Kok Chung, Johnny RED 189.2015 195,350 - - 195,350 12531 298 Note|
s
Sub-fotal g 75589,578 - - 1589578
Employees (In aggregate) B8 (53) 18.9.2015 3,065,277 136,458 (2660,932) 540,803 12531 298 Note ]
]
8.9.2016 939,400 - - 239,400 13124 316 Note 2
Sub-fotal gt 3,304,677 136,458 (2,660,932) 780,203
Other participants (In aggregate) Ht2 8% (&) 18.9.2015 308,626 (136,458)  (172,3¢8) - 12531 298 Note 1
(it
1532016 43,092 - (43,092) - 12,531 2.08 Note 1
Bz
Sub-total g 351,918 (136,458)  (215,460) -
Total 45t 1,946,173 - (0876392) 8369781
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38. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Notes:

1. The share options shall vest in 3 ’rronches, as to one-third
on 18 September 2016, as to a further one-third on 18
September 2017 and as to the final one-third on 18
September 2018. The share options are exercisable from
the aforesaid vesting dates until 17 September 2019
(both dates inclusive).

2. The share options shall vest in 3 ’rronches, as to one
third on 8 September 2017, as to a further one-third on
8 September 2018 and as to the final one-third on 8
September 2019. The share options are exercisable from
the aforesaid vesting dates until 7 September 2020
(both dates inclusive).

3. Adjusted as a result of the capital reorganisation which
took effect on 12 February 2018 and the completion of
the Rights Issue on 20 March 2018.

An amount of HK$936,000 (2019: HK$785,000) of
share-based payment expenses has been recognised
during the year ended 31 March 2020 with corresponding
decrease (2019: increase) in share option reserve. Included
in the amount of HK$936,000 (2019: HK$785,000)

of share-based payment expenses, an amount of
HK$936,000 (2018: HK$785,000) of share-based
payment expenses was recognised as reversal of expense
(2019: expense) in profit or loss.
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39. SHARE AWARD SCHEME AND SHARE FINANCING
PLAN

(a) Share award scheme

39. Brin 2R 5T & M AR D B E 5 &I

(o) BR1DERRED5TE

On 6 September 2006, share award scheme was
adopted by the Company. The share award scheme
allows the Company to make bonus payments to
eligible persons (including employees, directors,
consultants, advisers and agents of the Group) by way
of the Company's shares acquired by and held through
an independent trustee until fulfilment of specified
conditions before vesting.

None of the eligible persons of the Group were awarded
any of the Company's shares under the share award
scheme during the years ended 31 March 2020 and
2019.

(b) Share financing plan

On 6 September 2006, share financing plan was
adopted by the Company. The share financing plan
allows eligible persons (including employees, directors,
consultants, advisers and agents of the Group) to borrow
funds from the Company or from a company within the
Group to acquire new or old shares of the Company on
a non-recourse basis with the subject shares pledged

to the Company as security, subject to connected
transaction and other relevant provisions under the
Listing Rules.

None of the eligible persons of the Group acquired any
of the Company's shares under the share financing plan
during the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.
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n e B HRRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2020
(E_ECEE-A-+—HIEEE

40.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 40. RN B FBARRE

COMPANY
2020 2019
—s-mx it S
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET BT
NON-CURRENT ASSET FEREBEE
[nvestments in subsidiaries RIBATKRE 668,322 1,058,833
CURRENT ASSETS MENE E
Other debtors HAE WIS 160 129
Bank balances IR1T4EER 19,064 1,308
19,224 1,437
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEAaE
Other creditors and accrued expenses HME RIE R EsTR 38,651 13,691
Earnest money received 2R E S 70,000 70,000
Amounts due to subsidiaries JET I B A B = IE 792,300 784,404
Amount due to o subsidiary of B — & BB — RN B A B FUE 873 193
a shareholder
Amount due to a related company FEN—MEREA AT IE 1,544 2,340
Loan from a subsidiary —EEATER 65,000 65,000
Loan from a subsidiary of a shareholder —ZRE—RENBABER 5,000 5,000
Loan from a related company —REREABEMN 93,594 107,350
Other borrowings -due within one year —ER I EMMER 395,204 130,000
1,392,166 1,177,908

SOUTH SHORE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr MG IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
ECECEF_A=T—HLFE

40.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 40. RN BRI E (8)

COMPANY (Continued)
2020 2019
—EIEHE “E-NEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES mENaEEEE (1,372,9492) (1,176,471
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT - -
i VEW % ,E
LIABILITIES HWEERTHAR (704,620) 117,638)
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBEE
Other borrowings - due after one year —FBEH EMER 214,300 -
Convertible bonds g ES 964,903 812,741
1,179,203 812,741
NET LIABILITIES BEFEE (1,883,823) (930,379)
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BARKRG#EE
Share capital &N 209,591 202,591
Reserves (Note) &5 (HEE) (2,086,414) (1,132,970)
TOTAL DEFICIT 4B AL (1,883,823) (930,379)
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40.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

Note:

Movements of reserves of the Company during the current
and prior years are as follows:

40. KRB BARRE (18)

FREE -

FREREFERBREFEZHERESUT -

Shares
Converfible held for Share Share Copitol
Share Contrbuted Special bonds share award option award redempfion  Accumulated
premium surplus reserve reserve scheme reserve reserve reserve [osses Total
ik
R &E EAAH 1HhIGE E5ERE B BRERE EXEOEE 5t
HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$000
Thn TER Thn Thn T TER Thxn Thn Thn TEL
At1 Aprl 2018 PIE-N\EME-H 3,068,152 1,858,814 (150,000) 1794972 (13,063) 26,272 5980 255 (1247,276) 5344106
Loss and total comprehensive EEFBRZERTER 647136 647146)
expense for the year
Recognition of equity-settled share- fﬁ;ji PEER A
based t f MRHAER?
ased payment expenses o KEELRNAERL s ) i i -
the share option scheme of the H 153 (33)
Company (Note 38)
Transfer upon lopse of share award AR EEN S B B (3,509) - 3,505
Transfer upon lopse of share option ~ NER B MEHE (6,217) - - 6,007
At 31 Morch 2019 RZB-NEZA=+-H 3,068,152 1,858,814 (150,000) 1794972 (13,063) 20,840 2475 255 (7,715,415) (1132,970)
Loss and fofal comprehensive WEH( @EE ( 9 65,571) (%5[571)
expense for the year
Recognition of equity-settled share-
based payment expenses of
936 - - - 936)
the share option scheme of the (936) (936)
Company (Note 38)
Refund of cash held by trustee of
13,063 - - - - 13,063
share award scheme
Transfer upon lapse of share option (19.904) - - 19,904
At 31 March 2020 3,068,152 1,858,814 (150,000) 1794972 - - 2475 2% (8,661,089) (2,086,414)

The special reserve of the Company represented the
difference between the aggregate of the net asset value

of, and shareholder’s loan to, Paul Y. Management
Contracting amounting to HK$250,000,000 and the issue
value of the shares of HK$400,000,000 as consideration
for the acquisition of Paul Y. Management Contracting in
prior years.
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41.

42.

43,

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure the entities in

the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balances. The Group's
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued
share capital, reserves and accumulated losses.

The management of the Group reviews the capital structure
periodically. The Group considers the cost of capital and the
risks associated with the capifo|, and will balance its overall
capital structure through payment of dividends, issuance

of new shares and share buy-backs as well as the raising of
new debfs, if required.

41.

BEXARE

I%l%ﬁﬁéx,uﬁﬁﬁilﬁT?FMT%
BIKE, THEBRILERMEREHRARRERER
KO, MBEFE, FAEBCBERBEES T,

FEEEAEBIEARNTEE NEGELR (HS
EOBTRE. RELRFER

FEEEEESERRNTELRRB. AEEEEE
KA NEFERAER, TRFEBRCKRE. 1T
RN EBLIR M LU EEHES T EREEXRIGE
(AT o

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 42 HARAE
2020 2019
it St ¥ —BNE
HK$'000 HK$ " 000
FET FET
Indemnities issued to financial institutions MEEER L BRENVERY
for bonds on construction contracts of fREGME RSB 2 28,526 45,544
joint operations SEIEIREE

In addition, the Company had corporate guarantee issued
to a bank for facilities granted to an associate. No facilities
were utilised by the associate as at 31 March 2020 and
2019.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Capital expenditure contracted for

S5, ARBIH—EE NS EEFREMRT

but not provided in the consolidated
financial statements in respect of
acquisition of property, plant

and equipment

BENEER RIE_EFR_E—NFE=8
—+—H, BERS U EFHHERE,
43 BRESE
2020 2019
BT “EN4F
HK$'000 HK$ ' 000
FHET FEIT
BRI HEBRN G HEREN
BHEERUTEBZEARAEX 93,507 8,984

—TBEYE. MMk
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44. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES AND OTHER

POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group operates defined contribution retirement benefit
schemes for qualifying employees. The assets of the schemes
are separately held in funds under the control of trustees.
The cost charged to the consolidated statement of profit

or loss represents contributions payable to the funds by the
Group at rates specified in the rules of the schemes.

Where there are employees who leave the schemes prior to
vesting fully in the contributions, the contributions payable
by the Group are reduced by the amount of forfeited
contributions. At the end of the reporting period, there were
no forfeited contributions which arose upon employees
leaving the schemes prior to their interests in the Group's
contributions becoming fully vested and which are available
to reduce the contributions payable by the Group in future
years.

With effect from 1 December 2000, the Group has joined
a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the "MPF Scheme”).
The MPF Scheme is registered with the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Authority under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. The assets of the
MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in funds under the control of an independent trustee.

Under the rules of the MPF Scheme, the employer and its
employees are each required to make contributions to the
scheme at the rates specified in the rules. The only obligation
of the Group with respect to the MPF Scheme is to make
the required contributions under the scheme. Under the
MPF Scheme, there will not be any forfeited contribution
available to reduce the contribution payable by the Group.
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44. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES AND OTHER

POST EMPLOYMENT SCHEMES (Continued)

The retirement benefit scheme contributions arising from
the MPF Scheme charged to profit or loss represent
contributions payable to the funds by the Group at the rates
specified in the rules of the scheme.

The Group operates a defined contribution retirement
scheme for eligible employees in Macau. The assets of the
scheme are held separately from those of the Group in funds
under the control of an independent trustee. The Group has
no further payment obligations once the contributions have
been paid. The contributions are recognised as employee
benefit expenses when they are due and are reduced by
contributions forfeited by those employees who leave the

scheme prior to vesting fully in the contributions.

The PRC subsidiaries of the Group participate in retirement
benefit schemes organised by the local government
authority in the PRC. They are required to make certain
monthly contributions based on the local standard basic
salaries. The only obligation of the Group with respect to
the retirement benefit schemes is to make the required
contributions under the schemes.

The total expenses recognised in profit or loss are set out in
notes 10 and 11 to the consolidated financial statements.
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n e B HRRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2020
(E_ECEE-A-+—HIEEE

45. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES
(a) The Group entered into the following significant

45. FEAN LR 5 KiEeR
(o) A, AEFEAMBEALITIUTEARS :

transactions with its related parties during the year:

2020 2019
Class of related party Nature of transaction —_ETEHE “ENF
RAiE A L4ER! RHMHE HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ExT &
Joint ventures Construction works charged by the Group 302,710 48,293
BEE REBWEERTIZEE
Project management fees charged by the Group 164 103
AEBWIIEEEEER
Interest charged by the Group 225 374
REEWEH 2
A substantial shareholder of o Interest charged to the Group 6,721 -
substantial shareholder KREELZ TS
of the Company
KNE—HZEEREL
TERR
A director of certain Interest charged to the Group 2,034 -
subsidiaries of the REBLZMNFE
Company
KRB ETFHEBABZ —
LES
A company wholly owned by  Interest charged to the Group 15,449 3,340

a director of the Compcmy K%E'ZQL %U B
KRB —HREEZLEHR

AN

The related party transactions entered into with a
substantial shareholder of a substantial shareholder of
the Company; a director of certain subsidiaries of the
Company; and a company wholly owned by a director
of the Company as disclosed above also constituted
connected transactions of the Company as defined in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The transactions are
fully exempt from shareholders” approval, annual review
and all disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

Other than that, none of the related party transactions
disclosed above constituted connected transactions or
continuing connected fransactions as defined in the
Listing Rules.
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fr MG IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
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45. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES 45 BEAN TR 5 M fEeR (18)

(Continued)

(b) The remuneration of key management personnel
during the year was as follows:

(b) FRTEEEABZFHMUOT :

2020 2019

= e

HK$'000 HK$'000

F FE7

Short-term employee benefits SR E ST 20,793 32,280
Post-employment benefits RGBT 310 732
Share-based payment DU AER Z AR - 1,241
21,103 34,253

The remuneration of key management personnel is
determined by the remuneration committee having
regard to the performance of individuals and market

trends.

Details of the balances with associates, joint ventures, joint
operations/other partners of joint operations and a related
company at the end of the reporting period are set out in
the consolidated statement of financial position and in notes

25 and 31 respectively.
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fr MG IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
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46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES,
ASSOCIATE, JOINT VENTURES AND JOINT
OPERATIONS

(a) Particulars of the Company's principal subsidiaries as
at 31 March 2020 and 2019 are as follows:

46. TEMBAE. BERNE. EEERGERTE
#

(@) ZRBEEMBRARANR-_F_FFR-F—NF
=ZR=+—HZHFBEOT:

Issued and
P\oce of ) fll pmd Percentage of issued share capital/
incorporation/ share capital/ registered captal/capita
regjstration/ registered capitol/ rEE @TSE??%?,@§$/5£%§$/§$ZE%\ f
operation capital . R
Name of subsiﬁiiory mi/#=m/ Eé?ﬁ}fzﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁi\/ held by the subsidiaries atfributable to the Group ~ Principal activity
WEAR AR R HMEL/EX WEASHRE FEBE(G TEEE
2020 2019 2020 2019
“EI8F “E-0\F ZBIEf _TNF
% % % %
Challenge Shore Limited British Virgin lslands Ussi 100 100 100 100 Investment holding
('BVI") ordinary share REZK
SEELES ErEER
(EBRLES)
China Earth Limited Hong Kong HK$! 100 100 5176 5176 Investment holding
EHERLT &5 ordinary share REZK
BT EER
Corless Limited BVI US$2 100 100 51.76 5176 Investment holding
EBRUER ordinary shares RELER
OETLEER
Euro Dynasty Limited BVI US$3 100 100 5176 5176 Investment holding
KBRUEE ordinary shares RELR
ERLER
Falloncroft Investments BVI 5,400,000,000 100 100 100 100 Investment holding
Limited RERUME ord\'nary shares of REZE
no par value
5,400,000,000%
EEELER
South Shore Management Hong Kong HKS$I 100 100 100 100 Management services
Limited EE ordinary share SERH
BEEEERLTE VAT EER
The 13 Management Ltd. Macau MOP25,000 capital 100 100 100 100 Project Management
TZEE-ABRRE B 25,0002 E X BEEE
Manlink Limited BVI US$1 100 100 100 100 Investment holding
%E%Q%E or&\'nary share ?‘Qﬁg&
IETEER
New Concordio Hotel Limited ~ Macau MOP25,000 ;0p\'fd| 100 100 100 100 Hotel development
MBS EEER LA i 95,0002 EX BEER
Paul Y. (E& M) Hong Kong HK$60,000,000 99.9999 99.9999 51.7599 517599 Provision of electrical,
Contractors Limited —é% ordinory shares mechanical and
RERETEERLT 60,000,000 71 building services
LBk REBHIRERS
23]
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fr MG IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
 EECEF=A=T—HILFE

46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES,
ASSOCIATE, JOINT VENTURES AND JOINT
OPERATIONS (Continued)

(a) Particulars of the Company's principal subsidiaries as

46. TEMBAE. BERNE. EEERGERTE
#(18)

(@ ZRBEEMBRARANR_F_FFR-F—NF

REEE (TE) BRLF

(Note (iii) below)
JEE
120,000,0007C
(T azk &)

039

SOUTH SHORE HOLDINGS LIMITED

at 31 March 2020 and 2019 are as follows: (Continued) —B=+—HzEEBEOT . @)
Issued and
P\cce of . full pmd Percentage of issued share capital/
incorporation/ share ccp\TaV reg\sfered cop\fq|/ccp\fa|
regfstration/ registered capital/ KEBEERENE SRER EATEAL
operation capital - i
Name of subsidiory WE/EH/ Eéﬁﬁ&%ﬁ&ﬁ/ held by the subsidiaries attributable to the Group Principq| activity
WEAT AR SEME HMEL/EX WEATRE rEEEN TEEE
2020 2019 2020 2019
—-n—-nE _F j—& —V—VE :i—ﬂﬁ
% % % %
Paul Y. Builders Group Limited  Hong Kong HK$2 ordinary shares 100 100 5176 5176 Investment holding
REREEEBRLE  BE 0ETEER RERR
HK$1,000,000 - - -
non-voting deferred
shares (Note (i) below)
1,000,000 0
FABRREN
W GED)
Paul Y. Builders Limited Hong Kong HK$400,000,000 100 100 5176 5176  Building construction
REESERANT 5E ordinary shares EFEE
400,000,000 70
LER
Paul Y. Curtain Wall and Hong Kong HK$2 ordinary shares 100 100 5176 5176  Trading and installation of
Aluminium Works g OETEER building materials
Company Limited BEMNEZ RER
FEERRELR
NS
Paul Y. Construction & Hong Kong HK$390,000,000 100 100 5176 5176 Building construction and
Engineering Co. Limited &5 ordinary shares specialist works
RERRIRERLT 390,000,000 7T BFRENSRIR
LBk
Paul Y. Construction & Singapore SGD10,500,000 100 100 51.76 51.76  Construction
Engineering Pte. Limited R ordinary shares BHRTE
10,500,003 1% 70
eyl
Paul Y. Construction and Moalaysia RM1,000,000 100 100 51.76 5176 Construction
Engineering Sdn. Bhd. ERA0 ordinary shares BRTE
1,000,000% %
LBk
Paul Y. Construction The PRC RMBI120,000,000 100 100 51.76 5176 - Civil engineering and
(China) Limited i registered capital building construction

IARTERETRE
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fr MG IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
 EECEF=A=T—HILFE

46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES,
ASSOCIATE, JOINT VENTURES AND JOINT
OPERATIONS (Continued)

(a) Particulars of the Company's principal subsidiaries as

46. TEMBAE. BERNE. EEERGERTE
#(18)

(@ ZRBEEMBRARANR_F_FFR-F—NF

SOUTH SHORE HOLDINGS LIMITED

at 31 March 2020 and 2019 are as follows: (Continued) —B=+—HzEEBEOT . @)
Issued ond
P\oce of . full paid Percentage of issued share capital/
incorporation/ share ccp\TaV reg\sfered cop\fq|/ccp\fa|
regisfrqﬁon/ registered ccpifg|/ FEBEERENE SRER EAT B
operation capital
Name of subsidiory WE/EH/ Eéﬁﬁ&%ﬁ&ﬁ/ held by the subsidiaries attributable to the Group Principq| activity
WEAT AR SEME HHER/ER WEABRE REEEMN TEES
2020 2019 2020 2019
% % % %
Paul Y. Construction Hong Kong HK$250,000,000 100 100 5176 5176 Civil engineering, building
Company, Limited E ordinary shares construction and
RERRERNT 950,000,00078 7T investment holding
Bl IATE BTEER
REER
HK$50,000,000 -
non-voting
preferred shares
(Note (i) below)
50,000,000 7C
ELTRELT
:GE)
Paul Y. Construction Holdings ~ Hong Kong HK$2 100 100 5176 5176 Investment holding
Limited 5k ordinor\/ shares WEER
RERZEBERLT VETE R
Paul Y. Construction BVI US$50,002 100 100 5176 5176 Investment holding
International Limited RERYHE ordinary shares RETE
50,000% L EEK
Paul Y. Contracting Limited Hong Kong HK$100 100 100 5176 5176 Construction
EE ordinary shares BETE
1008 L& &R
Paul Y. Facilfies Hong Kong HK$2 100 100 5176 5176 Facilities management
Management Co,, |_|m|fed EE orgiinory shares _ services
REJHEBERL 0BT ERER RIEERRHE
Paul Y. Finance L|m|fed Hong Kong HKS1 ordinary share 100 100 5176 5176 Provision of finance
REHHERLT &R AL ER RMRE
Paul Y. Foundation Macau MOP25,000 capital 100 100 5176 5176 Civil engineering and
(Macau) Limited B 95,0002 B E R foundation works
REME (£FY) BIRLT TARTRRMETRE
Paul Y. Foundation BVI US$1 ordinary share 100 100 5176 5176 Investment holding
Holdings Limited EBRUHE IETEER RERR
Paul Y. Fou‘ndofion Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 100 100 5176 5176 - Civil engineering and
REMEFRE LT g ordinary shares foundation works
10,000,000 7T IATERMETR
LER
235
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46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES,
ASSOCIATE, JOINT VENTURES AND JOINT
OPERATIONS (Continued)

(a) Particulars of the Company's principal subsidiaries as

46. TEMBAE. BERNE. EEERGERTE
#(18)

(@ ZRBEEMBRARANR_F_FFR-F—NF

at 31 March 2020 and 2019 are as follows: (Continued) —B=+—HzEEBEOT . @)
Issued ond
P\oce of ) fully pmd Percenfcge of issued share capifc\/
incorporation/ share ccp\TaV
e ) ) registered capital/capital
regfstration/ registered capital/ FEBEERENE SRER EAT B
operation capital - i
Name of subsidiory WE/EH/ Eéﬁﬁ&%ﬁ&ﬁ/ held by the subsidiaries atfributable to the Group Principq| activity
WEAT AR SEME HMEL/EX WEABRE REEEMN TEEE
2020 2019 2020 2019
% % % %

Paul Y. General Hong Kong HK$500,000,000 100 100 5176 5176 - Civil engineering and
Contractors Limited B ordinary shares building construction
REEREEERLT 500,000,000 0 IARTEREFTRSE

el
Paul Y. Interior Hong Kong HK$15,000,000 100 100 5176 5176 Interior decoration works
Contractors Limited &E ordinary shares and senvices
REEHIRERALT 15,000,000 70 ERNREIRRES
Bl
Paul Y. Management Hong Kong HKS1 ordinary share 100 100 51.76 5176 Management and
(Macau) Limited &5 BTEER secretarial services
REEE (2P BRELT SERNERS
Paul Y. Management BVI US$2,000 100 100 51.76 5176 Investment holding
Contracting Group Limited EBRuEE or&mary shares RERR
RERRTREEERLT 9,000% T E Bk
Paul Y. Management Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$2 100 100 5176 5176 Management and
ﬁﬁ%@ﬁ FE/& g é% ordinor\/ shores secrefarial services
BT EER EERMERS
Paul Y. Plant Hire Limited Hong Kong HK$2 100 100 51.76 5176 Trading and letting of
RERNAEEERAT B ordinary shares plant and machinery
0ETEER BRLREEZRAE
Paul Y. Project Management  Hong Kong HK$2 100 100 5176 5176  Project management
International Limited BE ordinor\( shares services and investment
REERIREEER OETEBK holding
25 AREREER
RERR
Paul Y. Specialist Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000 100 100 5176 5176 Construction
BE ordinary shores BAETRE
100070 & B
PY Construction (Macau) Macau MOP25,000 capital 100 100 5176 5176 Construction
Limited 2 95,000 &P E L BETR

RERERE (BP9
BRAT
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fr MG IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
 EECEF=A=T—HILFE

46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES,
ASSOCIATE, JOINT VENTURES AND JOINT
OPERATIONS (Continued)

(a) Particulars of the Company's principal subsidiaries as
at 31 March 2020 and 2019 are as follows: (Continued)

Issued and

Place of fully paid

incorporation/ share capital/

regjstration/ registered capital/

operation capital

Name of subsidiary M/ #Em/ BETRBERE/

WEATAH EESEY HMEL/Ex

PYE BVI HK$122,055,899.60

RERE HBRYEE ordinary shares

199,055,899.607% 7T

EI MH%

PYE General Contractors Macau MOP25,000 capital

(Macau) Limited B 950002 ER
BEREEADBRAT

Unistress Concrefe Products Hong Kong HK$200,000

(HK) Limited ¥ ordinary shares

BORRL RS (&FE) 200,000 & Bk

BRAT

HK$1,000,000

non-voting

deferred shares

(Note (i) below)

1,000,000 T

BRERETR

(M=)

All of the above subsidiaries are indirectly held by the
Company.

The above tables list the subsidiaries of the Group
which, in the opinion of the directors of the Company,
principally affected the results for the year or formed

a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To
give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the directors of the Company, result in particulars of
excessive length.

46. TEMBAE. BERNE. EEERGERTE
#(18)

(o) RRBEIFEMBLREN_ZTZZTFRIZF—IF
=A=1+—HZHBWT : (&

Percentage of issued share capital/

registered capital/capital
rEEREEETRE/EREL/ERZEL
held by the subsidiaries attributable to the Group  Principal activity
WELBRE FEBELG TEES
2020 2019 2020 2019
= =L
% % % %
100 100 5176 5176 Investment holding
RERR
100 100 51.76 5176 Construction
BETE
100 - 5176 Manufacturing, trading
and installation of
concrefe products and
) construction works
BAIESLE 87
RERMURERTE
100 - 51.76

R E N E AR HEARNEBEFE.

U EBRFIIBARTAEERATETELER
FREBIERAERFEEBARLS ZK?&I
MELF. A BEERS, FIHMMER
ZERREDREITE.
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fr MG IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020

ECE_SF=R=+—HLEE

46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES,

ASSOCIATE, JOINT VENTURES AND JOINT
OPERATIONS (Continued)

(a) Particulars of the Company's principal subsidiaries as
at 31 March 2020 and 2019 are as follows: (Continued)
Notes:

(i) The holders of the non-voting deferred shares are
not entitled to vote, are not entitled to any dividends
for any financial year and are, on winding up or
otherwise, only entitled out of the surplus assets of
the company to a return of the capital after a total
sum of HK$100,000,000,000,000 has been
distributed to the holders of the ordinary shares of
the company.

(i) The holders of the non-voting preferred shares are
not entitled to vote, are not entitled to any dividends
unless the net profits of the company available
for dividends exceed HK$100,000,000,000
in which case they should be entitled to fixed
non-cumulative dividends at the rate of 5% per
annum for any financial year and are, on winding
up, only entitled out of the surplus assets of the
company to a return of the capital after a total sum
of HK$10,000,000,000 has been distributed to
the holders of the ordinary shares of the company.

(iii) The entity is a wholly foreign-owned enterprise

established in The PRC.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities at the end
of the reporting period or at any time during both years.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company has other
subsidiaries that are not material to the Group. The principal
activities of these subsidiaries, whose place of incorporation/
registration/operation are mainly in Hong Kong or BVI, are
construction, property development management, other
business, investment ho|ding or inactive.

46. TEMBAE. BERNE. EEERGERTE

#(18)

(o) RRAFEMBLEANR_S_TER-_EFT—HE
=B=+— EZFﬁﬁQD—F. (18)
B 5E -

() HFERBEELERTTE NERKRE, 7T
E@%ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁift&_,ﬁQE@
ERZNEREFRAEEMBR T ﬁ%

100, ooo ooo 000,000 71, F 5%/ pEENie
HEANEREHE éFZEET,%E El
o

(i) WEENZRBLRTEABERE, /IR
BERK S, BRIFZA B IEIR EFF &
100,000,000,0005 7, TEUIBERT, E
BREEAY B FEER—BS S A5% E
EIFERBRE, BEREREEZNE ﬁm%

JRAEEE10,000,000,00078 71, F 522 Hx
HEANEREHE éFZEET,%E
Ao

(i) WEBEARPFRIMIICABBEE

R EIARBNMEFE 2 ERRBR, BIEKB
REHEE R EEBES

R|BEHR, RRBEEHAEEMS TIFBEEKR
MEMNE A . ZEMBLS ML/ 5, &
BEMHMTBREEENRBRUEFE, MEFAER
TR M=#REE. HthER. REERVNEE

k>
= ><o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr MG IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
 EECEF=A=T—HILFE

46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES, 46. TEMBRE. MERE. GEERRGERBE
ASSOCIATE, JOINT VENTURES AND JOINT (&)
OPERATIONS (Continued)
(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have (b) EEEARETRIERCIELEBEWB R ZFHE
material non-controlling interests
The table below shows details of non-wholly owned TEREIFEEEAIERER CAERIE2ENR
subsidiaries of the Group that have material non- BRrElCEHRE:

controlling interests:

Proportion of ownership
of issued ordinary share

Place of Principal capital held by Profit allocated to Accumulated
Name of subsidiary incorporation place of business non-controlling interests non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
SHERERREEETER
bl YN=E alATE IRESMY  RRAZEBRGL  OEEFEREZ G RetrERED
2019 2019
2020 2019 2020 2020

—z-zx . “EBE S5 ZRIRE D54

v j - . HKS000  HKSOOO  HKSO00  HKSOO0
) T TER TEr  T#Exm TEL
PYE BVI Hong Kong 48.24 48.94 3,097 6,398 993,854 096,844
RFEEE HBRYHE &8
937

SOUTH SHORE HOLDINGS LIMITED



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr MG IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
 EECEF=A=T—HILFE

46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES, 46. TEMBLRE. HERE. SECENTERXHE
ASSOCIATE, JOINT VENTURES AND JOINT ¥} (18)
OPERATIONS (Continued)
(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have (b) EEEARETRIERCIELEBEWB R ZFHE
material non-controlling interests (Continued) (18)
Summarised financial information in respect of the HEERIERERCAEENBRECHBE

Group's subsidiaries that has material non-controlling

interests is set out below. The summarised financial HIHET ~ =58,
information below represents amounts before intragroup

eliminations.

FHER A0 T LT B ER IR IEER AN EE

PYE REREZ
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET BT
Non-current assets ERMEMEE 333,202 979,624
Currents assets MENEE 5,155,504 4,518,615
Current liabilities mENE A (4,603,419) (3,988,951)
Non-current liabilities EREAaE (69,884) (9,227)
Equity attributable to owners of PYE (REEEZEER N\E(hER 815,403 793,061
Revenue WA 10,982,285 9,347,637
Profit for the year FEPEF 34,959 41,167
Profit attributable to owners of PYE (REEZZEWEE ANES R 34,959 41,167
Other comprehensive expense REREER ABGEM
attributable to owners of PYE 2HEFEY (10,942) (10,098)
Other comprehensive expense for the year FEEMEEAS (10,942) (10,098)
Total comprehensive income attributable REREHBBANEMGEEA
to owners of PYE W m 4B ER 24,017 31,069
Total comprehensive income attributable REREIFTEREREMN
to the non-controlling interests of PYE P EW G LBRE -
Total comprehensive income for the year FE2EWGAEEE 24,017 31,069
A HE £<<< =
Net cash (used in) from operating activities OE!;;%Z?;E EXHZ (340,588) 15,905
Net cash used in investing activities BREEESH RS FEE (29,699) (97,967)
psvs FAY) St y
Net cash from (used in) financing activities X;é@;é; mEEHZ 472,824 (78,124)
Net cash inflows (outflows) BERA Rl 358 102,537 (160,186)
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For the year ended 31 March 2020
 EECEF=A=T—HILFE

46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES,
ASSOCIATE, JOINT VENTURES AND JOINT
OPERATIONS (Continued)

(c) Particulars of the Company's principal associate as at
31 March 2020 and 2019 are as follows:

46. TEMB R BE

NE. GERERGEXBE

#(18)

€ ARBEEHENTANR_F_FFR-F—NF
=ZR=+—HZHFBEOT:

Place of
2;?!5 z;;f;}n/ Percentage of registered capital
operation AR Z BN
Name of associate i/ s/ Registered capital held by the subsidiaries attributable to the Group  Principal activity
o YNSIEy e Afigx WEATRE FEERN TEXH
2020 2019 2020 2019
ECRF BN ZBCBFE _BNA
% % % %

Zhong Yu - Paul Y. The PRC US$500,000 40 40 20.7 20.7 Project management
Project Management thE registered capital and consultancy
Company Limited (Note (i) below) services

ERPFRETRER 500,000%7¢ BEEEREERS
BEBRAT SR

:4GE)

The above associate is held by the Company indirectly.
Note:

(i) This company is sino-foreign equity joint venture

company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr MG IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
ECECEF_A=T—HLFE

46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES, 46. TEMBAE. BERNE. EEERGERTE
ASSOCIATE, JOINT VENTURES AND JOINT £ (58)
OPERATIONS (Continued)
(d) Particulars of the Company's principal joint ventures (d) ARBFTEGECEN_SE_SEER_E—IE
as at 31 March 2020 and 2019 are as follows: —B=4+—HxZEHBWT:
Place of Issued and fully paid
incorporation/ share capital/ Percentage of issued share capital/
registration/ registered o ﬂregisfe:red c?pifql/ cgpifcﬂ N
OI?EVOﬁOF B capital/capital Eéﬁﬁﬂi$/ﬁfﬂ§]§/§\$zg}] t
Name of joint venture i/ E R/ E%ﬁ&%ﬂﬁﬁ/ held by the subsidiaries atfributable to the Group ~ Principal activity
BERELH RSk HMEL/EX WELERE FEEELG TEEE
2020 2019 2020 2019

5%
%

“I—NE ZBIEF _THE

% % %

Paul Y. - iMax Limited Hong Kong HK$2 ordinary shares 50 50 25.88 2588 Construction, consultancy
& OETEBH BRETERER
Paul Y. - Lian Beng Singapore SGD300,000 50 50 25.88 25.88  Construction
JV Pre. Ltd. g ordinary shares BETE
300,000% 1357
LER
Paul Y. - Omas Joint Venture  Macau MOP100,000 capital 50 50 925.88 25.88  Construction
Company Limited B 100,000 2 FEE A BATR
RE-REHEERAT
MIEHEZERLE The PRC RMB53,000,000 50 50 95.88 9588 Investment holding
I registered capital YEER
A\ EH53,000,00070
FHER
M RBREARAR)  The PRC RMBI0,000,000 50 50 95.88 9588 Property holding
HE registered capital MERE
AR10,000,0007
HREX
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46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES, 46. TEMBRE. MERE. GEERRGERBE
ASSOCIATE, JOINT VENTURES AND JOINT #(18)
OPERATIONS (Continued)
(e) Particulars of the Company's principal joint () RNBFBEEXFNR _S_EEN_SFS—NE
operations as at 31 March 2020 and 2019 are as —B=4+—HxZEHBWT:
follows:
Place of Issued and fully paid
) . . Percentage of issued share capital/
incorporation/ share capital/
- . registered capital/capitl
registration/ regjstered s e a
operation capi‘ro|/cop'\‘ro| jﬂm&$/ EJI‘H%EK/ ARZAM
Name of joint operation ML/ =m,/ BETREERE/ held by the subsidiaries atfributable to the Group ~ Principal activity
BEEHAE EEi HMEL/EX WELEHE FEEES FEEH
2020 2019 2020 2019
Z3I%F 2-E IZEIBE 2%
% % % %
Laing O " Rourke - Hsin Chong Hong Kong Note (i) 225 295 1.65 165 Civil engineering
- Paul Y. Joint Venture &5 BEEG) TATE
Laing O ' Rourke - Hsin Chong Hong Kong Note (i) 295 225 165 165 Civil engineering
- Paul Y. (WKCD) Joint Venture &4 BREEG) TATE

Paul Y. - Able Joint Venture Hong Kong Note (i) 70 70 36.23 3623 Construction

E-7RHE &% Hil) BETE

Paul Y. - Omas Joint Venture Macau Note (i) 50 50 25.88 25.88  Construction

RE-REHELNT 9 MEE() BETRE

Paul Y. - Yau Lee Joint Venture Macau Note (i) 60 60 31.06 31.06  Construction

AP HrEE() BATE

Sinohydro - Power China Airport - Hong Kong Notes (i) and (ii 25 - 12.94 - Construction

Paul Y - Rock-One Joint Venture &4 B G) i) BETR
HEKE-FEEN-RE
—EEHE

Alchmex - Paul Y Joint Venture Hong Kong Notes (i) and (ii 45 - 23.29 - Constfruction

Eh—RENE &2 3G R BATR

CRCC - Paul Y. Joint Venture Hong Kong Notes (i) and (ii 49 - 2536 - Construction

TEERTRR-RERENT BE () ) BETR

Notes: B EE -

(i) There is no issued share capital/registered (i) HREZE LB AIEEAELE, HILESE
capital/capital for the joint operations as they ¥R BBITRA/FMER, &,
are unincorporated bodies.

(if) The joint operations were incorporated during (if) HEAEEEREBE_E 88— A
the year ended 31 March 2020. =+ —HIEFEMI.
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ECECEF_A=T—HLFE

47. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

(a) Disposal of subsidiaries
During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group
disposed of two wholly-owned subsidiaries of PYE,
namely Unistress Group Limited, an investment
holding company incorporated in the BVI, and
Unistress Concrete Products (H.K.) Limited, a company
incorporated in Hong Kong holding interest in prepaid
land lease, to an independent third party at a cash
consideration of HK$10,273,000.

Net liabilities at the date of disposal were as follows:

41 FIRERERBRWEH

(o) HEWBRE
BE_E_SF-_A=1+—HIHFE, x&EEF
REZEZSEHEE < MEMNERT, BlUnistress
Group Limited (—EIR & R BT &5 AL 2
REERNE) KRR T ®m (B R
RNE (—EREBEMR I LB LB AN
THEERRS) HETEIIE=H, ReNER
10,273,00075 JLo

RHEBMzEEFENT

HK$'000

FHET

Right-of-use assets FREEE 16,046

Other debtors, deposits and prepayments HAEUGRIE, 5] RBNRIE 273

Other creditors and accrued expenses HMEARIB BT (9.182)

Other borrowing HAERR (150,569)

(143,4392)

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HENBAB BT 153,705

Total consideration - satisfied by cash WARE-MUIBEEIN 10,273
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEEEZREMATEE

Cash consideration received BWIREAE 10,273
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For the year ended 31 March 2020
ECECEF_A=T—HLFE

47. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

47. FEREESRERME ()

b) AR EEHEECREZEE
TRV AEBRRETHEECER 2,
SRR NIEREBE, ARETHEECER
RBRERESRIL N ARBEAER L D ES
FEBECHELIFMEFREREAECER.

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing
activities are those for which cash flows were, or the
future cash flows will be, classified in the Group's
consolidated cash flows from financing activities.

Amounts due Interest
to joint payable
Loan  operations/ and loan Totdl
Loan froma other management licbilities
from  subsidiary  partners of feeand Bank from
arelated ofa joint Lease  transaction andother ~ Convertible financing
company  shareholder  operations liabilities ~ cost payable  borrowings Bonds activities
EfAEZE i
—2RE- B/ AEE BTER R
—HER EHE HEMBH EHERE Rk RHELZ
Afim AEER FE HERE RRBAEA  HER THRESF  GRER
HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
THET TR TET TER TR TET TER TR
W—E_
At1 Agril 2018 A 75,000 58,283 142,072 4,143,554 684,611 5103520
MA—H
Operating cash inflows REXERER - - 153 - - - - 153
Financing cash inflows REESHRA 1,150 5000 2,216,710 9,332,860
Finoncing cash outflows ~ BHERE (3,800) (5000) (257370)  (2,23,640) (2,489,810)
Off.sefhng with deposits for BRINETAI i (80,000) 180,000)
investments
Interest expenSjsfand \odon ENELSFIEE
ranogementiee an YREHEEE ; 316975 108130 445105
transaction cosfs incurred RSN
KRG
during the year
RZF-NE=ZR
At31 March and | Apr 201, :%ﬂ&@? 107350 75,000 58,436 01677 4136604 810741 530,608
as previously reported —H, M5LaeT
E£i
; &=L T S E -
Effect of chongﬁs in Z g;ﬁﬁy@ﬁz ) 102,079 102,079
accounting policies BE
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 EECEF=A=T—HILFE

47. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 47. FFEREREBRWE (B
CASH FLOWS (Continued)
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities (b) ARMEEERIEE v BECEE (18)
(Continued)
Amounts due Interest
to joint payable
Loan  operations/ and loan Totdl
Loan froma other management licbilities
from  subsidiary  partners of feeand Bank from
arelated ofa joint Lease  transaction andother  Convertible financing
company  shareholder  operations liabilities ~ cost payable  borrowings Bonds activities
REES
—2RE- B/ AEE BTER R
—HER EHE HEMBH EHERE Rk RHELZ

AR AFMER TE HEER RXBAEA  EMER TRkRES  afEE

HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HKS 000

TET TET TET TET TET TET TET TET
PZE—NEmA—

A1 April 2019, as restated A, G5 107,350 75,000 58,436 102,079 121,671 4,136,624 812,741 5,413,907
Operating cash inflows REEBRBESHA - - 3,490 - - - - 3,420
Finoncing cash inflows BEREMA - - 43,482 - - 3,061,469 - 310499
Financing cash outflows HERSMH (13,756) - (27,750) (29,62 (239,448)  (2,235796) - (254657)
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBA
- - - - 150,569 - 150,569
(Note 47(a)) (st 47(a) | ) | )
Additions of leases MERE - - - 15,469 - - - 15,469
Modffication of leases AEE:T - - . (79) - - B (719)
Cancellation of leases EEE - - - (1,836) - - - (1,836)
Exchange differences BREE - - - (81 - - - (8
Interest dl \
" arogmentfeond  TLELLHEHS
gement ¢ SHEEER - - - 3578 406306 - 1162 560,066
transaction costs incurred
) REBME
during the year
WoE—mET
At 31 March 2020 " 1 égiﬁ 93,594 75,000 77,588 89,309 288,555 4,811,728 964903 6,400,677
48. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 48. REMBREIE
On 1 April 2020, a bank issued a demand for the RIBE_EFEFNA—H, —BETEEEASNLAE
repayment of aggregate principal and interest of #2ZA%0470,000,00078 LAV ENEZ K, HHRKEE
approximately HK$470 million, and on account of the BR, BITMREERERZRE T hBENAE R
failure to repay, accelerated its demand for all additional FEBERENRK, £E542481,000,000%E 7 (17
principal and interest under the facility agreement, in the CECEF - A= +—H&EEE1192,951,000,000
amount of approximately HK$2,481 million (in aggregate B . BEEGHCHER2EALDHBEATE
amounting to approximately HK$2,951 million as at 31 EEU/NH 2,

March 2020). For details, please refer to the announcement
of the Company dated 6 April 2020.

On 1 September 2020, the Hotel Disposal and the RTEEFNA—H, BEHESEELHIETE
transactions contemplated thereunder have lapsed. For ET2RXZE5W. EFER2EALEHBA
details, please refer to the announcement of the Company TECEFABR—HZ N,

dated 1 September 2020. 044
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
CEEF LR

For the year ended 31 March
BE-B=t+—HIZFE

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
TE-E Bt Z-)N\E T-NF ZTIEF
HK$' 000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
RESULTS EF 5
Revenue WA 6,811,519 6,127,109 6,799,529 9,381,863 10,899,289
Loss before tax PRI AT B 1R (210,3392) (32,451)  (1,570,040)  (5,837,044)  (1,019,324)
Income tax (expense) credit PSR (FAs2) 1% (29,484) (7,773) (334) (4,204) 719
Loss for the year FERE (232,816) (40,224) (1,570,374)  (5,841,248)  (1,018,605)
(L(::) profit for the year attributable FE(SAERE (18) %A
Owners of the Company KNBIEB A (197,361) (44,559) (1,573,795)  (5,847,646)  (1,021,702)
Non-controlling interests JEIENS e (35,455) 4,335 3,421 6,398 3,097
(9392,816) (40,294)  (1,570,374)  (5,841,248)  (1,018,605)
At 31 March
R=A=+—H
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
“B2—RF B2t IZ-N\F Z-NF ITZIEE
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FiET FET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEEREE
Total assets MEE 19,546,594 13,523,795 13,945,190 8,359,140 8,678,502
Total liabilities =R (6,496,199) (7503111)  (8,485,823)  (8,935752)  (10,274,299)
Total equity R 6,050,395 6,020,684 5,459,367 (576,612) (1,595,797)
Equity attributable to: JE(L A
Owners of the Company KABBEE A 5,709,382 5,680,446 5,144,604 (803,456) (1,819,651)
Non-controlling inferests JEPERS e 341,013 340,238 314,763 296,844 293,854
6,050,395 6,020,684 5,459,367 (576,612) (1,595,797)
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
REEH

BOARD OF DIRECTORS A
Peter Lee Coker Jr. Chairman (Executive Director) Peter Lee Coker Jr. FE #HITESE
James Chiu, OBE, JP Independent Non-Executive Director B, OBE, JP BB ITESE
Lee Chack Fan, Independent Non-Executive Director =455, GBS, SBS, JP BB ITESE
GBS, SBS, JP
lain Ferguson Bruce Independent Non-Executive Director mET B IFHITEER
Lo Wing Yan, William, JP  Independent Non-Executive Director Bk, JP B IFHITESR
AUDIT COMMITTEE EREEE
James Chiu, OBE, JP (Chairman) WBHSZ, OBE, JP(T/E)
Lee Chack Fan, GBS, SBS, JP =lg55, GBS, SBS, JP
lain Ferguson Bruce mELT
Lo Wing Yan, William, JP Eox{Z, JP
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE HHNERE
James Chiu, OBE, JP (Chairman) WS, OBE, JP(T/E)
Lee Chack Fan, GBS, SBS, JP =255, GBS, SBS, JP
NOMINATION COMMITTEE RELEESG
Lee Chack Fan, GBS, SBS, JP (Chairman) =85, GBS, SBS, JP(E/ZE)
lain Ferguson Bruce mET
FINANCE AND INVESTMENT COMMITTEE MHERREEZET
lain Ferguson Bruce (Chairman) mELT (F/E)
Peter Lee Coker Jr. Peter Lee Coker Jr.
DISCLOSURES COMMITTEE WELEES
lain Ferguson Bruce (Chairman) mELT (F/E)
Peter Lee Coker Jr. Peter Lee Coker Jr.
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE TrREREES
James Chiu, OBE, JP (Chairman) WS, OBE, JP(T/E)
lain Ferguson Bruce mELT
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
REEH

PYE COMMITTEE

James Chiu, OBE, JP (Chairman)
Lee Chack Fan, GBS, SBS, JP

lain Ferguson Bruce

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Peter Lee Coker Jr. (Chairman)
Tse Cho Tseung

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mui Ching Hung, Joanna

SOLICITORS

Conyers Dill & Pearman (Bermuda)
Leonel Alves Law Firm (Macau)

Reed Smith Richards Butler (Hong Kong)

AUDITOR
ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Banco Nacional Ultramarino

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

Bank of China, Macau Branch

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd, Hong Kong Branch
Bank of Communications Co., Ltd, Macau Branch

BNP Paribas

China Construction Bank (Asia) Corporation Limited

China CITIC Bank International Limited

DBS Bank (China) Limited, Beijing Branch

DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

Hang Seng Bank Limited

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Macau) Limited
OCBC Wing Hang Bank, Limited

The Bank of East Asia, Limited

The Bank of East Asia (China) Limited, Beijing Branch

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
REEH

REGISTERED OFFICE

Clarendon House
2 Church Street
Hamilton HM 11

Bermuda

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

33/F, 250 Hennessy
250 Hennessy Road
Wanchai

Hong Kong

Tel : +852 2577 6113
Fax: +852 2577 6213

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER
OFFICE

MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited
4th Floor, North Cedar House

41 Cedar Avenue

Hamilton HM 12

Bermuda

BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Standard Limited
Level 54, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East
Hong Kong

WEBSITE

www.southshore-holdings.com

STOCK CODE

Hong Kong Stock Exchange 577
Reuters 0577 . HK
Bloomberg 577 : HK
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